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ChoicePoint was formed in 1997 as a publicly-held company whose core business was providing support to the 

insurance industry. Since that time, we have grown steadily by extending the fundamental operating model 

of our insurance business into other markets. We employ more than 5,100 associates in fi ve business segments: 

Insurance Services,  Screening & Authentication Services, Financial & Professional Services, Government Services 

and Marketing Services. ChoicePoint is headquartered in the Atlanta suburb of Alpharetta, and its common stock 

trades on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol CPS.

Financial Highlights(a)

Years Ended December 31 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

(In thousands, except per share and employee data)

Service revenue $1,032,114  $ 985,702 $ 847,258 $ 720,657 $669,246
Reimbursable expenses 22,878 28,056 34,280 45,395 38,520
Total revenue 1,054,992 1,013,758 881,538 766,052 707,766
Operating income(b)  128,316 235,339 235,085 172,157 176,533
Stock option expense included 
 in operating income above  (15,401) – – – –
Other charges included in
 operating income above(b) (123,035) (28,773) – (30,942) (7,342)

Income from continuing operations 68,775 139,524  143,809 104,164 103,982
EPS from continuing operations, diluted .81 1.52 1.58 1.16 1.17

Total assets 1,346,092 1,462,976 1,287,476 1,021,284 979,010
Debt 415,039 130,057 50,100 52,029 182,446
Total shareholders’ equity 666,987 1,020,874 983,659 790,495 622,607
Employees (full-time equivalents) 5,100 5,000 4,600 3,700 4,400

(a)  All fi nancial information refl ects the stock split paid in the form of a stock dividend effective June 6, 2002 and excludes the following discontinued operations: 

 1. CP Commercial Specialists, sold on February 28, 2003,
 2. Priority Data Systems, sold on September 29, 2006, 
 3.  Bode Labs, EquiSearch and certain businesses in the Financial & Professional Services segment, all of which were held for sale and qualify as discontinued 

operations at December 31, 2006.

(b)  Operating income includes other charges that management excludes in its assessments of operating results. These charges for 2006 consist of approximately 
$117.6 million recorded for asset impairment charges, expenses related to the fraudulent data access, and severance and lease abandonment charges associated 
with the centralization of functions and consolidation of certain technology platforms. In addition, other charges include approximately $5.5 million of 
accelerated depreciation expense.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report to Shareholders contains forward-looking statements, and actual results could differ 

materially. Words or phrases such as “we expect,” “we anticipate,” or similar expressions are intended to identify 

forward-looking statements. Risks that could cause actual results to differ are set forth in the “Risk Factors” 

section and throughout ChoicePoint’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006.
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Business Segment  Overv iew

INSURANCE SERVICES

The Company’s largest core business provides data, 

analytics, software and business outsourcing services 

to Property and Casualty (P&C), personal and 

commercial insurance carriers. Our information 

solutions help insurers effectively assess risks in the 

underwriting process to ensure that their customers 

receive fair, appropriate policy pricing. We count all 

of the country’s largest insurers as our customers.  

 In personal lines, our services support more than 

100 million auto and home transactions annually. Our 

Comprehensive Loss Underwriting Exchange (C.L.U.E.®) 

database is the industry’s most complete source of 

historical claims. Other tools include Current Carrier®, 

which identifi es the existence of current or previous 

insurance, as well as any possible lapses in coverage and 

is now a key growth driver as we leverage this product’s 

capabilities to develop new product offerings.

 In 2007, ChoicePoint will continue its develop-

ment and rollout of a major market expansion, 

replicating the personal lines business model for 

commercial insurers.

 Our Insurity business unit provides software, data 

and analytics to P&C commercial and personal lines 

carriers to improve risk acceptance and loss mitigation. 

Insurity offers policy administration, claims adminis-

tration, compliance management, regulatory reporting, 

reinsurance, billing, business processing and maintenance 

service to carriers, Managing General Agencies (MGAs), 

brokers, agents and Third-Party Administrators (TPAs).

SCREENING & AUTHENTICATION SERVICES

Solutions in this segment focus on employment 

screening, tenant screening, vital records and customer 

enrollment businesses. During 2006, businesses in 

this segment facilitated more than eight million 

background screenings for our for-profi t customers, 

including over half of the largest U.S.-based employers 

as well as many medium- to small-sized fi rms. WorkPlace 

Solutions products include instant on-line solutions, as 

well as comprehensive employment and background 

checks, drug testing and tenant screening. Many 

customers utilize ChoicePoint’s National Criminal 

File, a comprehensive database of criminal fi les that 

includes criminal conviction records across all 50 states. 

Formed in 2006, this segment now offers vendor 

screening, a one-stop solution that helps organizations 

manage risk and compliance requirements with third-

party vendors.

 In addition to our business customers, ChoicePoint 

serves the background screening needs of our nation’s 

leading non-profi t organizations, subsidizing approxi-

mately 1.5 million screenings through its VolunteerSelectSM 

product last year. Other businesses in this segment 

include VitalChek®, an on-line service that enables 

consumers to order vital records, such as birth certifi cates, 

marriage licenses and death certifi cates over the Internet 

or telephone using credit cards, a service otherwise not 

available through most government agencies.

GOVERNMENT SERVICES

Government Services provides analytics, mapping, 

data and software solutions that support the missions 

of federal, state and local government and international 

law enforcement agencies. By combining these proven 

solutions, Government Services is uniquely capable 

of overcoming information sharing issues that can 

threaten public safety. Products include a geospatial 

mapping visual platform and the leading global visual 

investigative analysis software. 

MARKETING SERVICES

ChoicePoint Precision Marketing is a leading provider 

of direct marketing and database solutions to the 

insurance and fi nancial services industries. These 

solutions help businesses acquire and grow customer 

relationships through the integration of data, data 

management, analytics and marketing technologies.

FINANCIAL & PROFESSIONAL SERVICES

This segment provides public information solutions, 

primarily to retail and commercial banking, mortgage 

lending, and legal industries. Services to these areas 

help companies with risk management, enhanced 

due diligence, verifi cation and business credentialing. 

These services allow companies to better mitigate 

fi nancial and reputation risk and improve their 

processes and productivity.

ChoicePoint’s diversifi ed revenues refl ect a broad customer base 
that is comprised primarily of the nation’s leading insurance 
companies, the largest employers and federal and state law 
enforcement agencies.

REVENUES BY SEGMENT

INSURANCE
SERVICES
44%

SCREENING &
AUTHENTICATION 
SERVICES
25%

GOVERNMENT
SERVICES
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Annual Meeting
The Annual Meeting of Shareholders will be held on May 1, 2007 
in Memphis, TN. Shareholders are encouraged to attend the 
meeting, which will begin at 10:00 a.m. local time.

Market Information
ChoicePoint common stock trades on the New York Stock 
Exchange (“NYSE”), under the symbol CPS. Shareholders 
will fi nd volume and pricing information in leading fi nancial 
publications as well as the Investor Relations section of 
ChoicePoint’s Web site, www.choicepoint.com. 

As of February 21, 2007, there were 76.6 million common 
shares outstanding and ChoicePoint common stock was held 
by 3,103 shareholders of record.

Management’s Certifi cations
The certifi cations of the Company’s Chief Executive Offi cer and 
Chief Financial Offi cer required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act have 
been included as Exhibits 31 and 32 in the Company’s Form 10-K. 
In addition, in 2006, the Company’s Chief Executive Offi cer 
provided to the NYSE an unqualifi ed certifi cation as to the 
Company’s compliance with the NYSE’s corporate governance 
listing standards during 2005 as required by the NYSE 
listing standards.

Quarterly Stock Performance
ChoicePoint common stock fi rst traded on August 8, 1997 at a 
price of $8.94 – adjusted for a two-for-one stock split effective 
November 24, 1999, a three-for-two split effective March 7, 
2001 and a four-for-three split effective June 6, 2002. Shown 
below, on that adjusted basis, are high and low sale prices for 
each quarter of 2005 and 2006. 

    High Low

First Quarter 2005 $47.95 $36.35
Second Quarter 2005   41.75   36.64
Third Quarter 2005   43.89   39.42
Fourth Quarter 2005   44.65   40.55

First Quarter 2006 $46.85 $40.98
Second Quarter 2006   45.98   40.80
Third Quarter 2006 41.92   30.50
Fourth Quarter 2006 40.05   34.09

ChoicePoint Stock Performance Graph
The following graph compares the cumulative total return from 
December 31, 2001 through December 31, 2006 on ChoicePoint 
common stock with the S&P Midcap 400 Index and the S&P 400 
Diversifi ed Commercial Services Index assuming an original 
$100 investment and reinvestment of any dividends. 

Analyst Coverage
A number of leading Sell Side fi nancial analysts and investment 
advisory services produce investment research on ChoicePoint. 
For a current list, see the Investor Relations section of the 
ChoicePoint Web site, www.choicepoint.com.

Dividend Policy
ChoicePoint has not paid any dividends since it became 
a public company, and it does not anticipate paying any 
in the near future.  

Investor Information
The Investor Relations section of ChoicePoint’s corporate 
Web site, www.choicepoint.com, contains a wealth of valuable 
information, ranging from fi nancial news releases and fi lings to 
archived (audio) copies of investor conference calls. 

For additional information, or to obtain copies of ChoicePoint’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 
2006 (which will be provided free of charge with a copy of the 
fi nancial statements and schedules), Quarterly Reports on 
Form 10-Q, or other materials, please contact:

 Carey Skinner
 Assistant Vice President, Investor Relations
 1000 Alderman Drive
 Alpharetta, GA 30005
 Email: investor.relations@choicepoint.com
 Phone: 770-752-3369

Financial reports can also be obtained from ChoicePoint’s Web site.

Conference Calls
ChoicePoint conducts quarterly conference calls to discuss 
fi nancial performance and other issues of importance to investors. 
To learn about scheduled calls, hear archived copies of previous 
calls, and to listen in to live Webcasts, visit the Web site at
www.choicepoint.com.

Transfer Agent and Registrar
Shareholders with questions concerning the transfer of shares, 
lost certifi cates, changes of address, or other issues should 
contact ChoicePoint’s transfer agent and registrar:

 Computershare Investor Services, LLC 
 P.O. Box 43078 
 Providence, RI 02940-3078 
 Phone: (800) 568-3476 
 Web site: www.computershare.com

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Deloitte & Touche LLP
Atlanta, GA

Trademarks
ChoicePoint, the ChoicePoint logo, Current Carrier, VitalChek, 
i2, and C.L.U.E. are registered trademarks; CampaignNow, 
Precision Director, MarketView and VolunteerSelect  are service 
marks of ChoicePoint Asset Company.

© 2007 ChoicePoint Asset Company. All rights reserved.
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3 TO OUR FELLOW SHAREHOLDERS
 As ChoicePoint enters its tenth year as a public company, 
 Derek Smith and Doug Curling discuss the transformations that 
 have made ChoicePoint the industry leader that it is today and 
 the steps necessary to build upon this leadership going forward.  

9 GROWTH:
BUILDING FROM WITHIN

Our business unit leaders explain why there is more opportunity for 
organic growth within ChoicePoint today than at any other time 
in its history and how they intend to capitalize on this opportunity.

 13 CAPITAL IDEAS 
 FOR SHAREHOLDER VALUE

 ChoicePoint generates exceptional levels of free 
 cash fl ow. Learn how our fi nancial leadership team 
 intends to deploy excess cash in the future in order 
 to maximize shareholder value.

17BUILDING TRUST
 THROUGH TRANSPARENCY

 Information companies today live or die based on the public trust and confi dence in 
 protecting personal privacy. ChoicePoint’s consumer, legal and public affairs offi cers 
 share how the Company intends to set the industry standard in this critical area.

20 BOARD OF DIRECTORS

 AND ELECTED OFFICERS

 A listing of those who govern ChoicePoint on  
 behalf of its shareholders.

21 2006 FINANCIAL REVIEW

 Management’s Discussion and Analysis of the year, 
 fi nancial statements and notes, and shareholder information.

Letters From Senior Management
on Issues Important to ChoicePoint
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To Our  Fel low Shareholders :

The ChoicePoint story has always been one of rising to challenges and 

successful transformation. In the early 1990s, the task was to restore 

the business to profi tability. In the late 1990s, the challenge was to 

create an independent company, the result of which was a spinoff 

with a unique mission.

 Time and again, we have addressed challenges head on – from 

addressing society’s evolving views of privacy to the diversity of our 

asset mix and the use of capital – each time emerging as a stronger, 

more focused enterprise. 

 The link to our heritage and to our future can be found in our own words: 

challenge and transformation.

left
Derek V. Smith
Chairman and Chief Executive Offi cer

right
Doug C. Curling
President and Chief Operating Offi cer

CHOICEPOINT 2006 ANNUAL REPORT   3



1997 1998

There have been many changes in ChoicePoint since 

our shares traded for the fi rst time on the New York 

Stock Exchange in August 1997. But even that event 

was only a single milestone among many that date back 

to 1993, when a handful of us began thinking in new 

ways about the businesses in our group at our then 

parent company. This collection of assets, dating back to 

the turn of the century, was once profi table. Over time, 

however, these businesses became too labor-intensive 

and largely comprised of aging Profi t & Loss centers 

with more Loss than Profi t. The challenge was to take 

the assets we had and turn them back into a growing 

and profi table enterprise.

  Fast forward to today, and 

ChoicePoint is a lesson in trans-

formation. By combining talented 

people, a unique vision, and solid 

leadership, we have moved from 

a manual, labor-intensive busi-

ness to a technology-based, knowledge-oriented company 

whose value has grown along with the depth and breadth 

of its product offerings. 

  We’ve evolved and expanded from largely serving 

only the Life & Health and Property & Casualty (P & C) 

insurance industry (we still enjoy a market-leading position 

in the P & C markets) to become a leading employment 

screening provider; a leading supplier of information to 

fi nancial and professional services companies; a leading 

provider of technology tools that allow businesses and 

government agencies to analyze and extract value from 

their own information; a leader in technology-based 

lead generation; and a leader in the effort to demonstrate 

the extraordinary value of information used responsibly 

and transparently.

 Our creation of shareholder value over time is 

equally impressive. If you invested in an original share 

of ChoicePoint stock in August 1997, your investment 

has grown by more than 341 percent.  

 Clichés about change abound, but they are almost 

always true. That “change is constant,” is a given, but to an 

organization like ours, change is also part of our life’s blood 

and the fuel for our transformations. 

  If you were to go back and read each letter from 

our past annual reports, you would 

notice a consistent theme: We are an 

organization that has a clear sense of 

our strengths, our possibilities, and 

our determination to deliver on both. 

At the same time, we are a constantly 

evolving organization that fl exes and 

adjusts to take advantage of new opportunities presented 

by the rough and tumble world of the free market. 

Challenge and transformation are part of who we are.

 It should not come as a surprise, then, that we enter 

our tenth year as a public company having invested 

considerable time and energy into looking into where 

our organization is heading and what adjustments are 

needed for ChoicePoint to continue to be a market and 

industry leader. In this report, you will not only hear 

about these changes from us, but also from members 

of our senior management team on how ChoicePoint’s 

next decade will unfold.

Time and again, we have addressed 

challenges head on – from addressing 

society’s evolving views of privacy to 

the diversity of our asset mix and the 

use of capital – each time emerging as 

a stronger, more focused enterprise. 
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REVIEWING OUR BUSINESS, 

TRANSFORMING OUR STRATEGY

Our results last year refl ected the transformation under 

way at ChoicePoint, one that we expect to position us for 

continued success as we move into our next decade. Led by 

nearly 13 percent service revenue growth in our Insurance 

Services segment, our consolidated service revenues grew 5 

percent in 2006 to $1.03 billion. Income from continuing 

operations and cash fl ows continued to be strong. 

 Our business review began with an in-depth examina-

tion of our strategic focus, resulting in a sharpening of 

our overall value proposition: ChoicePoint helps custom-

ers make better decisions to manage 

economic and physical risks.

  The initial phase of our strategy 

review led us to the decision to divest 

several businesses that did not fi t 

within our narrowed strategic focus, 

or that were unlikely to gain critical 

mass in the marketplace as part of 

ChoicePoint. We also identifi ed other business oppor-

tunities and process improvements that will help drive 

long-term value.

 On January 31, 2007 and February 12, 2007, 

respectively, we announced the sales of EquiSearch 

Services, a small shareholder services business and our 

bulk bankruptcy, liens and judgments records business. 

We have an active sales process under way for Bode Labs, 

the country’s premier DNA lab. Other transformational 

efforts, such as improving our sales force effectiveness and 

our leadership development are also under way.  

RE-THINKING CAPITAL DEPLOYMENT

In a business model that generates exceptional levels of 

annual free cash fl ow, a critical part of managing and 

growing the business is a carefully crafted cash investment 

strategy. During the past ten years, we have directed much 

of our free cash towards acquisitions – more than 60 have 

been completed – to fuel growth and market expansion. 

While our historical growth rates demonstrate the 

effectiveness of this strategy in the past, current industry 

conditions, ever-expanding multiples for potential acquisi-

tion candidates and other re-investment opportunities have 

given us cause to re-think how and where we invest our cash.

 We have greatly narrowed the 

criteria we use to assess potential 

acquisition candidates. Currently, we 

are focusing on only those with the 

greatest potential for growth, primar-

ily in our core Insurance Services and 

Screening & Authentication Services 

businesses. We are already working to 

accelerate organic growth by directing more capital toward 

an increasingly attractive set of internal opportunities as 

part of an overall shift to more of a “build it” rather than 

a “buy it” growth strategy. You can see this reallocation of 

resources at play in our expansion into commercial lines 

insurance data offerings, numerous new personal lines 

products, and our new vendor screening product.

 And, more so than ever before, we are realizing 

and seeking the opportunity to form strategic alliances, 

allowing us to build scale, reduce costs and/or expand 

our market reach in a given business unit, often more 

We identifi ed our core strengths, such 

as data analysis and delivery, and how 

best to leverage these competencies 

into near-term opportunities. We deter-

mined for each business the optimal 

strategic, operational and investment 

focus to best create shareholder value. 



rapidly and with less investment. An example of such 

an arrangement is our alliance with AMS Services, 

which creates a new, expanded point-of-sale distribution 

channel by providing direct access to AMS’ network of 

15,000 independent insurance agencies. 

 Finally, with outstanding cash fl ow generation 

and given current market conditions, investing in 

the repurchase of our own shares is one of the best 

ways we can return value directly to our shareholders. 

We’ve demonstrated our determination to make 

this a successful buyback program by aggressively 

repurchasing over 11 million shares during 2006 

and 14 million shares since inception, 

or 15.9% of the shares outstanding as 

of the start of the program. We have 

increased incremental debt as a result 

of our share repurchase program, 

but we have done so prudently and 

without risking our balance sheet. 

In the process, we’ve achieved our 

goal of lowering the overall cost of capital, positioning

us to improve our returns on assets and equity in the 

coming years.

  Overall, we have made some important, strategic 

decisions in the past year where we looked at the 

challenges facing our businesses just as we have done 

throughout the history of ChoicePoint. We sharpened 

our strategic focus, completed a comprehensive portfolio 

review, aggressively executed our share buyback program 

and revamped our fi nancial strategies – expanding our 

already solid foundation for growth and profi tability.

 You will hear more about our fi nancial transforma-

tion and growth strategies later in this report.

BUILDING TRUST THROUGH TRANSPARENCY

Those of you who have followed ChoicePoint over the 

years know that a commitment to the responsible use of 

information is an inherent part of who we are and how 

we do business. More than that, we believe that people’s 

lives are made better, more convenient or safer every day 

because of the products and services we offer.

  We have a direct, benefi cial impact each year on more 

than 110 million consumers. People obtain fairly-priced home 

and auto insurance, jobs and apart-

ments because of the work we do. 

Consumers are also able to 

conveniently order the vital records 

(birth, death, marriage and divorce 

documents) they need through our 

order and payment system.

      Financial fraud has an impact on 

businesses and consumers. Our products help reduce the risk 

to both. If you order a product over the Internet, it may be 

ChoicePoint that helps ensure your package is delivered to 

the right address. Your new mobile phone or bank accounts 

may be authorized because of our authentication and compli-

ance tools. And if you’re worried about age-restricted products 

being sold to minors, our products help prevent that, too.

 Businesses are able to open their doors to customers 

and employees because our products are used by com-

mercial insurance carriers. Companies are also able to 

maximize their marketing dollars by using our products 

A commitment to the responsible 

use of information is an inherent part 

of who we are and how we do busi-

ness. More than that, we believe that 

people’s lives are made better, more 

convenient or safer every day because 

of the products and services we offer.
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to help them manage their communications with existing 

customers as well as their prospects – saving money with 

one hand and generating new revenue with the other. 

 And our information, analysis and technology 

products are at the core of government agencies’ efforts 

to detect, prevent and solve crimes and national security 

issues. Our products, though rarely credited publicly, are 

an integral part of keeping society safe around the globe – 

a result that benefi ts everyone.

  Transformation is not limited to our products and 

assets. We are recognized for having established the 

fi rst Board Committee in the industry whose primary 

mission is privacy. In our last annual report, we renewed 

our pledge to be the industry leader in terms of privacy 

protection, information security and consumer transpar-

ency. Our efforts have been rewarded by a steady stream 

of commendations from many corners, including some of 

the industry’s toughest critics. And we’re not fi nished. 

 Protecting consumer information is a never-ending 

job, but the payoff is increased public trust in what we 

do and a reputation as a company that is as interested in 

helping consumers as it is in benefi ting itself. Later in this 

report, you’ll meet the team of executives responsible for 

the successes we’ve enjoyed and who are charting a course 

that builds trust through transparency. 

 

FINAL THOUGHTS

All of the ingredients for success that were present in our 

fi rst ten years are still here today and will be here going for-

ward. So is our belief that challenges and transformations 

will continue to be a core part of how we do business.

 We serve great markets with plenty of headroom for 

growth. We have strong fundamentals and the fi nancial 

fl exibility to meet the needs of our business plans. And, we 

have talented people who love a challenge, but love creating 

new and exciting solutions for our customers even more. 

 Like all great teams, the leaders are just the visible 

part of the group. Behind us stand more than 5,000 

associates – more than a third of whom have been with 

us for the past decade – who come to work every day, 

dedicated to creating value for you and benefi ts for society. 

We could not succeed without our associates, and we are 

thankful for them.

 And to those shareholders who have been with us 

since the beginning and those who have joined us for 

our next chapter, a sincere and heartfelt “thank you” for 

your support. We look forward to updating you on our 

progress and rewarding you through positive results.

Sincerely,

Derek Smith

Chairman and Chief Executive Offi cer

Doug Curling

President and Chief Operating Offi cer
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Growth: 
Bui ld ing From Within

For a decade, our customers have counted on us to help them meet the 

continual marketplace challenges they face. Since 1997, we have been 

a part of the transformation in the way Property & Casualty insurance 

companies do business, how commercial and non-profi t organizations hire 

their employees and volunteers, how law enforcement agencies gather 

and analyze information, and how fi nancial services are marketed.

 Today, our pipeline is fi lled with new breakthrough products and 

services, product extensions or new markets to fuel growth for years 

to come across each of our businesses.

back row left to right:
Robbin Kopp, Financial & Professional Services ; Quinn Thomas, 
Strategic Sales ; Aurobindo Sundaram, Information Security  ; 
Winford Williams, Insurance Services

in chairs left to right:
Liz Brown, Screening & Authentication Services ; David Lee, 
Chief Business Offi cer  ; Elaine Clevenger, Government Services

on fl oor:
Sandeep Kharidhi, Marketing Services



It is an exciting time at ChoicePoint. As we sharpen our 

business focus to help our customers address economic 

or physical risks, we are accelerating our new product 

development efforts. In each of our business lines, newly-

launched products are gaining traction, and customer 

relationships are giving us the knowledge we need to 

keep the product pipeline fi lled.

INSURANCE SERVICES

Not only is 2007 ChoicePoint’s tenth anniversary, it is the 

20th anniversary of our fl agship product: the Comprehensive 

Loss Underwriting Exchange (C.L.U.E.®), the single most 

successful product in our history. Launched as a way to help 

reduce insurance application fraud, C.L.U.E. has transformed 

not only our company, but the way the Property & Casualty 

insurance industry works.  

 Although we’ve diversifi ed our product offerings over 

ten years, we continue to create transformational products 

for Property & Casualty insurance carriers. We believe these 

offerings will help insurers achieve success in their go-to-

market strategies and improve their profi tability. Among 

these innovative products is InsurViewSM, which, for the 

fi rst time, allows personal line carriers to benchmark their 

pricing strategies against the overall market. 

 We also have numerous product extensions associ-

ated with our Current Carrier® product line, including a 

revolutionary “data pre-fi ll” product, which streamlines 

the quoting process for Internet, agent and call center 

points of contact. Additionally, within our claims busi-

ness, we are building process-oriented analytic tools to 

speed claims payment while helping to identify fraud, 

which is critically important to our customers’ profi t-

ability and their ability to keep consumer prices down.

 Equally as exciting for us are the ground-breaking 

opportunities for growth we see in the commercial insur-

ance market. These include our commercial insurance 

initiatives, where we are developing a suite of underwriting 

information services, including building a Commercial 

C.L.U.E. database, a product that we expect to become an 

invaluable source of commercial claims history for insurers. 

We believe that this collection of products will transform 

how insurers write small business policies in the future and 

represents a huge long-term growth opportunity for us.  

 Taken as a whole, our insurance services product 

lines will continue to be a growth driver for ChoicePoint.

SCREENING & AUTHENTICATION SERVICES

Ten years ago, background screening was a time-consuming, 

largely-manual process that was limited in depth and breadth. 

Only the largest employers conducted background checks 

on applicants, and even fewer reviewed the credentials 

of vendors.

 In the intervening years, ChoicePoint has helped 

reduce the time it takes to conduct a pre-employment 

background check from weeks or days to less than a 

minute, in some cases.  Along the way, the hiring process 

has been transformed, and ChoicePoint has earned the 

business of over half of the nation’s top 100 employers. 

Now we are extending our focus to capture middle-market 

customers (1,000 to 2,500 employee companies) where we 

estimate our current market share to be in the low teens. 

 We’re also turning our attention to expanding our 

industry-leading expertise beyond North America. In 

the past year, we carried our employment and business 

screening services to 150 countries worldwide. Clearly, 

the growth prospects for international expansion present 

an enormous opportunity for us over the next decade 

and one that we will aggressively pursue.

 Building on our pre-employment screening experience, 

we launched our VendorScreen™ solution in 2006. As a 

result, we are rapidly becoming a leading provider of business 

credentialing services to fi rms who outsource critical aspects 

of their business to third parties.   

 Whether it’s growing our middle-market share, 

expanding beyond our own borders or creating another 

new market in the form of vendor screening – there is 

tremendous upside potential for ChoicePoint’s Screening 

& Authentication offerings.
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GOVERNMENT SERVICES

Back in 1997, our work in support of government 

agencies was very small and limited to providing public 

records information. Today, we have developed a set of 

leading products and services that are used by major law 

enforcement agencies around the world.

 While our history is in providing public information, 

our growth and future primarily lies in the state-of-the-art 

analytical, visualization, mapping and information-sharing 

tools we offer to help the law enforcement community. These 

tools help our customers solve some of the diffi cult issues 

facing society and the law enforcement community today.

 Our analytical and case management tools help 

investigators and analysts understand, organize and share 

the near-constant fl ow of information coming from a 

wide variety of sources. Our visualization and geospatial 

mapping tools enhance the information.

 We are also developing products and processes to help 

U.S. government agencies respond to man-made and 

natural disasters that require relief efforts. First used in 

a limited way during the response to Hurricane Katrina, 

we now offer a full set of tools to help guide government 

planners and responders.

 We look forward to continuing to develop innovative 

technology and information tools that will help our gov-

ernment and law enforcement customers protect society. 

FINANCIAL & PROFESSIONAL SERVICES

In our Financial & Professional Services businesses, we are 

making substantial progress in retooling our factory and 

launching new capabilities. Our goal is to become an integral 

part of our customers’ processes and product offerings. The 

progress we have made in this area can be seen in our address 

verifi cation tool implemented last year by one of the nation’s 

largest package delivery companies. We’re now entering other 

new markets, such as wireless telecommunications and certain 

retail markets where age verifi cation is required, using the 

same new verifi cation technology that is the foundation of the 

address product. Expect us to continue looking for additional 

opportunities to expand the use of our new products.  

MARKETING SERVICES

Pursuing a diversifi cation strategy that allows us to focus 

product innovation on the personal lines insurance and 

retail banking markets, in the Marketing Services segment, 

we have revamped our go-to-market strategy, creating 

two major units, Marketing Solutions and Marketing 

Technologies. Our Marketing Solutions business is 

focused on delivering services that help our clients 

develop, execute and measure their campaign effective-

ness. The Marketing Technologies business, on the other 

hand, serves three of the country’s top seven retail banks 

and provides cost-effective, hosted solutions that allow 

clients to spend their energy on results management. 

We believe that this change in strategy and focus will 

position this business for growth in the future, particu-

larly when key market conditions improve.  

GOING FORWARD

Every day, our customers count on us to help them solve some 

of the most challenging process issues they have, or to answer 

some of the most important questions they can ask. How can 

I appropriately price the risk of a new insured? How can I 

speed the hiring of a job applicant? Is there a way to manage 

all of the information I have coming at me from all directions?

 The answers to each of these questions have led to a new 

ChoicePoint product, with more products on the way in each 

of our businesses − the result of stepping up our investment 

and focus on new products. Meanwhile, we continue to work 

with our customers, looking for the next set of issues we can 

solve that will allow us to take advantage of the tremendous 

growth opportunities we see in 2007 and the years ahead. 
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Capita l  Ideas for
Shareholder  Value

Continuing our strong focus on managing our fi nancial strategies, we are 

pleased to report that we made great strides in our cash deployment and 

capital structure initiatives during this past year. Along with our fi duciary 

responsibilities, we recognize that how we deploy capital is one of the 

most important decisions that we, as management, make on behalf of our 

shareholders. We continually give considerable thought to how we allocate 

our excess cash, assessing the current M&A environment and other attrac-

tive internal investment opportunities, all with the objective of maximizing 

shareholder value.

left to right
David Trine, Chief Financial Offi cer ; Steve Surbaugh, 
Chief Administrative Offi cer   ; Mary Young, Assistant 
Vice President and Assistant Corporate Secretary
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We made great progress during 2006, executing the 

rebalancing and redirecting of our capital deployment 

strategies. While historically, acquisitions have been a 

signifi cant contributor to our growth and may very well 

be again, recent expanded multiples diminished the list 

of potential acquisition targets. Ultimately, we decided 

it made more fi nancial sense to allocate an increasing 

percentage of our capital towards our internal product 

development and growth initiatives – such as the 

development of our commercial underwriting products, 

enhanced vendor screening and claims solutions – and to 

aggressively execute a stock repurchase plan, while main-

taining a highly-disciplined acquisition approach focused 

on our core growth markets. We believe these actions will 

ultimately result in superior returns for our shareholders.  

EXCEPTIONAL CASH FLOW A CONSTANT

Though ChoicePoint continues to grow and evolve as a 

company, one fundamental remains constant: our business 

model drives strong operating margins and consistently 

generates signifi cant amounts of annual free cash fl ow. 

Based on strong collection efforts, effective working 

capital management and tight controls over capital expen-

ditures, we generated $186.3 million of net free cash fl ow 

from continuing operations, excluding all costs associated 

with the fraudulent data access, for the full year ended 

December 31, 2006. For this period, net cash provided 

by operating activities of continuing operations on this com-

parable basis was $244.7 million, and capital expenditures 

were $58.4 million.(a) Our Days Sales Outstanding ended 

the year at 41 days, which we believe is among the industry’s 

best. In 2007, we expect strong free cash fl ow levels once 

again as we continue with the current momentum of 

profi tably expanding our business.  

SHIFT IN CASH DEPLOYMENT PRIORITIES

During this past year, more than 75% of our capital(b) 

was allocated to our stock repurchase efforts, while 

the remainder was divided evenly between our capital 

expenditures and acquisition initiatives. As a point of 

comparison, 40% of our capital was directed towards 

buybacks in 2005 and zero in 2004.  

 Last year, we invested $427.2 million in our buyback 

effort, enabling us to repurchase 11.4 million shares and 

decrease our weighted average diluted shares outstanding 

to 79.8 million shares in the fourth quarter of 2006. 

Since inception of the plan in August 2005, we have 

repurchased 14.3 million shares, or approximately 

15.9% of our previously outstanding shares. During this 

past year, the ChoicePoint Board of Directors increased 

our share repurchase authorization three times, enabling 

us to increase our program from $250 million to $725 

million. As 2007 begins, we currently have $172 million 

authorized for repurchases and are intensely focused on 

the continued execution of this program.

 Another key component of our capital deployment 

strategy is increasing our investments in key longer-term 

internal growth initiatives in response to an increasingly 

attractive set of opportunities. During this past year, 

we invested $58.4 million in capital expenditures, a 

signifi cant component of which was directed towards 

our new product development initiatives. While aware 

that this shift in strategy to a greater level of investment 

in internally-developed products would have a short-term 

impact on margins, we believe this decision was the correct 

one for the long-term growth of our business.

 And fi nally, we continue to pursue acquisitions, albeit 

with a tight focus on expanding capabilities in our core 

businesses rather than entering new markets as we have 

earlier in the Company’s history. After several years of 

investing in Government Services, our focus today is primar-

ily on enhancing the capabilities of our core Insurance 

Services and Screening & Authentication Services segments 

where we currently see the greatest potential for growth 

and profi tability. Evidence of this lies in the more than 

$50 million we invested in 2006 to consummate six acqui-

sitions, all of which were in one of these two segments.

INCREASING FINANCIAL LEVERAGE

As a result of buyback successes this year, we signifi cantly 

decreased our overall cost of capital, while only increasing 

our net debt-to-capital ratio from 10% to 37%. Increasing 

our fi nancial leverage was a prime objective as we entered 

2006. Our current debt level is signifi cantly below the 

level sustainable by our cash fl ows. Net debt for the year 

ended December 31, 2006 was $388.4 million, an increase 

of $279.7 million over the prior year.(c) 

 To ensure continued fl exibility to execute our 

fi nancial strategies, during 2006 we expanded our revolv-

ing credit facility from $400 million to $600 million and 

our accounts receivable securitization from $100 million 

to $125 million. Including these expansions, our debt 



capacity is now $725 million, of which $300 million was 

available as of December 31, 2006.

CONCLUDING THOUGHTS

For 2007, you should expect us to continue to focus 

our capital allocation efforts in executing our buyback 

strategy and investing in our core businesses. Given 

our exceptional and consistent cash fl ow, increased 

debt capacity and willingness to increase our fi nancial 

leverage, we believe we are well positioned to deliver 

on these strategies. Additionally, we are focused on 

achieving the returns we expect on the internal growth 

and acquisition investments we have made during the 

past few years. 

 We have made great progress in revamping our fi nan-

cial strategies, building a foundation for continued solid 

growth and profi tability in the years to come. We remain 

committed to delivering superior shareholder value. 

Q305

1.1%

Q405

3.3%

Q106

5.8%

Q206

5.8%

Q306

13.0%

Q406

15.9%Buyback Update
Shares Repurchased
(cumulative % of shares outstanding)*

•  $172 million authorization remaining 
(as of 12/31/06)

•  14.3 million shares repurchased since 
inception (Aug 05 – Dec 06)

*  The percentage of cumulative shares repurchased is calculated 
based upon the actual number of common shares outstanding, 
90.3 million at the inception of the Company’s stock buyback 
program in July 2005.

(a)  Net Free Cash Flow from Continuing Operations, excluding all costs associated with the fraudulent data access, and net cash provided by operating activities of continuing 
operations, excluding all costs associated with the fraudulent data access, are not fi nancial measures prepared in accordance with GAAP. A reconciliation of these measures to 
cash fl ows from operating activities of continuing operations can be found on page 29.

(b)  Capital is defi ned as the amount spent annually on share repurchases, business acquisitions and capital expenditures.

(c)  A reconciliation of net debt, which is not a fi nancial measure prepared in accordance with GAAP, to total debt, can be found on page 29.
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Bui ld ing Trust 
Through Transparency

From Day One, ChoicePoint has been dedicated to being more than the 

sum of its parts, especially in the area of social responsibility. You see 

that in our core belief in the power of information to benefi t individuals 

and society-at-large. It’s found in our vision statement that cites the 

role of the Company as a demonstrated leader in the communities we 

call home.

 Now, in our second decade, ChoicePoint is transforming itself and the 

industry again when it comes to how we relate to consumers and protect 

their information. 

left to right
Katherine Bryant, Vice President – Consumer Advocacy; 
James E. Lee, Senior Vice President and Chief Public & 
Consumer Affairs Offi cer  ; Carol DiBattiste, General Counsel 
and Chief Privacy Offi cer
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ChoicePoint’s belief in transparency is based on a familiar 

concept: The Right to Know. In our world, that means 

people have a right to know what information is available 

about them and how it’s being used. 

 And there are signifi cant benefi ts. As mentioned 

in this year’s Letter to Shareholders, people get jobs, 

insurance products, places to live, the goods and services 

they want and need, often with the help of ChoicePoint. 

Government offi cials are able to protect us and fulfi ll their 

missions across the globe with the help of information, 

technology and analytical tools from ChoicePoint.

 Making obvious the link between ChoicePoint and 

how a consumer benefi ts is a key part of our strategy. So is 

ensuring we are among the leading companies that believe 

“robust information security,” “privacy protections” and 

“consumer transparency” are more than buzz words. We 

believe they are the “price of leadership” in the marketplace.

 

LEADERSHIP IN PRIVACY, SECURITY AND 

CONSUMER TRANSPARENCY

We spent 2006 working to reaffi rm these core beliefs as 

part of our associates’ actions and in every product and 

service that ChoicePoint offers. During the course of the 

year, more than 5,000 employees, temporary workers and 

independent contractors completed mandatory privacy, 

information security and code of conduct training. And 

we successfully completed more than 40 third-party 

independent information security audits and physical 

security audits. Internally, we conducted 626 audits of our 

policies, procedures, orders and guidelines.

 We extended our focus on privacy and security beyond 

our own walls to include our customers. In 2006, we 

completed a review of nearly 200,000 new and existing 

customers – including certifi cations and site visits – if they 

bought information that is regulated by the Fair Credit 

Reporting Act (FCRA) or that included sensitive personal 

information. We audited customers to ensure that they 

had a permissible purpose for the data they sought, and 

we also asked select consumers if they had given consent 

for their information to be used. Customers who failed 

audits had their accounts suspended or terminated.

 Taken together, these actions and many others form 

what we believe is a competitive advantage – a level of 

trust and transparency that has helped turn the tide of 

criticism that once focused intensely on ChoicePoint.

 We achieved this milestone the old fashioned way. 

Long hours. Hard work. Face-to-face meetings with 

privacy advocates where we listened more than we talked, 

then put into action those suggestions that were in the best 

interest of consumers, our customers and ChoicePoint. We 

participated in more than 65 public and private meetings 

to discuss what we’re doing to protect consumers. 

 A good example of how this approach worked is our 

conversations with privacy and other advocates, where 

the need for us to be more transparent and receptive to 

consumers’ concerns emerged time and again.  

 The result – the creation of an Offi ce of Public and 

Consumer Affairs and the appointment of our fi rst Vice 

President of Consumer Advocacy, which are already chang-

ing the way we think about, relate to and assist consumers. 

 In 2006, we facilitated more than 110 million con-

sumer transactions, yet only 51,000 consumers contacted 

us to ask about a report we created for a customer. Some 

of those inquiries resulted in a corrected report being issued. 

Although only a small percentage of our total work output − 

our overall correction rate is approximately .0005 − we 

recognize that each report represents an important event 

in a person’s life that requires respect, understanding and 

diligence on our part. That’s a responsibility we take seriously.

 Last year, an estimated 2.2 million people visited 

our consumer-oriented Web site, www.choicetrust.com, 

where we make information available to consumers about 

themselves. Approximately 100,000 people registered 

to take advantage of our free, on-line system to view the 

information we may have available about them. 
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 This level of transparency – unprecedented in our 

industry and our history – has paid off in a variety of ways. 

•  Gartner, the respected technology research and 

analysis fi rm, described ChoicePoint as a “role 

model” for our comprehensive information 

security program.

•  The CMO Council and Emory University cited 

ChoicePoint’s brand and reputation program as 

“the textbook example” of how to restore a brand.

•  Inside 1to1 Privacy published a feature article that 

described “The New ChoicePoint: A Privacy 

Success Story.”

•  The New York Times published a front page, business 

section article that chronicled the sea change that 

has occurred as a result of reaching out to critics 

and advocates.

 As noted in the Letter to Shareholders, when faced 

with a test, ChoicePoint rises to the challenge and trans-

forms itself. The depth and breadth of change we have 

made in the areas of privacy, security and transparency 

in less than two years is a monumental achievement, 

one that gives us a solid foundation from which to 

demonstrate our leadership.

LEADERSHIP IN SOCIAL CONTRIBUTION

Our culture demands that we demonstrate our commu-

nity leadership. Even while we increased the emphasis on 

privacy, security and consumer issues, we did not retreat 

from the important work of our charitable program, 

ChoicePoint Cares. Last year, our associates contributed 

4,500 hours and $140,000, matched by ChoicePoint, to 

local charities. Overall, the Company contributed more 

than $2 million in cash, in-kind products and discounted 

services in the communities we call home.

 Demonstrating the power of information used 

responsibly in the past year, our work with the National 

Center for Missing & Exploited Children® supported the 

recovery of ten missing children. And since launching 

the volunteer background screening product in 2002, 

our customer base has grown to more than 7,500 leading 

non-profi ts, and we have identifi ed more than 100,000 

applicants with criminal records – including more than 

500 registered sex offenders. 

 Our ChoicePoint Cares and workplace culture efforts 

continued to be recognized in 2006 for the positive impacts 

on our communities and our Company. For example; 

•  The non-profi t Sue Weaver CAUSE praised us for 

efforts to promote vendor screening. Sue Weaver 

CAUSE was formed in Texas after the brutal 

murder of the group’s namesake by a vendor with 

an undisclosed criminal record.

•  The American Red Cross presented ChoicePoint 

with its Circle of Humanitarianism Award for our 

work in the aftermath of Hurricane Katrina.

•  The Human Rights Campaign gave ChoicePoint 

a fourth consecutive perfect score on the annual 

Corporate Equality Index. Among leading computer 

and data services companies nationwide, only 

ChoicePoint and IBM earned perfect scores. 

No Georgia company, except ChoicePoint, 

has earned four consecutive perfect scores.

 We started this update by describing our efforts to turn 

privacy, security and consumer practices into a competitive 

advantage. As with any benefi t, long-term trust is only earned 

through a daily exercise in vigilance – seeking new ways to 

protect information and keeping consumers at that center 

of what we do. That’s our pledge to you, to our communities 

and to consumers.
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Overview
During the past nine years, ChoicePoint Inc. (“ChoicePoint,” 
“we,” “our,” “us” or “the Company”) has transformed from a 
predominantly manually-driven and customer-focused asset 
base into the diversified, technology-driven, data-intensive 
business it is today. This transformation, coupled with 
focused execution, has enabled the Company to deliver 
strong growth in revenue, earnings and cash flows. Given our 
unique data, analytical and distribution capabilities, Choice-
Point is a leading provider of identification and credential 
verification services for making smarter decisions in a world 
challenged by increased risks. Serving the needs of business, 
government, non-profit organizations and individuals, 
ChoicePoint works to create a safer and more secure society 
through the responsible use of information while working 
diligently to protect personal privacy. For more information, 
visit the Company’s Web site at www.choicepoint.com.
	 Across our markets, we compete on data, analytics and 
distribution. A significant majority of our revenue streams are 
transaction-based, earning revenue each time our databases 
are accessed and further promoting the scalability of our 
products and services. The fundamentals that drive revenues 
are numerous and varied across and within our business 
segments. Generally, the Company’s primary growth drivers 
are new customers, increased penetration of new products, 
expansion into new markets and acquisitions. 

	O n July 10, 2006, the Company announced its intent to 
divest various businesses, including its forensic DNA (“Bode”)  
and shareholder services businesses (“EquiSearch”), as a result  
of a company-wide strategic review. Additionally, on 
September 29, 2006, the Company announced the sale of 
Priority Data Systems, a comparative rating software solu-
tions business (“Priority Data”), to the parent company 
of AMS Services. On October 24, 2006, the Company 
announced its intent to sell additional non-strategic busi-
nesses, later disclosed to be part of its public records opera-
tions, specifically the businesses that collect bankruptcy, 
lien and judgment (“BLJ”) records and provide them on a 
wholesale, bulk basis. For all periods presented, these busi-
nesses are presented as discontinued operations consistent 
with the Company’s decision to sell these businesses. Con-
sequently, the results of these discontinued operations for 
such completed fiscal years are reflected in the Company’s 
Consolidated Statements of Income as discontinued 
operations. Cash flows related to discontinued operations 
are stated separately from cash flows related to continuing 
operations by category in the Consolidated Statements 
of Cash Flows. The results of Bode, EquiSearch, BLJ and 
Priority Data in all prior periods presented has been reclas-
sified to conform to the 2006 classification. As a result, and 
unless specifically stated, all discussions regarding the years 
ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004 reflect results only 
from continuing operations.
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(In thousands)	 2006	 Change	 2005 	 Change	 2004

Service revenue	 $1,032,114	 5%	 $   985,702	 16%	 $847,258
Reimbursable expenses per EITF 01-14	 22,878		  28,056		  34,280

Total revenue	 $1,054,992	 4%	 $1,013,758	 15%	 $881,538
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Comparison of 2006 with 2005 Consolidated Results
Revenue
Total revenue grew 4%, or $41.2 million, to $1.1 billion 
in 2006. Service revenue, which excludes revenue from 
reimbursable expenses per EITF 01-14, (see Note 3 to 
the accompanying consolidated financial statements for 
the year ended December 31, 2006 (the “Consolidated 
Financial Statements”)), grew 5%, or $46.4 million, to 
$1.0 billion in 2006. Revenue growth in 2006 was driven 
by consistent growth in our Insurance Services products; 
strong performances in our background screening and 
vital records businesses in our Screening and Authentica-
tion Services segment; and improvements in our market 
penetration in the Government Services segment. Revenue 
growth is also attributable to six 2006 acquisitions and the 
full year impact of three 2005 acquisitions. This revenue 
growth was offset slightly by declines in our online public 
filings and real estate-related services in our Financial and 
Professional Services segment and the lower spending by 
larger clients in the mortgage industry in our Marketing 
Services segment. Internal revenue (which excludes 
$11.9 million of revenue from acquisitions) increased 
4% from 2005 to 2006.

Cost of Service Revenue
In 2006, cost of service revenue was $541.9 million, or 53% 
of service revenue, as compared to $505.9 million, or 51% 
of service revenue in 2005. The increase in cost of service 
revenue as a percentage of service revenue is primarily due 
to the recognition of stock option expense of $4.3 million 
during 2006 as a result of the adoption of Statement of 
Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123(R), 
Share-Based Payment (“SFAS 123(R)”), on January 1, 2006,  
and $5.5 million of accelerated depreciation expense 
recorded in the first quarter of 2006 in connection with 
the consolidation of certain technology platforms.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses (“SG&A”) 
increased to $244.3 million, or 24% of service revenue in 
2006, from $215.6 million, or 22% of service revenue, 
in 2005. The increase in SG&A expenses as a percentage 
of service revenue is primarily due to the recognition of 
$11.1 million of additional stock option expense as a result 
of the adoption of SFAS 123(R) on January 1, 2006. 

Other Operating Charges
Other operating charges include the following:

	 Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands)	 2006	 2005	 2004

Net Marketing Services  
	 segment impairment	 $	99,400	 $	 –	 $	 –
Other asset impairments		  10,720		  –		  –
Lease abandonment  
	 and severance		  3,943		  1,472		  –
Fraudulent data access  
	 related expense		  3,509		  27,301		  –

Total other operating charges	 $	117,572	 $	28,773	 $	 –

	O f total other operating charges recorded in 2006, 
$99.4 million represents the asset impairment charge related 
to the Company’s Marketing Services segment. In addition, 
as part of the previously announced strategic review, the 
Company recorded additional asset impairment, lease 
abandonment and severance charges totaling $14.7 mil-
lion primarily related to the centralization of functions 
and consolidation of certain technology platforms.  Also, 
an additional $3.5 million was recorded for legal fees and 
other professional fees associated with the fraudulent data 
access previously disclosed in the Company’s filings with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”).
	 During 2005, the Company recorded other operating 
charges of $28.8 million that included a pre-tax charge of 
$8.0 million for the settlement reached with the Federal 
Trade Commission (“FTC”) in January 2006, $19.3 mil-
lion for specific legal expenses and other professional fees 
related to the fraudulent data access and $1.5 million for 
lease abandonment charges related to the consolidation of 
two facilities. The terms of the settlement agreement with 
the FTC required a non-tax deductible civil penalty of 
$10 million, the establishment of a $5 million fund to be 
administered by the FTC for consumer redress initiatives, 
completion of certain one-time and ongoing customer 
credentialing activities, such as additional site visits, and 
undertaking additional obligations relating to information 
security. The settlement also requires ChoicePoint to obtain, 
every two years for the next 20 years, an assessment from a 
qualified, independent, third-party professional to ensure 
that its information security program meets the standards 
of the order. 
	T he $8.0 million charge for the FTC settlement con-
sisted of the $10.0 million civil penalty, the $5.0 million 
fund for consumer redress initiatives, a $4.0 million charge 
for additional obligations under the order, offset by the  
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$11.0 million recovery of these fees received from the  
Company’s insurance carrier during the first quarter of  
2006. A total of $28.7 million, which includes the  
$19.0 million for the FTC settlement, was recorded as  
an other current liability in the December 31, 2005 
Consolidated Balance Sheet. The $11.0 million insurance 
receivable related to the FTC settlement was included in 
other current assets in the December 31, 2005 Consolidated 
Balance Sheet. 
	T he Company’s management excludes other operating 
charges in its assessments of operating results.

Operating Income
Operating income decreased 45%, or $107.0 million, from 
$235.3 million in 2005 to $128.3 million in 2006. The 
decrease in operating income from 2005 to 2006 is primarily 
a result of the following:

• �$88.8 million increase in other operating charges.  
See the discussion above in “Other Operating 
Charges” for additional information on these charges.  

• �$15.4 million of stock option expense recognized as a 
result of the adoption of SFAS 123(R) on January 1,  
2006. Of this amount, $4.3 million was recorded  
as cost of revenue and $11.1 million was recorded  
as SG&A.  

• �$5.5 million of accelerated depreciation recorded in 
the first quarter of 2006. 

	O perating income excluding these charges would have 
increased 1%.  Operating income in our Insurance Services 
segment improved primarily due to increased revenues and 
product mix.  The improvements in operating income in 
our Insurance Services segment were offset by decreases in 
operating income in the Financial and Professional Services 
segment, Government Services segment and Marketing 
Services segment. The Company continues to see margin 
pressures in commodity products in the Financial and Profes-
sional Services segment and the Government Services seg-
ment. Operating income in our Marketing Services segment 
decreased as a result of the decrease in revenue. Operating 
income in the Company’s Screening and Authentication 
Services segment remained relatively flat as strong margins 
in the smaller screening businesses were offset by weakened 
operating leverage in our Workplace Solutions business.

Interest Expense, Net
Interest expense increased $11.4 million to $15.9 million 
in 2006 from $4.5 million in 2005 due to higher average 
debt outstanding, primarily associated with the Company’s 
share buyback program and higher interest rates. Interest 
payments totaling $15.6 million were made in 2006.  
Future interest payments will depend on future levels  
of borrowings.

Income Taxes
ChoicePoint’s 2006 effective tax rate for continuing 
operations was 38.8%, a decrease from 39.6% in 2005. 
The higher effective tax rate in 2005 was primarily due  
to the previously discussed settlement with the FTC.  
The $10.0 million civil penalty paid to the FTC was  
non-deductible for federal income tax purposes. Tax  
payments totaling $75.2 million ($74.1 million net of  
refunds) were made in 2006. Future tax payments will  
depend on future operating results.

Discontinued Operations
As previously indicated, ChoicePoint announced plans to  
divest the Bode Labs, EquiSearch and BLJ businesses as 
a result of its company-wide strategic review. These busi-
nesses are reported as discontinued operations – removing 
Bode from the Government Services segment and 
EquiSearch and BLJ from the Financial and Professional 
Services segment. Additionally, on September 29, 2006, 
the Company sold Priority Data to the parent company 
of AMS Services. Consequently, the results of these 
discontinued operations are reflected in the Company’s 
Consolidated Statements of Income as discontinued 
operations. The results of these discontinued operations 
in prior years have been reclassified to conform to the 
2006 classification. The following amounts have been 
segregated from continuing operations and are reflected as 
discontinued operations for the years ended December 31, 
2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively:

(In thousands)	 2006	 2005	 2004

Total revenue	 $ 	38,183		 $  44,156		 $37,175
Income (loss) from  
	 discontinued operations  
	 before income taxes	 $	(74,791)	 	$       1,803		 $    6,693
Income tax (provision) benefit		  22,938		  (671)		  (2,547)

Income (loss) from  
	 discontinued operations,  
	 net of tax	 $	(51,853)	 $       1,132		 $    4,146
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	 During 2006, the Company recorded a non-cash 
charge of $67.5 million ($47.2 million after tax benefit) 
in discontinued operations to reduce the carrying value 
of goodwill and other assets related to these businesses in 
order to reflect the estimated net proceeds to be realized 
from selling these three businesses based on indicative bids 
received to date. Of this amount, $47.0 million related to 
the BLJ businesses, $10.6 million related to the Bode busi-
ness and $9.9 million related to the EquiSearch business. 
Actual proceeds may vary from the estimated net proceeds.  
In addition, the Company recorded a $5.0 million ($3.1 
million net of tax benefit) loss on the sale of Priority Data. 
	 At December 31, 2006, the Company has classified 
certain assets and liabilities associated with the discontinued 
operations as assets of businesses held for sale and liabilities 
of businesses held for sale in the Consolidated Balance 
Sheets in accordance with the guidance in SFAS No. 144, 
Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived 
Assets (“SFAS No.144”). A total of $31.5 million of assets 
have been classified as assets of businesses held for sale and 
$3.2 million of liabilities have been classified as liabilities 
of businesses held for sale on the December 31, 2006 
Consolidated Balance Sheet.  

Comparison of 2005 with 2004 Consolidated Results
Revenue
Total revenue grew 15%, or $132.2 million, to $1.0 billion 
in 2005. Service revenue, which excludes revenue from  
reimbursable expenses per EITF 01-14 (see Note 3 to  
the Consolidated Financial Statements), grew 16%, or  
$138.4 million, to $1.0 billion in 2005. Revenue growth  
in 2005 was driven by consistent growth in our Insurance  
Services products and strong performances in our back-
ground screening and vital records businesses in our 
Screening and Authentication Services segment. Revenue 
growth was also attributable to three 2005 acquisitions and 
the full year impact of the ten 2004 acquisitions. Internal 
revenue (which excludes $80.0 million of revenue from 
acquisitions) increased 6.9% from 2004 to 2005.

Cost of Revenue
In 2005, cost of revenue was $505.9 million, or 51% of  
service revenue, as compared to $437.1 million, or 52%  
of service revenue in 2004.  

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
SG&A increased to $215.6 million, or 22% of service revenue,  
from $175.1 million, or 21% of total revenue, in 2005.  

Other Operating Charges
During 2005, the Company recorded other operating 
charges of $28.8 million.  See the “Comparison of 2006 
with 2005 Consolidated Results – Other Operating 
Charges” section for a detailed discussion of these charges. 
No other operating charges were recorded in 2004.

Operating Income
Operating income increased from $235.1 million in 2004 
to $235.3 million in 2005. Included in 2005 operating 
income are other operating charges totaling $28.8 million 
related to the fraudulent data access and lease abandonment 
costs. Excluding these charges, operating income increased 
12%. Operating income in our Insurance Services seg-
ment and Screening and Authentication Services segment 
improved primarily due to increased revenues and product 
mix. These increases were partially offset by decreases in the 
Financial and Professional Services segment and the Mar-
keting Services segment. The decrease in operating income 
in the Financial and Professional Services segment was the 
result of the decision to discontinue the sale of certain of its 
public filing products in 2005. Marketing Services’ operat-
ing income declined as a result of revenue decreases and the 
change in product mix. Although revenues in Government 
Services grew as a result of the early 2005 acquisition of 
i2 Limited (“i2”), a Cambridge, U.K.-based international 
provider of visualization and link analysis software for intel-
ligence, law enforcement, military and large commercial 
applications, operating income in Government Services 
remained relatively flat due to the continued integration 
efforts in this segment and revenue mix. 

Interest Expense, net
Interest expense, net increased $1.6 million to $4.5 million  
in 2005 from $2.9 million in 2004 due to higher average  
debt outstanding and higher interest rates.

Income Taxes
ChoicePoint’s 2005 effective tax rate for continuing 
operations was 39.6%, an increase from 38.0% in 2004. 
This increase is due to additional tax expense in connection 
with a settlement with the FTC discussed above in “Other 
Operating Charges,” partially offset by a $700,000 benefit 
from a favorable outcome from the completion of a state 
tax audit during the second quarter of 2005. The additional 
tax expense associated with the fraudulent data access is a 
result of the non-deductibility of the $10.0 million civil 
penalty for federal income tax purposes.  
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Financial Results by Segment
					     Year Ended	 Year Ended	 Year Ended
					     December 31, 2006	 December 31, 2005	 December 31, 2004

						      Operating		O  perating		O  perating
(In thousands)	 Revenue	 Income	 Revenue	I ncome	 Revenue	I ncome

Insurance Services	 $     454,458	 $   239,843	 $       402,853	 $221,670	 $352,368	 $195,851
Screening & Authentication Services	 257,088	 57,096	 242,054	 58,980	 212,706	 43,715
Financial & Professional Services	 105,041	 12,998	 117,510	 22,738	 113,768	 26,338
Government Services	 135,813	 15,656	 129,358	 19,326	 70,523	 18,020
Marketing Services
	 Marketing Services service revenue	 79,714	 12,446	 91,529	 15,899	 93,389	 18,651
	 Reimbursable expenses	 22,878	 –	 28,056	 –	 34,280	 –

Marketing Services 	 102,592	 12,446	 119,585	 15,899	 127,669	 18,651
Royalty	 –	 –	 2,398	 1,722	 4,504	 2,062
Corporate and shared	 –	  (71,287) 	 –	   (76,223)	 –	   (69,552)
Accelerated depreciation	 –	    (5,463)	 –	 –	 –	 –	
Stock option expense	 –	     (15,401)	 –	 –	 –	 –
Other operating charges	 –	    (117,572) 	 –	     (28,773)	 –	 –

Totals from continuing operations	 $1,054,992	 $   128,316	 $1,013,758	 $235,339	 $881,538	 $235,085
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Insurance Services
Our Insurance Services segment, which provides data, 
analytics, software and business outsourcing services to 
property and casualty (“P&C”) insurance carriers, posted 
strong annual results, achieving 13% total revenue growth 
over 2005. For the past nine consecutive years, Insurance 
Services has provided the Company with double-digit rev-
enue growth. In 2006, internal revenue growth, excluding 
$8.8 million of incremental acquisition revenue, was 11%, 
as we continued to grow our already strong base personal 
lines and underwriting business with recent product offer-
ings such as Current Carrier® and motor vehicle record 
activity files, further addressing the needs of our customers 
by providing analytics to enhance their ability to under-
write policies and mitigate risk. Our claims products also 
produced strong growth, as we benefited from customer 
wins and the increased revenue from new product offer-
ings. Our Insurity operations also had a strong year, as 
we continued to expand our service offerings and to help 
our customers solve complex business challenges and 
better focus on managing their businesses around their 
core competencies with industry-leading software solu-
tions and business process outsourcing services offerings. 
Revenue growth at Insurity was led by a combination of 
customer wins and increased penetration of our outsourc-
ing services. Operating income for Insurance Services in 
2006 increased $18.2 million, or 8%, from 2005 due to 
increased revenue, offset slightly by the continued high 
level of investments in new product initiatives. Operating 
margins remained strong at 52.8% for 2006 compared to 
55.0% for 2005. 

Screening & Authentication Services
During 2006, the Screening & Authentication Services 
segment experienced growth in its background screenings 
and vital records businesses. This growth was diluted by 
the relatively flat revenue in our tenant screening and drug 
testing business. The segment delivered 6% total revenue 
growth and 5% internal revenue growth for the year 
ended December 31, 2006, compared to the year ended 
December 31, 2005, which excludes $1.9 million of incre-
mental revenue from 2006 acquisitions and the full year 
impact of 2005 acquisitions. Businesses in this segment 
facilitated more than ten million screenings for our customers, 
including over half of the largest U.S.-based employers, iden-
tifying over 750,000 individuals with criminal records. These 
background screenings include approximately 1.5 million 
ChoicePoint-subsidized transactions for many of our nation’s 
leading non-profit organizations under our VolunteerSelectSM 
screening product. In addition to the WorkPlace Solutions 
business, the VitalChek® business delivered strong growth 
driven by the demand from businesses and not-for-profit 
organizations for authenticated birth certificates, the 
implementation of new database software services and a 
favorable travel environment. Screening & Authentication 
Services’ 2006 operating income decreased $1.9 million, 
or 3%, from 2005 due to certain fixed costs incurred by 
our Workplace Solutions business in order to service antici-
pated customer hiring activity that failed to materialize. 
Operating margins declined to 22.2% for 2006, compared 
to 24.4% for 2005 due to lower revenue growth in our 
higher-margin automated products and lower retail hiring 
levels than anticipated late in 2006.
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Financial & Professional Services
The Financial & Professional Services segment, which 
provides public information to the banking, mortgage and 
professional services markets, posted a revenue decline of 
$12.5 million from $117.5 million in 2005 to $105.0 million 
in 2006. Total revenue and internal revenue decreased 
11% from 2005. The decline in revenue is primarily attrib-
utable to the downturn in the mortgage services market and 
the impact of our 2005 decision to exit certain revenue markets 
to reduce our risk and strengthen the level of protection 
around the data we hold. Financial & Professional Services’ 
2006 operating income decreased $9.7 million, primarily 
as a result of this decision. Operating margins decreased to 
12.4% for 2006, compared to 19.3% for 2005, primarily 
due to revenue declines in our higher-margin products.

Government Services
In 2006, Government Services’ total revenue grew 5% 
from 2005 as the strong performance of our U.S. and 
international software business was tempered by a decline 
in our data business. Our early 2005 acquisition of i2, 
together with the 2005 acquisition of EzGov, Inc. and 
the 2004 acquisitions of The Templar Corporation and 
iMapData.com, Inc. (“iMap”), complements our strategy 
to grow this business to better serve our base law enforce-
ment and government customers and to fuel future 
growth in new markets. The combination of our public 
filings data, iMap’s infrastructure data and mapping 
software and i2’s analytic platform enables us to offer end-
to-end solutions to meet our customers’ needs. Excluding 
the 2006 incremental impact from 2005 acquisitions, 
which contributed $1.2 million of revenue in 2006, our 
internal revenue for Government Services increased 4% 
from 2005. Operating income decreased $3.7 million, or 
19%, from 2005 to 2006 and operating margins decreased 
to 11.5% for 2006, compared to 14.9% for 2005, in each 
case primarily due to margin pressures in our data prod-
ucts and investments in new product initiatives.

Marketing Services 
Marketing Services saw a continuation of negative revenue 
trends in 2006. In July 2006, we announced that we intended 
to divest the Marketing Services business and reclassified the 
results of the business as discontinued operations in the third 
quarter of 2006. After thoroughly evaluating our strategic 
opportunities, we decided to retain Marketing Services and 
reclassified its results as continuing operations in the fourth 
quarter of 2006. We continue to face a tough discretionary 
spending environment, particularly with some of our larger 
mortgage and consumer finance customers. For 2006, 
Marketing Services’ service revenue declined 13% from 
2005 and total revenue (service revenue plus reimbursable 

expenses) declined 14% from the prior year. Due to the high 
fixed costs in the marketing business, full year operating 
income decreased $3.5 million, or 22%, from 2005 to 2006. 
Operating margin (as a percentage of service revenue) also 
declined to 15.6% for 2006 compared to 17.4% for 2005 
(12.1% and 13.3% of total revenue, respectively) as a result 
of the aforementioned revenue decrease and high fixed costs. 

Royalty
Royalty revenue from laser technology patents held by the 
Company was $2.4 million in 2005. There was no royalty 
revenue in 2006 due to the expiration of the patents under- 
lying this revenue in May 2005.

Corporate Costs
Corporate and shared expenses totaled $71.3 million, or 
6.9% of service revenue, for the year ended December 
31, 2006, compared to $76.2 million, or 7.7% of service 
revenue in 2005. Corporate and shared expenses in 2005 
included an expense of approximately $2.4 million for a 
specific litigation matter. The decrease in corporate costs 
as a percentage of service revenue in 2006 over 2005 is a 
result of lower incentive accruals and cost controls.

Cash Flow and Liquidity Review
Liquidity and Capital Resources
The Company’s sources of capital include, but are not limited  
to, cash and cash equivalents, cash from continuing operations,  
amounts available under the Credit Facility and the Receivables 
Facility (see Note 6 to the Consolidated Financial Statements), 
the issuance of equity securities and other external sources 
of funds. ChoicePoint’s short-term and long-term liquidity 
depends primarily upon its level of net income, working 
capital management (accounts receivable, accounts payable 
and accrued expenses) and bank borrowings. We believe 
that available short-term and long-term capital resources 
are sufficient to fund capital expenditures, working capital 
requirements, share repurchases under our stock buyback  
program (see Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements), 
scheduled debt payments, and interest and tax obligations for 
the next twelve months. We currently estimate 2007 capital 
expenditures will be approximately $55 – $65 million for 
continuing operations. Any material variance of operating 
results could require us to obtain additional equity or debt 
financing. In addition, investments in business, products, or 
technologies could require us to obtain additional equity or 
debt financing. There can be no assurance that such financing 
will be available to us on favorable terms.
	T he Company uses cash generated to invest in grow-
ing the business, to fund acquisitions and operations, and  
to repurchase its common stock (See Note 9 to the Consoli-
dated Financial Statements). Therefore, no cash dividends
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have been paid, and we do not anticipate paying any  
cash dividends on our common stock in the near future.  
The Company may desire to obtain additional long-term 
financing for other strategic reasons. We anticipate no 
difficulty in obtaining long-term financing based on 
favorable experiences in the debt market in the recent 
past and the Company’s consistent high level of cash flow. 
ChoicePoint may also utilize an existing line of credit for 
overnight borrowings; however, no such borrowings were 
outstanding at either December 31, 2006 or 2005. 
	N et free cash flow (net cash provided by operating 
activities of continuing operations of $234.5 million less 
capital expenditures of $58.4 million) was $176.1 million 
for the year ended December 31, 2006. Excluding cash 
paid during 2006 related to the fraudulent data access of 
$10.2 million, net free cash flow would have been $186.3 
million for the year ended December 31, 2006. Net free 
cash flow is not defined under generally accepted account-
ing principles in the United States (“GAAP”). Therefore, 
it should not be considered a substitute for income or cash 
flow data prepared in accordance with GAAP and may not 
be comparable to similarly titled measures used by other 
companies. It should not be inferred that the entire net free 
cash flow amount is available for discretionary expendi-
tures. The Company believes net free cash flow is a useful 
measure of performance and its ability to generate cash.
	O n October 25, 2006, the Company entered into a  
$600 million unsecured credit facility (the “Credit Facility”)  
with a group of banks, which is expandable to $750 million, 
to refinance its existing facility, fund share repurchases and 
for general corporate purposes. At December 31, 2006, there 
was $315.0 million outstanding under the Credit Facility. 
In addition, approximately $10.0 million of the remain-
ing availability under the Credit Facility was utilized 

for outstanding letters of credit. The average interest rate 
based on the terms of the Credit Facility was 5.8% at 
December 31, 2006. The Company had a $400.0 million 
unsecured multicurrency revolving credit facility (the 
“Former Credit Facility”) with a group of banks that was 
terminated effective October 25, 2006. 
	T he Credit Facility contains covenants customary for 
facilities of this type. Such covenants include limitations, in 
certain circumstances, on the ability of the Company and its 
subsidiaries to (i) effect a change of control of the Company, 
(ii) incur certain types of liens, and (iii) transfer or sell assets. 
The Credit Facility also requires compliance with financial 
covenants, including (i) maximum funded debt to EBITDA 
and (ii) minimum interest coverage. We have maintained 
compliance with these financial covenants.
	 At December 31, 2005, there was $80.0 million 
outstanding under the Former Credit Facility.
	I n July 2001, to obtain an additional source of financing, 
the Company and certain of its subsidiaries entered into 
an agreement (the “Receivables Facility”) with a financial 
institution whereby it may sell on a continuous basis an 
undivided interest in all eligible trade accounts receivable 
subject to limitations up to $100 million. On December 1, 
2006, the Receivables Facility was amended to increase the 
available borrowing capacity to $125.0 million. Net pro-
ceeds from the Receivables Facility were $100.0 million at 
December 31, 2006, and $50.0 million at December 31, 
2005. The average interest rate based on the terms of the 
Receivables Facility was 5.6% at December 31, 2006.
	 At December 31, 2006, we had $300.0 million of 
available capacity under the above facilities. 
	N et debt (total debt of $415.0 million less cash of  
$26.6 million) was $388.4 million at December 31, 2006. 
Net debt to total capitalization (net debt of $388.4 million
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plus total shareholders’ equity of $667.0 million) was  
36.8% at December 31, 2006. Net debt is not defined  
under GAAP. Management believes that net debt provides 
useful information regarding the level of the Company’s 
indebtedness by reflecting cash and investments that 

could be used to repay debt. It should not be considered 
a substitute for total debt data prepared in accordance 
with GAAP and may not be comparable to similarly 
titled measures used by other companies.

Contractual Obligations and the Related Future Payments 
	 Payments Due During Period

(In thousands)	T otal	 2007	 2008 – 2009	 2010 – 2011	 2012 & after

Long-term debt obligations		  $415,000	 $100,000	 $      – 	 $315,000 	 $      – 
Capital lease obligations		  39	 11	 28	 – 	  – 
Purchase obligations		  42,240	 13,050	 15,220	 13,970	 –
Postretirement benefit obligations(a)		  23,396	 2,578	 4,928	 4,812	 11,078
Operating lease obligations		  91,459	 18,736	 32,855	 27,921	 11,947

Total contractual cash obligations		  $572,134	 $134,375	 $53,031	 $361,703	 $23,025

(a) We made postretirement benefit payments of $2.2 million in 2006. For additional information regarding our postretirement benefit obligations, see Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

	 We have not included obligations under our deferred 
compensation plan in the contractual obligations table. 
Our deferred compensation plan is not required to be 
funded in advance, but rather is generally funded as ben-
efits become payable to participants. We made deferred 
compensation payments of $1.0 million in 2006.  

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
Synthetic Leases
During the second quarter of 2006, the Company entered 
into a $12.5 million synthetic lease agreement for a new 
property. Under this synthetic lease agreement, a third-
party lessor purchased the property and paid for the build-
out of the property completed in December 2006. The 
$12.5 million synthetic lease expires in 2012. On Decem-
ber 8, 2006, the Company entered into a $25.2 million 
synthetic lease agreement for our headquarters building 
and a $46.2 million synthetic lease agreement for our data 
center facility. These agreements replaced the existing 
agreements that were due to expire in 2007 and 2008. The 
new lease agreements expire in 2012, at which time we 
have the following options for each lease: renew the lease 
for an additional five years, purchase the building for the 
original cost or sell the property ourselves (remarket). If we 
elect to remarket the property, ChoicePoint must guaran-
tee the lessor 80% to 85% of the original cost.
	T he Company has accounted for the synthetic leases 
as operating leases and has recorded rent expense. If the 
Company had elected to purchase the properties instead 
of entering into the synthetic leases, total assets and debt 
would have increased by $83.5 million at December 31, 
2006 and $71.0 million at December 31, 2005 and we 
would have recorded additional depreciation expense 
related to the synthetic leases of approximately $2.7 million 

($1.7 million after tax) for 2006, $2.4 million ($1.5 million 
after tax) for 2005, and $2.2 million ($1.4 million after tax) 
for 2004.

Derivatives
Derivative financial instruments at December 31, 2006 
consist of four interest rate swap agreements entered into to 
reduce the impact of changes in a benchmark interest rate 
(LIBOR) on the Company’s LIBOR-based payments on 
the Company’s synthetic leases. These swap agreements, 
with a total notional amount of $67 million at December 
31, 2006, involve the receipt of a variable rate and payment 
by ChoicePoint of fixed rates between 4.0% and 6.5%. 
ChoicePoint has designated all of these swaps as cash flow 
hedges of the variability in expected future interest pay-
ments on $67 million of the Company’s LIBOR-based 
payments under the synthetic leases discussed previously. 
Amounts currently due to or from interest rate swap coun-
terparties are recorded as expense in the period in which 
they accrue. The Company does not enter into derivative 
financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes. 
As of December 31, 2006, the fair value of the outstanding 
interest rate swap agreements was an asset of $0.4 million, 
which has been recorded net of taxes in accumulated other 
comprehensive (loss) in accordance with SFAS No. 133, 
Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, 
as amended by SFAS No. 138 (see Notes 3 and 6 to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements). 

Interest Rate Risk Management
The Company is exposed to market risk from changes 
in interest rates. The information below summarizes the 
Company’s market risk associated with its debt obligations 
as of December 31, 2006. The information below should 
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be read in conjunction with Note 6 to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements. 
	 At December 31, 2006, borrowings outstanding under 
the Credit Facility were $315.0 million and borrowings 
outstanding under the Receivables Facility were $100.0 mil-
lion. These facilities bear interest at variable rates based 
on LIBOR plus applicable margins. At December 31, 
2006, the Company’s interest rate was 5.8% under the 
Credit Facility and 5.6% under the Receivables Facility. 
At December 31, 2006, $83.5 million was outstanding 
under the Company’s synthetic lease agreements. The 
previously discussed swap agreements involve the exchange 
of variable rates for fixed rate payments and effectively fix 
the Company’s benchmark interest rate on $67 million of 
its synthetic leases at approximately 5.4% through August 
2007, the expiration date of the swap agreements.
	 Based on the Company’s overall interest rate exposure 
at December 31, 2006, a one percent change in interest 
rates would result in a change in annual pretax interest 
expense of approximately $4.3 million based on the 
Company’s current level of borrowings. 

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk
The majority of the Company’s revenue, expense and 
capital expenditure activities are transacted in U.S. 
dollars. However, the Company does transact business 
in other currencies, primarily the British pound. The 
Company’s operations in the United Kingdom and other 
foreign countries represented an aggregate of approxi-
mately 4% of its consolidated revenues from continuing 
operations during the year ended December 31, 2006, 
and approximately 9% of consolidated long-lived assets 
at December 31, 2006. 
	T he Company is required to translate, or express  
in U.S. dollars, the assets and liabilities of its foreign 
subsidiaries that are denominated or measured in foreign 
currencies at the applicable year-end rate of exchange 
on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. The 
Company records the resulting translation adjustment, 
and gains and losses resulting from the translation of  
intercompany balances of a long-term investment nature,  
as components of its shareholders’ equity. Other immate-
rial foreign currency transaction gains and losses are 
recorded in the Company’s Consolidated Statements 
of Income. The Company has not hedged translational 
foreign currency exposure. 
	 For the year ended December 31, 2006, a 10%  
fluctuation in the exchange rate between the U.S.  
dollar and the British pound would result in a change  
in revenues of $3.2 million, and a change in net income  
of $0.7 million. 

Summary of Cash Activities
Net cash provided by operating activities of continuing 
operations for the year ended December 31, was $234.6 mil-
lion for 2006, $247.6 million for 2005 and $240.2 million  
for 2004. Net cash used in investing activities of continu-
ing operations for the year ended December 31, was 
$99.4 million for 2006, $184.6 million for 2005 and 
$281.0 million for 2004. Net cash used in financing activities 
of continuing operations for the year ended December 31, 
was $123.8 million for 2006 and $36.3 million for 2005 
and net cash provided by financing activities of continuing 
operations for the year ended December 31, 2004 was 
$21.4 million.

2006 vs. 2005
The net change in operating assets and liabilities was a 
decrease of $62.5 million for the year ended December 31,  
2006, as compared to the impact for the year ended Decem- 
ber 31, 2005, primarily as a result of increases in deferred 
taxes offset partially by increased accounts receivable in 2006 
as compared to 2005. Our accounts receivable increased by 
$24.7 million from December 31, 2005 to December 31,  
2006, while total revenue increased 4%, from the year 
ended December 31, 2005 to the year ended December 31,  
2006. Net cash provided by operating activities for the 
year ended December 31, 2005 includes the $15.9 million 
tax benefit of stock options exercised. Effective January 1, 
2006, the tax benefit of stock options exercised is included 
in financing activities under SFAS 123(R). Net cash pro-
vided by operating activities of discontinued operations 
was $3.9 million and $4.3 million for the years ended 
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. 
	N et cash used in investing activities of $99.4 million in 
2006 and $184.6 million in 2005 includes the acquisition 
of six entities in 2006 and the acquisition of three entities 
and a minority investment in 2005 to further capitalize on 
investment opportunities to build our business model, to 
expand our offerings to new markets and to develop new 
products (see Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial State-
ments). Cash used for investing activities included capital 
expenditures of $58.4 million and $61.2 million for the 
years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. 
Net cash used in investing activities by the discontinued 
operations totaled $10.7 million and $10.5 million for the 
years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
	N et cash used in financing activities includes 
$427.2 million and $125.6 million of share repurchases 
under the stock buyback program (see Note 9 to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements) during the years 
ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Net 
cash used in financing activities also includes $285.0 million 
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and $80.0 million of net borrowings to fund the share 
repurchases and aforementioned acquisitions during the 
years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. 
Net cash used in financing activities for the year ended 
December 31, 2006, includes $3.2 million of cash pro-
vided from the tax benefit from stock options exercised. 
For 2005, the tax benefit from stock option exercises is 
classified as a cash flow from operating activities in the 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

2005 vs. 2004
The net change in operating assets and liabilities was a 
decrease of $5.9 million in 2005, as compared to the impact 
for the year ended December 31, 2004, primarily as a result 
of increases in our current liabilities, offset partially by 
increased accounts receivable in 2005 as compared to 2004. 
Our increase in current liabilities was due primarily to the 
settlement with the FTC (see Note 12 to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements) and related costs, additional reserves 
on specific litigation matters, increased operational costs 
related to increased revenues and changes in income 
taxes payable due to timing of estimated tax payments. 
Our accounts receivable increased by $9.7 million, from 
December 31, 2004 to December 31, 2005, while revenue 
increased $132.2 million, or 15%, from the year ended 
December 31, 2004 to the year ended December 31, 2005. 
	N et cash provided by operating activities of discon-
tinued operations was $4.3 million and $8.4 million 
for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, 
respectively. Net cash used in investing activities by the 
discontinued operations totaled $10.5 million and $10.8 
million for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 
2004, respectively.	
	N et cash used in investing activities of $184.6 million  
in 2005 and $281.0 million in 2004 includes the acquisi-
tion of three entities and a minority investment in 2005 
and ten entities in 2004. Cash used for investing activities 
included capital expenditures of $61.2 million and 
$55.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2005 
and 2004, respectively. Net cash used in investing activities 
for the year ended December 31, 2004 includes $3.5 million 
of proceeds from the sale of CPCS.
	N et cash used in financing activities for the year ended 
December 31, 2005, includes $125.6 million of share 
repurchases under the stock buyback program (see Note 9 
to the Consolidated Financial Statements). Net cash used 
in financing activities in 2005 also includes $80.0 million 
of net borrowings to fund the share repurchases and afore-
mentioned acquisitions. 

New Accounting Pronouncements
The Company adopted SFAS 123(R) effective January 1,  
2006 using the modified prospective transition method. 
Under this transition method, compensation cost was 
recognized after adoption for all share-based payments 
granted prior to, but not yet vested as of January 1, 2006, 
and all share-based payments granted subsequent to Janu-
ary 1, 2006. As a result of adopting SFAS 123(R), the Com-
pany’s income before income taxes and net income (loss) for 
the year ended December 31, 2006, were $15.4 million and 
$12.3 million lower, respectively, than if the Company had 
continued to account for share-based compensation under 
Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25. SFAS 
123(R) also requires that the benefits of tax deductions in 
excess of recognized compensation cost be reported as a 
financing cash flow, rather than as an operating cash flow as 
required under prior guidance. This requirement reduced 
net operating cash flows in the amount of $3.2 million for the 
year ended December 31, 2006. See Note 8 to the Consoli-
dated Financial Statements for additional information on 
the adoption of SFAS 123(R).
	I n September 2006, the Financial Accounting Stan-
dards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 158, “Employers’ 
Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other 
Postretirement Plans, an amendment of FASB Statements 
No. 87, 88, 106 and 132(R)” (“SFAS 158”), which requires 
recognition in the Statements of Financial Position of the 
over- or under-funded status of defined pension and other 
postretirement plans, measured as the difference between the 
fair value of plan assets and the accumulated benefit obliga-
tion for other postretirement benefit plans, with a corre-
sponding adjustment to accumulated other comprehensive 
income, net of tax. The Company adopted the recognition 
and disclosure provisions of SFAS 158 as of December 31, 
2006. The adjustment to accumulated other comprehensive 
income at adoption of $5.5 million ($3.4 million net of tax) 
represents the net unrecognized actuarial gains and unrecog-
nized prior service credit.  There was no impact on results 
of operations or cash flows. In addition, SFAS 158 did not 
have an effect on the Company’s consolidated financial 
condition at December 31, 2005 or 2004. See Note 10 
to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional 
information on the adoption of SFAS 158.
	I n September 2006, the SEC issued Staff Account-
ing Bulletin No. 108, Considering the Effects of Prior Year 
Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current 
Year Financial Statements (“SAB 108”). SAB 108 provides 
interpretive guidance on how the effects of the carry- 
over or reversal of prior year misstatements should be 
considered in quantifying a current year misstatement. 
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The SEC staff believes that registrants should quantify 
errors using both the balance sheet and income statement 
approach when quantifying a misstatement. The guidance 
provides for a one-time cumulative effect adjustment to 
correct for misstatements for errors that were not deemed 
material under a company’s prior approach but are mate-
rial under the SAB 108 approach. SAB 108 is effective for 
the Company’s fiscal year ending December 31, 2006. The 
adoption of SAB 108 had no effect on the results of opera-
tions or financial position of the Company.
	I n July 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation 
No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes 
(“FIN 48”). The interpretation clarifies the accounting 
for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in a company’s 
financial statements in accordance with SFAS No. 109, 
Accounting for Income Taxes. Specifically, the pronounce-
ment prescribes a recognition threshold and a measurement 
attribute for the financial statement recognition and mea-
surement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken 
in a tax return. The interpretation also provides guidance 
on the related derecognition, classification, interest and 
penalties, accounting for interim periods, disclosure and 
transition of uncertain tax positions. This interpretation 
was effective for the Company on January 1, 2007. The 
Company is currently evaluating the impact this new 
standard will have on its future results of operations and 
financial position. 
	I n September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, 
Fair Value Measurements (“SFAS 157”), which defines fair 
value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in 
accordance with GAAP, and expands disclosures about 
fair value measurements. SFAS 157 applies where other 
accounting pronouncements require or permit fair value 
measurements; it does not require any new fair value 
measurements under GAAP. SFAS 157 is effective for the 
Company on January 1, 2007. The effects of adoption will 
be determined by the types of instruments carried at fair 
value in the Company’s financial statements at the time of 
adoption as well as the method utilized to determine their 
fair values prior to adoption. Based on the Company’s 
current use of fair value measurements, SFAS 157 is not 
expected to have a material effect on the results of opera-
tions or financial position of the Company. 

Critical Accounting Policies
The Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared in 
accordance with GAAP, which require the Company to 
make estimates and assumptions which may be revised 
over time as new information and regulations become 
available. The Company believes that of its significant 
accounting policies (see Note 3 to the Consolidated 

Financial Statements), the following may involve a higher 
degree of judgment and complexity:

Purchase Price Allocation  
Over its history, the Company’s growth has been partly 
driven by acquisitions. The application of the purchase 
method of accounting requires companies to assign values 
to acquired assets and liabilities, including intangible assets 
acquired based on their fair value. The determination of 
fair value for acquired assets, particularly intangible assets, 
requires a high degree of judgment, and estimates often 
involve significant subjectivity due to the lack of transpar-
ent market data or listed market prices. The Company 
generally uses internal evaluations in determining the fair 
value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed; however, 
the use of different valuation models or assumptions could 
result in different amounts of goodwill and other acquisi-
tion intangible assets and different lives for amortizable 
intangible assets. As of December 31, 2006, certain of our 
2006 purchase price allocations were based on prelimi-
nary estimates which may be revised in future periods as 
estimates and assumptions are finalized (see Note 4 to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements). The Company does 
not anticipate that these revisions would be significant to 
the financial statements taken as a whole.

Impairment Charges  
SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, 
requires the testing of intangible assets with indefinite lives 
and goodwill for impairment at least annually (see Note 3 
to the Consolidated Financial Statements). In assessing the 
recoverability of these intangible assets, the Company must 
make assumptions regarding the estimated discounted 
future cash flows to determine the estimated fair value of 
the respective assets. These assumptions may change in the 
future due to economic conditions or in connection with 
the sale or integration of the Company’s business units, at 
which time ChoicePoint may be required to record impair-
ment charges for these assets. The Company completed 
its last annual goodwill impairment review as of October 
31, 2006 and no additional impairment was indicated 
as a result of this review. Assuming a 10% reduction in 
estimated annual cash flows in the 2006 annual impairment 
tests, the Company would have recorded impairment 
charges of approximately $6 million.
	T he Company is required to asses the other acquired 
intangible assets, such as purchased software, customer 
relationships and non-compete agreements, and tangible 
long-lived assets, such as property, plant and equipment, 
for impairment whenever indicators of impairment exist 
in accordance with SFAS No. 144. Management uses 
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measurable operating performance criteria as well as 
qualitative measures to determine whether an indicator 
of impairment exists. If an indicator of impairment exists, 
the Company reviews and reevaluates the assumptions 
used, which are primarily identified from the Company’s 
budget and longer-term strategic plan, for assessing the 
recoverability of such assets. If the carrying amount of 
an asset is not recoverable, based upon the expected 
undiscounted future cash flows of the asset, an impair-
ment loss equal to the excess of the carrying amount over 
the estimated fair value of the asset is recorded. Also, in 
connection with selling and integrating certain business 
operations, the Company has historically recorded asset 
impairment charges for property, equipment, data and 
software assets that will no longer be used. Inherent in 
the assumptions used in impairment analyses are certain 
significant management judgments and estimates, such 
as future revenue growth, future operating margins, and 
future undiscounted cash flows. The Company peri-
odically reviews and reevaluates these assumptions and 
adjusts them as necessary.
	I n 2006, the Company recorded other operating 
charges of $110.1 million ($66.7 million net of taxes) to 
recognize asset impairments related to continuing opera-
tions (see Note 12 to the Consolidated Financial State-
ments). The Company recorded other operating charges 
of $67.5 million ($47.2 million net of taxes) related to 
discontinued operations (see Note 5 to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements) to reduce the carrying value of 
goodwill and other assets to reflect the estimated net pro-
ceeds which may be realized from selling these businesses. 

Software and Databases Developed for Internal Use 
As discussed in Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements, the Company capitalizes certain direct costs 
incurred in the development of internal use software and 
databases. Amortization of such costs as cost of service 
revenue is computed on a straight-line basis generally over 
three to five years. The Company evaluates the recover-
ability of capitalized costs periodically or as changes in 
circumstances suggest a possible impairment may exist in 
accordance with SFAS No. 144. Primarily in connection 
with the centralization of functions and consolidation of 
certain technology platforms, capitalized costs, including 
data purchases, were written down by $8.2 million in 2006 
and are included in the impairment charges of $110.1 mil-
lion in 2006 discussed above. Amortization of capitalized 
software and database costs, including hardware and data 

purchases, amounted to $17.8 million in 2006, $13.9 mil-
lion in 2005, and $14.1 million in 2004.

Postretirement Benefit Obligations  
In connection with developing the Company’s projected 
liabilities for postretirement benefits, management is 
required to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the reported amounts of the liability as of the date of the 
financial statements and the amount of expense recog-
nized during the period. The liability is developed based 
on currently available information, estimates of future 
trends and actuarial assumptions including a discount 
rate of 5.71% and 5.50% and an initial health care cost 
trend rate of approximately 9.33% and 10.33% as of 
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. A 0.25% 
decrease or increase in the discount rate (to 5.46% 
or 5.96%) would result in a change in the liability of 
approximately $400,000. Actual results could differ from 
these estimates. See Note 10 to the Consolidated Finan-
cial Statements for a discussion of the impact of changes 
in health care cost trend rates. 

Revenue Recognition  
Certain of the Company’s revenues are accounted for 
under the percentage of completion method and some 
of its software revenues are allocated to each element of 
a transaction based upon its fair value as determined by 
vendor specific objective evidence. The Company estimates 
the percentage of completion on contracts and determines 
the software revenue allocation method based on assump-
tions and estimates that require judgment. Changes in 
estimates to complete and revisions to the fair value used in 
the allocation of software revenue elements could result in a 
change in the timing of revenue recognition. Management 
believes its method and related assumptions, which have 
been consistently applied, to be reasonable (see Note 3 to 
the Consolidated Financial Statements).

Stock-Based Compensation  
Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted SFAS 
123(R)’s fair value method of measurement for all share-
based payment transactions with employees using its modi-
fied prospective transition method. Under this transition 
method, compensation cost was recognized after adoption 
for all share-based payments granted prior to, but not yet 
vested as of January 1, 2006, and all share-based payments 
granted subsequent to January 1, 2006. As a result of 
adopting SFAS 123(R) on January 1, 2006, the Company’s 
income before income taxes and net income (loss) for the  
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year ended December 31, 2006, were $15.4 million and 
$12.3 million lower, respectively, than if the Company 
had continued to account for share-based compensation 
under Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25. 
Basic and diluted earnings per share from continuing 
operations for the year ended December 31, 2006 would 
have been $0.35 and $0.34, respectively, if the Company 
had not adopted SFAS 123(R), compared to reported 
basic and diluted earnings per share from continuing 
operations of $0.21 and $0.20, respectively. As of 
December 31, 2006, there was approximately $6.7 mil-
lion in total unrecognized compensation cost related to 
nonvested stock, $9.2 million related to deferred shares, 
and $2.1 million related to share equivalent units. That 
cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted average  
period of 2.0 years for nonvested stock, 3.3 years for 
deferred shares, and 1.8 years for share equivalent units.  
SFAS 123(R) also requires that the benefits of tax deductions  
in excess of recognized compensation cost be reported 
as a financing cash flow, rather than as an operating cash 
flow as required under prior guidance. This requirement 
reduced net operating cash flows in the amount of  
$3.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. 
Management judgments and assumptions related to 
volatility, the expected term and the forfeiture rate are 
made in connection with the calculation of stock com-
pensation expense. The Company periodically reviews 
all assumptions used in its stock option pricing model. 
Changes in these assumptions for future grants could 
have a significant impact on the amount of stock-based 
compensation expense.

Forward-Looking Statements
Certain written and oral statements made by or on behalf 
of the Company may constitute “forward-looking state-
ments” as defined under the Private Securities Litigation 
Reform Act of 1995. Words or phrases such as “should 
result,” “are expected to,” “we anticipate,” “we estimate,”  

“we project,” or similar expressions are intended to iden-
tify forward-looking statements. These statements are 
subject to certain risks and uncertainties that could cause 
actual results to differ materially from those expressed in 
any forward-looking statements. These risks and uncer-
tainties include, but are not limited to, the following 
important factors: the results of our ongoing review of 
fraudulent data access and other events, the impact of  
our decision to discontinue certain services, the results of 
our re-credentialing of customer accounts, the results of 
any litigation or government proceedings, the implemen-
tation of plans to divest various businesses resulting from 
our company-wide strategic review including unantici-
pated losses realized in connection with any such sales, 
demand for the Company’s services, product develop-
ment, maintaining acceptable margins, maintaining 
our data supply, maintaining secure systems including 
personal privacy systems, ability to minimize system 
interruptions, ability to control costs, the impact of 
federal, state and local regulatory requirements on the 
Company’s business, specifically the direct marketing 
and public filings markets, privacy matters and any 
federal or state legislative responses to identify theft 
concerns, the impact of competition and customer 
consolidations, ability to continue our long-term busi-
ness strategy including growth through acquisition, 
ability to attract and retain qualified personnel, and the 
uncertainty of economic conditions in general. Addi-
tional information concerning these and other risks and 
uncertainties is contained in the Company’s filings with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission, including 
the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10−K. Readers 
are cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward-
looking statements, since the statements speak only 
as of the date that they are made, and the Company 
undertakes no obligation to publicly update these 
statements based on events that may occur after the 
date of this report.
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The management of ChoicePoint Inc. (the “Company”) 
is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate 
internal control over financial reporting. Internal control 
over financial reporting is a process designed under the 
supervision of the Company’s principal executive and 
principal financial officers to provide reasonable assurance 
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of the Company’s financial statements for 
external reporting purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles. Our internal control over 
financial reporting is supported by written policies and 
guidelines, a program of internal audits, a written Code of 
Conduct applicable to all Company directors and all offi-
cers and employees of the Company, and quarterly writ-
ten representations obtained from business unit leaders 
and key financial associates.
	 Because of the inherent limitations of internal control 
over financial reporting, material misstatements due to 
error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on a timely 
basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness 
of the internal control over financial reporting to future 

periods are subject to the risk that the controls may 
become inadequate because of changes in conditions, 
or that the degree of compliance with the policies or 
procedures may deteriorate.
	T he Company’s management assessed the effective-
ness of the Company’s internal control over financial 
reporting as of December 31, 2006. In making this assess-
ment, the Company’s management used the criteria set 
forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of 
the Treadway Commission (“COSO”) in Internal Control – 
Integrated Framework. Based on this assessment, manage-
ment believes that, as of December 31, 2006, the Company’s 
internal control over financial reporting is effective. 
	T he Company’s independent registered public 
accounting firm has audited management’s assessment of 
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over 
financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, as stated in 
their report, which expresses unqualified opinions on 
management’s assessment and on the effectiveness of 
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting 
as of December 31, 2006.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

C h o i c e P o i n t  2 0 0 6  A n n u a l  R e p o r t

Derek V. Smith
Chief Executive Officer

Steven W. Surbaugh
Chief Administrative Officer

Doug C. Curling
Chief Operating Officer

David E. Trine
Chief Financial Officer
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To the Board of Directors and Shareholders 
of ChoicePoint Inc.:

We have audited management’s assessment, included in 
the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal 
Control over Financial Reporting, that ChoicePoint Inc. 
and subsidiaries (the “Company”) maintained effective 
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 
2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control – 
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsor-
ing Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The 
Company’s management is responsible for maintaining 
effective internal control over financial reporting and for 
its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over 
financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over 
financial reporting based on our audit.
	 We conducted our audit in accordance with the stan-
dards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether effective internal control over financial reporting 
was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included 
obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial 
reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing 
and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of 
internal control, and performing such other procedures as 
we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe 
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.
	 A company’s internal control over financial reporting 
is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the 
company’s principal executive and principal financial offi-
cers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected 
by the company’s board of directors, management, and 
other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding 
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles. A compa-
ny’s internal control over financial reporting includes those 
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance 
of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly 
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the 
company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions 
are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial 
statements in accordance with generally accepted account-
ing principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the 
company are being made only in accordance with authori-
zations of management and directors of the company; and 

(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or 
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or dispo-
sition of the company’s assets that could have a material 
effect on the financial statements.
	 Because of the inherent limitations of internal control 
over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion 
or improper management override of controls, material 
misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented 
or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evalua-
tion of the effectiveness of the internal control over financial 
reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the 
controls may become inadequate because of changes in 
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies 
or procedures may deteriorate. 
	I n our opinion, management’s assessment that the 
Company maintained effective internal control over finan-
cial reporting as of December 31, 2006, is fairly stated, in all 
material respects, based on the criteria established in Internal 
Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of 
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. 
Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all mate-
rial respects, effective internal control over financial reporting 
as of December 31, 2006, based on the criteria established in 
Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Com-
mittee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission.
	 We have also audited, in accordance with the standards 
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(United States), the consolidated financial statements as of 
and for the year ended December 31, 2006 of the Company 
and our report dated February 27, 2007 expressed an 
unqualified opinion on those financial statements and 
included an explanatory paragraph regarding the Company’s 
changes in methods of accounting for share based payments 
to conform to Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 
(“SFAS”) No. 123R “Share Based Payment” and the funded 
status of its benefit plans to conform to SFAS No. 158 
“Employer Accounting for Defined Pension and Other Post 
Retirement Plans,” which were adopted by the Company as 
of January 1 and December 31, 2006, respectively.

Atlanta, Georgia
February 27, 2007

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on  
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

C h o i c e P o i n t  2 0 0 6  A n n u a l  R e p o r t
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To the Board of Directors and Shareholders 
of ChoicePoint Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance 
sheets of ChoicePoint Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) 
as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 and the related con-
solidated statements of income, shareholders’ equity, and 
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended 
December 31, 2006. These financial statements are the 
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial 
statements based on our audits.
	 We conducted our audits in accordance with the 
standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight 
Board (United States). Those standards require that we 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test 
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. An audit also includes assess-
ing the accounting principles used and significant esti-
mates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that 
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
	I n our opinion, such consolidated financial state-
ments present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of ChoicePoint Inc. and subsidiaries as of 
December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the results of their 
operations and their cash flows for each of the three years 
in the period ended December 31, 2006, in conformity 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America.

	 As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial 
statements, effective January 1, 2006, the Company 
changed its method of accounting for share based pay-
ments to conform to Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123R “Share Based Payment” and 
effective December 31, 2006, the Company changed its 
method of accounting for the funded status of its benefit 
plans to conform to SFAS No. 158 “Employer Accounting 
for Defined Pension and Other Post Retirement Plans.”
	 We have also audited, in accordance with the stan-
dards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight 
Board (United States), the effectiveness of the Company’s 
internal control over financial reporting as of Decem-
ber 31, 2006, based on the criteria established in Internal 
Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee 
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission 
and our report dated February 27, 2007 expressed an 
unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over 
financial reporting and an unqualified opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over 
financial reporting.

Atlanta, Georgia
February 27, 2007

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
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(In thousands, except per share data)

Year Ended December 31,	 2006	 2005	 2004

Service revenue	 $1,032,114	 $      985,702	 $847,258
Reimbursable expenses (Note 3)	 22,878	 28,056	 34,280

	T otal revenue	 1,054,992	 1,013,758	 881,538

Costs and expenses:
	 Cost of service revenue	 541,935	 505,944	 437,107
	 Reimbursable expenses	 22,878	 28,056	 34,280
	 Selling, general, and administrative	 244,291	 215,646	 175,066
	O ther operating charges (Note 12)	 117,572	 28,773	 –

		T  otal costs and expenses	 926,676	 778,419	 646,453

Operating income	 128,316	 235,339	 235,085
Interest expense, net	 15,920	 4,513	 2,948

Income from continuing operations before income taxes	 112,396	 230,826	 232,137
Provision for income taxes	 43,621	 91,302	 88,328

Income from continuing operations	 68,775	 139,524	 143,809
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax (Note 5)	 (48,712)	 1,132	 4,146
Loss on sale of discontinued operations, net of tax (Note 5)	 (3,141)	 –	 –

Net income	 $    16,922	 $      140,656	 $147,955

Earnings per share (Note 8)
Basic:
	I ncome from continuing operations	 $      0.83	 $      1.57	 $      1.64
	I ncome (loss) from discontinued operations	 (0.59)	 0.01	 0.05
	L oss on sale of discontinued operations	 (0.04)	 –	 –

	N et income	 $      0.21	 $      1.59	 $      1.69

Diluted:
	I ncome from continuing operations	 $      0.81	 $      1.52	 $      1.58
	I ncome (loss) from discontinued operations	 (0.57)	 0.01	 0.05
	L oss on sale of discontinued operations	 (0.04)	 –	 –

	N et income	 $      0.20	 $      1.53	 $      1.62

Weighted average shares – basic	 82,521	 88,727	 87,502
Dilutive effect of stock-based compensation	 2,465	 2,968	 3,803

Weighted average shares – diluted	 84,986	 91,695	 91,305

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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(In thousands, except par values)

December 31,		  2006	 2005

Assets 
Current assets:
	 Cash and cash equivalents		  $     26,612	 $    21,337
	 Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts 
		  of $6,484 in 2006 and $5,749 in 2005		  222,856	 203,289
	O ther current assets		  36,538	 47,612
	 Assets of businesses held for sale (Note 5)		  31,513	 –

	T otal current assets		  317,519	 272,238

Property and equipment, net 		  68,167	 73,518
Goodwill		  798,463	 917,858
Other acquisition intangible assets, net		  81,930	 102,283
Deferred tax assets		  8,560	 –
Other assets, net		  71,453	 97,079

	T otal assets		  $1,346,092	 $1,462,976

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
	 Short-term debt and current maturities of long-term debt		  $  100,011	 $    50,022
	 Accounts payable		  60,913	 45,212
	 Accrued salaries and bonuses		  24,811	 31,349
	I ncome taxes payable		  5,833	 6,861
	 Deferred income taxes		  391	 1,723
	O ther current liabilities		  114,807	 135,417
	L iabilities of businesses held for sale (Note 5)		  3,231	 –

	T otal current liabilities		  309,997	 270,584

Long-term debt, less current maturities	 	 315,028	 80,035
Postretirement benefit obligations		  20,818	 24,929
Deferred income taxes		  1,050	 43,617
Other long-term liabilities		  32,212	 22,937

	T otal liabilities		  679,105	 442,102

Commitments and contingencies (Note 11)
Shareholders’ equity:
	 Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 10,000 shares authorized, 
		  no shares issued or outstanding		  –	 –
	 Common stock, $0.10 par value; shares authorized – 400,000; 
		  issued – 91,778 in 2006 and 90,967 in 2005		  9,178	 9,097
	 Paid-in capital		  500,859	 458,132
	 Retained earnings		  735,312	 718,390
	 Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net		  4,601	 (9,784)
	T reasury stock, at cost, 15,731 shares in 2006 and 4,340 shares in 2005		  (582,963)	 (154,961)

	T otal shareholders’ equity		  666,987	 1,020,874

	T otal liabilities and shareholders’ equity		  $1,346,092	 $1,462,976

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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									         Accumulated
									O         ther 	
					     Comprehensive	 Common	 Paid-in	 Retained	 Comprehensive	T reasury
(In thousands)	 Income	 Stock	 Capital	E arnings	I ncome (loss), Net	 Stock	T otal

Balance, December 31, 2003		  $8,775	 $374,929	 $429,779	 $(2,589)	 $    (20,399)	 $    790,495

Net income	 $147,955	 –	 –	 147,955	 –	 –	 147,955
Change in fair value of derivatives,  
	 net of deferred taxes of $823	 1,235	 –	 –	 –	 1,235	 –	 1,235
Other			   37	 –	 –	 –	 37	 –	 37

Comprehensive income	 $149,227	

Restricted and other stock plans, net		  6	 4,891	 –	 –	 –	 4,897
Stock options exercised		  162	 23,271	 –	 –	 –	 23,433
Common stock redeemed		  –	 –	 –	 –	 (151)	 (151)
Stock distributed by employee  
	 benefit trusts		  –	 –	 –	 –	 76	 76
Tax benefit of stock options exercised		  –	 15,682	 –	 –	 –	 15,682

Balance, December 31, 2004		  8,943	 418,773	 577,734	 (1,317)	 (20,474)	 983,659

Net income	 $140,656	 –	 –	 140,656	 –	 –	 140,656
Change in fair value of derivatives,  
	 net of deferred taxes of $930	 1,396	 –	 –	 –	 1,396	 –	 1,396
Change in cumulative foreign
	 currency translation adjustment	 (9,863)	 –	 –	 –	 (9,863)	 –	 (9,863)

Comprehensive income	 $132,189

Restricted and other stock plans, net		  9	 5,304	 –	 –	 –	 5,313
Stock options exercised		  145	 18,093	 –	 –	 –	 18,238
Common stock repurchased		  –	 –	 –	 –	 (125,592)	 (125,592)
Stock purchased for employee 
	 benefit trusts		  –	 –	 –	 –	 (8,895)	 (8,895)
Tax benefit of stock options exercised		  –	 15,962	 –	 –	 –	 15,962

Balance, December 31, 2005		  $9,097	 $458,132	 $718,390	 $(9,784)	 $(154,961)	 $1,020,874

Net income	 $    16,922	 –	 –	 16,922	 –	 –	 16,922
Change in fair value of derivatives, 	
	 net of deferred taxes of $141	 212	 –	 –	 –	 212	 –	 212
Change in cumulative foreign
	 currency translation adjustment	 10,790	 	 –	 –	 10,790	 –	 10,790

Comprehensive income	 $    27,924

Adoption of SFAS No. 158, 
	 net of deferred taxes of $2,073	 	 –	 –	 –	 3,383	 –	 3,383
Restricted and other stock plans, net	 	 13	 7,761	 –	 –	 (426)	 7,348
Stock options exercised	 	 69	 16,255	 –	 –	 –	 16,324
Common stock repurchased	 	 –	 –	 –	 –	 (427,248)	 (427,248)
Common stock redeemed	 	 (1)	 –	 –	 –	 (439)	 (440)
Stock distributed from employee 
	 benefit trusts	 	 –	 –	 –	 –	 111	 111
Stock based compensation expense	 	 –	 15,535	 –	 –	 –	 15,535
Tax benefit of stock options exercised	 	 –	 3,176	 –	 –	 –	 3,176

Balance, December 31, 2006	 	 $9,178	 $500,859	 $735,312	 $   4,601	 $(582,963)	$        666,987

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31,	 2006	 2005	 2004

Cash flows from operating activities:
	N et income	 $  16,922	 $    140,656	 $    147,955
	L oss (income) from discontinued operations, net of taxes	 51,853	 (1,132)	 (4,146)

	I ncome from continuing operations	 68,775	 139,524	 143,809
Adjustments to reconcile income from continuing operations 
	 to net cash provided by continuing operations:
		  Depreciation and amortization	 78,124	 69,594	 56,731
		N  on-cash components of other operating charges	 110,120	 –	 –
		  Compensation recognized under stock-based compensation plans	 22,749	 5,314	 4,897
		T  ax benefit of stock options exercised	 –	 15,937	 15,682
		  Gain on sale of minority investment	 –	 –	 (4,049)
Changes in assets and liabilities, excluding effects 
	 of acquisitions and divestitures:
		  Accounts receivable, net	 (24,662)	 (9,684)	 (22,556)
		O  ther current assets, excluding income taxes	 8,182	 (15,862)	 (9,227)
		  Deferred income taxes	 (32,207)	 13,760	 30,030
		E  stimated income taxes	 438	 12,296	 11,717
		  Current liabilities, excluding debt and income taxes	 (58)	 20,555	 7,648
		O  ther long-term liabilities, excluding debt	 3,089	 (3,800)	 5,541

Net cash provided by operating activities – continuing operations	 234,550	 247,634	 240,223
Net cash provided by operating activities – discontinued operations	 3,939	 4,304	 8,397

Cash flows from investing activities:
	 Acquisitions and investment, net of cash acquired	 (59,441)	 (123,380)	 (229,314)
	 Cash proceeds from sale of discontinued operations, businesses, 
		   and minority investments	 18,500	 –	 3,549
	 Additions to property and equipment, net	 (25,491)	 (25,454)	 (25,775)
	 Additions to other assets, net	 (32,926)	 (35,722)	 (29,502)

Net cash used in investing activities – continuing operations	 (99,358)	 (184,556)	 (281,042)
Net cash used in investing activities – discontinued operations	 (10,660)	 (10,532)	 (10,761)

Cash flows from financing activities:
	 Payments on Credit Facilities	 (30,000)	 (95,000)	 (70,000)
	 Borrowings under Credit Facilities	 265,000	 175,000	 70,000
	 Payments on Receivables Facility	 (110,000)	 –	 (70,000)
	 Borrowings under Receivables Facility	 160,000	 –	 70,000
	 Payments on other debt	 (18)	 (43)	 (2,008)
	 Debt issuance costs	 (658)	 –	 –
	 Changes in stock held by employee benefit trusts, net	 111	 (8,895)	 76
	 Repurchase of common stock	 (427,248)	 (125,592)	 –
	 Redemption of common stock	 (440)	 (1)	 (151)
	T ax benefit of stock options exercised	 3,176	 –	 –
	 Proceeds from exercise of stock options	 16,324	 18,238	 23,433

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities – continuing operations	 (123,753)	 (36,293)	 21,350

Effect of foreign currency exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents	 557	 (797)	 –
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents	 5,275	 19,760	 (21,833)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year	 21,337	 1,577	 23,410

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year	 $  26,612	 $  21,337	 $      1,577

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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1 Nature of Operations
ChoicePoint Inc. (NYSE: CPS), a Georgia corporation 
(“ChoicePoint,” “we,” “our,” “us” or “the Company”), is  
a leading provider of identification and credential verifi-
cation services for making smarter decisions in a world 
challenged by increased risks. The Company provides 
businesses, government agencies and non-profit organiza-
tions with technology, software, information and marketing 
services, all intended to help manage economic and physical 
risks, as well as identify business opportunities.
	O n July 10, 2006, the Company announced its intent 
to divest various businesses, including its forensic DNA 
(“Bode”) and shareholder services businesses (“EquiSearch”), 
as a result of a company-wide strategic review. Additionally, 
on September 29, 2006, the Company announced the sale 
of Priority Data Systems, a comparative rating software solu-
tions business, to the parent company of AMS Services. On 
October 24, 2006, the Company announced its intent to sell 
additional non-strategic businesses, later disclosed to be part 
of its public records operations, specifically the businesses 
that collect bankruptcy, lien and judgment (“BLJ”) records 
and provide them on a wholesale, bulk basis. These busi-
nesses are presented as discontinued operations consistent 
with the Company’s decision to sell these businesses. Histori-
cal information in the following discussions and tables has 
been reclassified to conform to the current presentation. 
See Note 5 for additional discussion of these businesses. 
	T o reflect how the Company is operating under its new 
strategic focus, the Company revised the segments in which 
it reports its financial results. See further discussion in 
Note 14. ChoicePoint’s continuing operations are focused 
on five primary markets – Insurance Services, Screening 
and Authentication Services, Financial and Professional 
Services, Government Services and Marketing Services.
	T he Insurance Services group, ChoicePoint’s largest  
core business, provides data, analytics, software and business 
information services to property and casualty (“P&C”) 
personal and commercial insurance carriers. Our informa-
tion solutions help insurers effectively assess risks in the 
underwriting process to ensure that their customers receive 
appropriate policy pricing. In personal lines, our C.L.U.E.® 
(Comprehensive Loss Underwriting Exchange) database 
is the industry’s most complete source of historical claims. 
Other tools include Current Carrier, which identifies the 
existence of current or previous insurance, as well as any pos-
sible lapses in coverage. Our Insurity business unit provides 
software, data and analytics to P&C commercial and personal 
lines carriers to improve risk acceptance and loss mitigation. 
Insurity offers policy administration, claims administration, 
compliance management, regulatory reporting, reinsurance, 

billing, business processing and maintenance service to 
carriers, brokers, agents and third party administrators. 
	T he Screening and Authentication Services group 
focuses on employment screenings, tenant screening, vital 
records and customer enrollment businesses. WorkPlace 
Solutions background screening products include instant 
on-line solutions, as well as comprehensive employment 
and background checks, drug testing, and tenant screening. 
Many customers utilize ChoicePoint’s National Criminal 
File, a comprehensive database of criminal files that includes 
criminal conviction records across all 50 states. Formed in 
2006, this segment now offers vendor screening, a one-stop 
solution that helps organizations manage risk and compli-
ance requirements with third-party vendors. Other busi-
nesses in this segment include VitalChek, an on-line service 
that enables consumers to order vital records, such as birth 
certificates, marriage licenses and death certificates over the 
Internet or telephone using credit cards, a service otherwise 
not available through most government agencies.
	T he Financial and Professional Services group provides 
public information solutions primarily to retail and com-
mercial banking, mortgage lending, and legal industries. 
Services to these areas help companies with risk manage-
ment, enhanced due diligence, verification and business 
credentialing. These services allow companies to better 
mitigate financial and reputational risk and improve their 
processes and productivity.
	T he Government Services group provides informa-
tion, analytics, mapping and distribution solutions that 
support the missions of federal, state and local govern-
ment and international law enforcement agencies. By 
combining these proven solutions, Government Services 
is uniquely capable of overcoming information sharing 
issues that can threaten public safety. Products include a 
visual platform for geospatial mapping, and the leading 
global visual investigative analysis software. 
	T he Marketing Services group is a leading provider of 
direct marketing and database solutions to the insurance 
and financial services industries. These solutions help 
businesses acquire and grow customer relationships through 
the integration of data, data management, analytics and 
marketing technologies.

2 Basis of Presentation
ChoicePoint Inc. was established through the combination 
of the businesses that comprised the Insurance Services Group 
of Equifax Inc. (“Equifax”) within a separate company and 
the subsequent spinoff on August 8, 1997 (the “Spinoff”) 
of the Company’s outstanding stock by Equifax as a stock 
dividend to the shareholders of Equifax.
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	T he consolidated financial statements include the 
accounts of ChoicePoint and its subsidiaries. All material 
transactions and balances between entities included in the 
consolidated financial statements have been eliminated.

3 Significant Accounting Policies
Use of Estimates – The preparation of financial statements 
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted 
in the United States (“GAAP”) requires management to 
make estimates and assumptions. These estimates and 
assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities 
at the date of the financial statements as well as reported 
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting 
period. In 2006, such estimates and assumptions include 
those used to determine the amounts recognized as impair-
ment charges included in other operating charges and 
discontinued operations. See Notes 5 and 12 for additional 
discussion of these charges. Actual results could differ from 
these estimates.

Foreign Currency Translation – The net assets of the 
Company’s foreign operations, which are located primarily 
in the United Kingdom, are translated into U.S. dollars 
using current exchange rates and the results of operations 
of the Company’s foreign operations are translated into 
U.S. dollars using average exchange rates during the period. 
The resulting translation adjustment, as well as exchange 
gains and losses on intercompany balances of a long-term 
investment nature, are included in the cumulative foreign 
currency translation adjustment (“CTA”) in accumulated 
other comprehensive income (loss), net. The functional 
currency of the Company’s foreign operations is the local 
currency of those operations.

Revenue – ChoicePoint recognizes revenue when it is 
realized or realizable and earned. The Company consid-
ers revenue realized or realizable and earned when it has 
persuasive evidence that an agreement exists, prices are 
fixed or determinable, services and products are provided 
to the customer, and collectibility is reasonably assured. 
The Company reduces revenue for estimated volume 
discounts and other allowances. The Company also 
records deferred revenue primarily related to payments 
received in advance of revenue being earned under software 
licensing, maintenance and support and other contractual 
agreements. Deferred revenue included in other current 
liabilities totaled $45.5 million as of December 31, 2006 
and $44.0 million as of December 31, 2005. In addition 

to the general policy discussed above, the following are the 
specific revenue recognition policies for our major business 
lines and for multiple-element arrangements:

Information Services – Revenue for the P&C personal 
lines, public filing searches, employment background 
screening and drug testing, vital records and other services 
in the Screening and Authentication Services and the 
Financial and Professional Services segments is generally 
earned on a transactional basis and recognized as the ser-
vices are delivered. Revenue from non-transaction-based 
arrangements such as subscription licenses and fixed fee 
arrangements is recognized over the period in which the 
customer is using the service. Provisions for bad debts 
and volume discounts are recognized during the period in 
which they are estimable and applicable, respectively.

Marketing Services – Revenues in our teleservices, print 
and data fulfillment services are recognized when projects 
are completed and delivered (typically within one month) 
in accordance with contractual terms. Certain database 
management services in our Marketing Services segment 
represent hosting arrangements. The contracts for these ser-
vices are in essence a periodic service agreement to provide 
database services to a specific customer. The revenues and 
certain up-front costs related to these hosting arrangements 
are recognized ratably over the term of the agreement in 
accordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin 104, “Revenue 
Recognition in Financial Statements,” and Emerging 
Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 00-3, “Application 
of AICPA Statement of Position 97-2 to Arrangements 
That Include the Right to Use Software Stored on Another 
Entity’s Hardware.”

Software Services – Certain software revenues are generated 
primarily by transactions that include multiple-element 
arrangements encompassing licensing software systems 
(consisting of software and maintenance support) and 
providing professional services. ChoicePoint allocates 
revenue to each element of a transaction based upon 
its fair value as determined by vendor specific objective 
evidence (“VSOE”). VSOE of fair value for all elements 
of an arrangement is based upon the normal pricing and 
discounting practices for those products and services when 
sold separately and, for maintenance and support services, 
is additionally measured by the renewal rate offered 
to the customer. The Company defers revenue for any 
undelivered elements, and recognizes revenue when the 
product is delivered or over the period in which the service 
is performed, in accordance with its revenue recognition 
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policy for such elements. If the fair value of any undeliv-
ered element included in bundled software and service 
arrangements cannot be objectively determined, revenue 
is deferred until all elements are delivered and services 
have been performed, or until fair value can objectively 
be determined for any remaining undelivered elements. 
When the fair value of a delivered element has not been 
established, the residual method is used to record revenue 
if the fair value of all undelivered elements is determinable. 
Under the residual method, the fair value of the undeliv-
ered elements is deferred and the remaining portion of the 
arrangement fee is allocated to the delivered elements and 
is recognized as revenue. 
	I n some instances, perpetual software license arrange-
ments require significant customization. These arrangements 
are accounted for under the percentage of completion method 
based on estimates of the extent of progress toward comple-
tion. The Company estimates the percentage of completion 
on contracts on a monthly basis utilizing estimated remaining 
hours to complete as a percentage of total estimated hours to 
complete the project. Changes in estimates to complete and 
revisions in overall profit estimates are recognized in the 
period in which they are determined.

Government Contracts – Certain of the Company’s 
government contracts may have cancellation or pricing 
provisions or renewal clauses that are required by law, such 
as those dependent upon fiscal funding outside of a govern-
mental unit’s control, so that the contract can be cancelled 
if deemed in the taxpayer’s best interest and the contract 
may be subject to limitations under statutes. ChoicePoint 
considers multiple factors, including the history with the 
customer in similar transactions, the “essential use” of the 
service and the planning, budgeting and approval processes 
undertaken by the governmental entity. If the Company 
determines that the likelihood of non-acceptance in these 
arrangements is remote, revenue is recognized once all of the 
criteria described above have been met. If such a determi-
nation cannot be made, revenue is recognized upon the 
earlier of cash receipt or approval of the applicable funding 
provision by the governmental entity.

Pass-Through Expense – The Company records certain 
revenue on a net basis since it has in essence “earned a 
commission or fee” for arranging the delivery of a service 
ordered by a customer from a specified vendor and is not 
the primary obligor under the provisions of EITF Issue 
No. 99-19, “Reporting Revenue Gross as a Principal versus 
Net as an Agent.” Motor vehicle records registry revenue 
(the fee charged by states for motor vehicle records) and 

other fixed costs that are passed on by ChoicePoint to its 
customers (“pass-through expense”) are excluded from 
revenue and recorded as a reduction to cost of revenue in 
the Consolidated Financial Statements. The incidental fee 
charged by ChoicePoint to provide this delivery service is 
reported as revenue. For the twelve months ended Decem-
ber 31, pass-through expense was $800.4 million in 2006, 
$733.2 million in 2005 and $644.7 million in 2004.

Reimbursable Expenses – In accordance with EITF 
Issue No. 01-14, “Income Statement Characterization of 
Reimbursements Received for ‘Out-of-Pocket’ Expenses 
Incurred”(“EITF 01-14”), the Company presents certain 
reimbursed out-of-pocket expenses on a gross basis as 
revenues and expenses. The application of EITF 01-14 has 
no impact on operating income, net income or earnings 
per share. Reimbursed materials, shipping and postage 
charges in the Company’s Marketing Services segment 
for the year ended December 31 totaled $22.9 million in 
2006, $28.1 million in 2005 and $34.3 million in 2004 
and have been presented as revenues and expenses in the 
corresponding Consolidated Statements of Income.

Other – During 2004, the Company sold its minority 
investment in a small document management technology 
company that it invested in several years ago and recorded 
a pre-tax gain of approximately $4.0 million related to the 
sale. This gain was substantially offset by an increase in liti-
gation expense accruals on an outstanding legal action and 
costs related to the closure of certain operating facilities.

Other Current Assets – Other current assets at Decem-
ber 31, 2006 and 2005 consisted of the following:

(In thousands)		  2006	 2005

Prepaid expenses		  $27,792	 $26,829
Receivable from insurance carrier 
	 on FTC Settlement		  –	 11,000 
Other receivable from insurance carrier		  –	 4,000 
Other			   8,746	 5,783

						      $36,538	  $47,612

Property and Equipment – Property and equipment at 
December 31, 2006 and 2005 consisted of the following:

(In thousands)		  2006	 2005

Land, buildings, and improvements		  $     27,570	 $    27,106
Data processing equipment 
	 and furniture	  	 179,941	  178,234
Less accumulated depreciation		  (139,344)	 (131,822)

						      $     68,167	  $    73,518
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	T he cost of property and equipment is depreciated 
primarily on the straight-line basis over estimated asset 
lives of 40 years for buildings; 15 years for land improve-
ments; useful lives, not to exceed lease terms, for leasehold 
improvements; three to five years for data processing 
equipment and eight years for furniture. 
	 For the year ended December 31, 2006, approxi-
mately $2.4 million of property and equipment related to 
our Financial and Professional Services segment was writ-
ten down to fair value and recognized as other operating 
charges (Note 12).

Goodwill – The Company accounts for acquisitions 
using the purchase method of accounting. As a result, 
goodwill and other acquisition intangibles are recorded 
at the time of purchase based on internal evaluations 

that are subject to change based on the final resolutions 
of acquired asset valuations. The Company completed 
its annual goodwill impairment tests as required under 
SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” 
as of October 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004. In connection 
with the Company’s decision to divest various businesses, 
additional impairment tests were performed in accordance 
with SFAS No. 142. Impairment charges of $99.4 million 
were recorded in continuing operations during the year 
ended December 31, 2006 as a result of these tests. 
Additionally, impairment charges of $67.5 million were 
recorded in discontinued operations during 2006. See 
Note 5 for additional information on the discontinued 
operations charges. No impairment charges were recorded 
as a result of these tests during the years ended December 31, 
2005 or 2004.

	 A summary of the change in goodwill during the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, by business segment, is as follows:

					     Goodwill at	 Acquisitions	T ransfer to Assets	O ther	 Goodwill at
(In thousands)	 December 31, 2005	 and Adjustments	H eld for Sale	 Charges	 December 31, 2006

Insurance Services	 $  83,145	  $26,779	 $        –	  $   (22,743)(a) 	  $    87,181
Screening and Authentication
	 Services	 301,338	 12,096	 –	 –	 313,434
Financial and Professional 
	 Services	 177,279	 (63)	  (35,202)	 –	 142,014
Government Services 	 157,076	   (53)	  (9,084) 	  8,273(b)	 156,212
Marketing Services	  199,020	   2	 –	  (99,400)(c)	  99,622

	T otal		 $917,858	  $38,761	 $(44,286)(d)	  $(113,870)	 $ 798,463

(a) Goodwill disposed of in connection with the sale of Priority Data discussed in Note 5.

(b) Effect of foreign currency translation on goodwill.

(c) Impairment charge discussed in Note 12 and above. 

(d) Approximately $38.3 million of this amount was subsequently written off as part of the Company’s $67.5 million charge included in discontinued operations discussed in Note 5.

							       Goodwill at	 Acquisitions	 Goodwill at 
(In thousands)			   December 31, 2004	 and Adjustments 	 December 31, 2005

Insurance Services			   $    74,822	 $  8,323 	 $  83,145
Screening and Authentication Services			   301,065	 273	 301,338
Financial and Professional Services			   177,507	 (228) 	 177,279
Government Services			   80,605	 76,471	 157,076
Marketing Services			   190,905	 8,115	 199,020

Total					    $824,904	 $92,954	 $917,858

Other Acquisition Intangible Assets – Other acquisition 
intangibles, excluding trademarks/trade names, are being 
amortized on a straight-line basis over three to twenty 
years for customer relationships, three to twenty years for 
purchased data files, three to five years for software, four 
to seven years for non-compete agreements and three 
to eleven years for other intangible assets. Amortization 

expense was $19.5 million for 2006, $18.8 million for 
2005 and $12.6 million for 2004. Estimated amortization 
expense for the next five years is $16.7 million for 2007, 
$13.8 million for 2008, $10.5 million for 2009, $6.1 million 
for 2010 and $3.6 million for 2011. Other Acquisition 
Intangible Assets at December 31, 2006 and 2005 consisted 
of the following:
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						      2006			   2005
						      Accumulated			   Accumulated
(In thousands)	 Gross	 Amortization	 Net	 Gross	 Amortization	N et

Customer relationships	 $    54,571	 $(32,124)	 $22,447	 $  56,782	 $(24,809)	 $  31,973
Purchased data files	 16,320	 (3,995)	 12,325	 35,499	 (6,250)	 29,249
Software	 47,103	 (22,513)	 24,590	 31,188	 (15,581)	 15,607
Non-compete agreements	 14,207	 (8,481)	 5,726	 15,007	 (6,691)	 8,316
Trademarks/trade names	 16,076	 – 	 16,076	 15,531	 – 	 15,531
Other intangible assets	 9,713	 (8,947)	 766	 10,913	 (9,306)	 1,607

Total			  $157,990	 $(76,060)	 $81,930	 $164,920	 $(62,637)	 $102,283

Other Assets, Net – Other assets, net at December 31, 2006 
and 2005 consisted of the following:

(In thousands)		  2006	 2005

Software and databases developed 
	 for internal use, net		  $42,486	 $67,089
Purchased software, net		  20,425	 21,807
Other			   8,542	 8,183

						      $71,453	 $97,079

	 For the years ended December 31, costs of software 
and databases developed for internal use of approximately 
$18.8 million in 2006, $28.6 million in 2005, and $25.6 mil- 
lion in 2004 were capitalized and are included in Software  
and databases developed for internal use, net. The amounts 
capitalized include certain direct costs, including indepen- 
dent contractor and payroll costs in accordance with 
Statement of Position (“SOP”) 98-1, “Accounting for 
the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained 
for Internal Use.” Other assets are being amortized on 
a straight-line basis primarily over three to five years. 
Accumulated amortization was $99.7 million as of Decem- 
ber 31, 2006 and $96.8 million as of December 31, 2005.
	T he Company regularly evaluates whether events and 
circumstances have occurred that indicate the carrying 
amount of other long-lived assets may warrant revision or 
may not be recoverable. When factors indicate that other 
assets should be evaluated for possible impairment, the 
Company uses an estimate of the future undiscounted net 
cash flows of the related business over the remaining life 
of the other assets in measuring whether those assets are 
recoverable. If the carrying amount exceeds undiscounted 
cash flows, an impairment loss would be recognized for the 
difference between the carrying amount and its estimated 
fair value on a discounted cash flow methodology. For the 
year ended December 31, 2006, approximately $8.2 million 
of other long-lived assets in our Financial and Professional 
Services segment were written down to fair value and recog-
nized as other operating charges (Note 12).

Other Current Liabilities – Other current liabilities at 
December 31, 2006 and 2005 consisted of the following:

(In thousands)		  2006	 2005

Unearned income and deferred revenue		  $  45,459	  $    43,980
FTC settlement accrual and related costs		 429	 19,000 
Acquisition earnout settlement accrual		  –	 7,500
Other			   68,919	 64,937

						      $114,807	 $135,417

	 See Note 11 for discussion of the Federal Trade Commis-
sion (“FTC”) settlement accrual and related costs. See Note 4 
for discussion of acquisition earnout settlement accrual. 

Depreciation and Amortization Expense – Depreciation 
and amortization expense from continuing operations for 
2006, 2005 and 2004 consisted of the following:

(In thousands)
Year Ended December 31,	 2006	 2005	 2004

Property and equipment	 $28,406	 $25,993	 $20,619
Other acquisition intangibles	 19,516	 18,801	 12,563
Software and databases 
	 developed for internal use	 17,800	 13,856	 14,130
Purchased software	 12,100	 10,652	 7,343
Other assets	 302	 292	 2,076

Total			  $78,124	 $69,594	 $56,731

Comprehensive Income – Comprehensive income and its 
components are presented in the Consolidated Statements 
of Shareholders’ Equity. Accumulated other comprehensive 
(loss) consisted of the following at December 31:

(In thousands)		  2006	 2005

Cumulative foreign currency 
	 translation adjustment		  $    927	 $(9,863)
Cash flow hedges		  212	 (1)
Other			   79	 80 

						      1,218	 (9,784)

Adoption of SFAS No. 158		  3,383	 –

Total				   $4,601	 $(9,784)



48  ChoicePoint 2006 Annual Report  

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

C h o i c e P o i n t  2 0 0 6  A n n u a l  R e p o r t

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows – The Company 
considers short-term cash investments with original maturi-
ties of three months or less to be cash equivalents.
	T he tax payments made by ChoicePoint were 
approximately $75.2 million in 2006 ($74.1 million net 
of refunds, $52.9 million in 2005 ($51.9 million net of 
refunds), and $36.7 million in 2004 ($32.4 million net 
of refunds). Interest paid on debt totaled $15.6 million in 
2006, $4.4 million in 2005 and $2.9 million in 2004.
	I n 2006, 2005 and 2004, the Company acquired 
various businesses that were accounted for as purchases and 
made an equity investment (Note 4). In conjunction with 
these transactions, liabilities were assumed as follows:

(In thousands)
Year Ended December 31,	 2006	 2005	 2004

Fair value of assets acquired	 $  58,575	 $   166,310	 $  274,034
Less cash paid for 
	 acquisitions and investment	  (51,952)	 (138,675)	 (242,219)

Liabilities assumed	 $    6,623	 $     27,635	 $    31,815

Financial Instruments and Derivatives – The Company’s 
financial instruments recorded on the balance sheet consist 
primarily of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, 
accounts payable and debt. The carrying amounts approxi-
mate their fair values because of the short maturity of these 
instruments or, in the case of debt, because it bears interest at 
current market rates.
	T he Company’s derivative financial instruments are 
accounted for under the provisions of SFAS No. 133, 
“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging 
Activities,” as amended by SFAS No. 138. Such derivatives 
at December 31, 2006 and 2005 consist of interest rate 
swap agreements (Note 6) entered into to limit the effect 
of changes in LIBOR (a benchmark interest rate) on the 
Company’s LIBOR-based payments, including the syn-
thetic leases. Amounts currently due to or from interest rate 
swap counterparties are recorded in expense in the period in 
which they accrue. The Company measures all derivatives at 
fair value and recognizes them in the Consolidated Balance 
Sheet as an asset or liability, depending on ChoicePoint’s 
rights or obligations under the applicable derivative con-
tract. ChoicePoint’s only derivative instruments are swap 
agreements which have been designated as cash flow hedges 
to hedge the variability in expected future interest payments 
on a portion of the Company’s LIBOR-based payments 
and, as such, the effective portions of changes in fair value 
are reported in cumulative other comprehensive income and 
are subsequently reclassified into earnings when the hedged 
item affects earnings. The Company formally documents  
all relationships between hedging instruments and hedged 

items, as well as its risk management objectives and strategies 
for undertaking various hedge transactions. The Company 
assesses, on an ongoing basis, whether the derivatives that are 
used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting 
changes in fair value or cash flows of hedged items. Should 
it be determined that a derivative is not highly effective as 
a hedge, the Company will discontinue hedge accounting 
treatment. The Company does not enter into derivative 
financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes. 
The fair value of the interest rate swap agreements was an 
asset of approximately $0.4 million as of December 31, 
2006 and an immaterial liability at December 31, 2005, 
which has been recorded net of taxes in accumulated other 
comprehensive income in the Consolidated Financial State-
ments. There was no impact on earnings related to swap 
agreements in 2004, 2005 or 2006.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts – Management 
judgments and estimates are made in connection with 
establishing the allowance for doubtful accounts. Specifi-
cally, we analyze the aging of accounts receivable balances, 
historical bad debts, customer credit worthiness, industry, 
and changes in current economic trends. Significant changes 
in customer concentration, deterioration of customer credit 
worthiness, or weakening in economic trends could have a 
significant impact on the collectibility of receivables and our 
operating results. Generally, we do not require collateral or 
other security to support receivables.

New Accounting Pronouncements – The Company 
adopted SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Pay-
ment” (“SFAS 123(R)”) beginning January 1, 2006 using 
the modified prospective transition method. Under this 
transition method, compensation cost was recognized after 
adoption for all share-based payments granted prior to, but 
not yet vested as of January 1, 2006, and all share-based 
payments granted subsequent to January 1, 2006. As a 
result of adopting SFAS 123(R), the Company’s income 
before income taxes and net income (loss) for the year ended 
December 31, 2006, were $15.4 million and $12.3 million 
lower, respectively, than if the Company had continued to 
account for share-based compensation under Accounting  
Principles Board Opinion No. 25. SFAS 123(R) also requires  
that the benefits of tax deductions in excess of recognized 
compensation cost be reported as a financing cash flow, rather 
than as an operating cash flow as required under prior guid-
ance. This requirement reduced net operating cash flows in 
the amount of $3.2 million for the year ended December 31,  
2006. See Note 8 for additional information on the adoption 
of SFAS 123(R).
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	I n September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158, 
“Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and 
Other Postretirement Plans, an amendment of FASB State-
ments No. 87, 88, 106 and 132(R)” (“SFAS 158”), which 
requires recognition in the Statements of Financial Position of 
the over- or under-funded status of defined pension and other 
postretirement plans, measured as the difference between the 
fair value of plan assets and the accumulated benefit obligation 
for other postretirement benefit plans (such as the ChoicePoint 
plan), with a corresponding adjustment to accumulated other 
comprehensive income, net of tax. The Company adopted 
the recognition and disclosure provisions of SFAS 158 as of 
December 31, 2006. The adjustment to accumulated other 
comprehensive income at adoption of $5.5 million ($3.4 mil-
lion net of tax) represents the net unrecognized actuarial gains 
and unrecognized prior service credit. There was no impact on 
results of operations or cash flows. In addition, SFAS 158 did 
not have an effect on the Company’s consolidated financial 
condition at December 31, 2005 or 2004. See Note 10 for 
additional information on the adoption of SFAS 158.
	I n September 2006, the Securities and Exchange 
Commission (“SEC”) issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 
108, “Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements 
when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial 
Statements” (“SAB 108”). SAB 108 provides interpretive 
guidance on how the effects of the carryover or reversal of 
prior year misstatements should be considered in quantify-
ing a current year misstatement. The SEC staff believes that 
registrants should quantify errors using both the balance sheet 
and income statement approach when quantifying a misstate-
ment. The guidance provides for a one-time cumulative effect 
adjustment to correct for misstatements for errors that were 
not deemed material under a company’s prior approach but 
are material under the SAB 108 approach. SAB 108 is effec-
tive for the Company’s fiscal year ending December 31, 2006. 
The adoption of SAB 108 did not have a material impact on 
the results of operations or financial position.
	I n July 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 
48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes” (“FIN 48”). 
The interpretation clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in 
income taxes recognized in a company’s financial statements 
in accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income 
Taxes.” Specifically, the pronouncement prescribes a recogni-
tion threshold and a measurement attribute for the financial 
statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken 
or expected to be taken in a tax return. The interpretation also 
provides guidance on the related derecognition, classification, 
interest and penalties, accounting for interim periods, disclosure 
and transition of uncertain tax positions. This interpretation will 
be effective for the Company on January 1, 2007. The Com-
pany is currently evaluating the impact this new standard will 
have on its future results of operations and financial position. 

	I n September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, 
“Fair Value Measurements” (“SFAS 157”), which defines fair  
value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in  
accordance with GAAP, and expands disclosures about fair  
value measurements. SFAS 157 applies where other account-
ing pronouncements require or permit fair value measurements; 
it does not require any new fair value measurements under 
GAAP.  SFAS 157 is effective for the Company on January 1, 
2007. The effects of adoption will be determined by the types 
of instruments carried at fair value in the Company’s financial 
statements at the time of adoption as well as the method uti-
lized to determine their fair values prior to adoption. Based on 
the Company’s current use of fair value measurements, SFAS 
157 is not expected to have a material effect on the results of 
operations or financial position of the Company. 

4 Acquisitions and Investment 
Acquisitions – During 2006, 2005 and 2004, the Company 
acquired either stock or assets of the following businesses:

Business	 Date Acquired	 Segment

Steel Card, LLC	 July 2006	I nsurance Services
Insuratec, Inc.	 July 2006	I nsurance Services
USCerts	 June 2006	 Screening and 
						      Authentication Services
ePolicy, Inc.	 June 2006	I nsurance Services
ShortStop, LLC	 February 2006	 Screening and 
						       Authentication Services
ELIOS, Inc.	 January 2006	I nsurance Services
EzGov, Inc.	 May 2005	  Government Services

Magnify, Inc.	 April 2005	 Insurance Services
i2 Limited	  January 2005	 Government Services
USAHire, LLC	 December 2004	 Screening and 
						      Authentication Services
Priority Data  
	 Systems, Inc.	 December 2004	I nsurance Services
InsurQuote, Inc.	O ctober 2004	I nsurance Services
AIG Technologies, Inc.	 August 2004	I nsurance Services
Investigation  
	T echnologies, LLC  
	 d/b/a Rapsheets	  May 2004	 Screening and 
						      Authentication Services
Service Abstract Corp.	 April 2004	 Financial and 
						      Professional Services
ADREM Profiles, Inc.,  
	 Government Business  
	 Services, LLC and  
	 Advance Information 		  Screening and 
	 Resources Corporation	 April 2004	 Authentication Services
Charles Jones, LLC and  
	 Superior Information  
	 Services, LLC	 April 2004	 Financial and 
						      Professional Services

iMapData.com, Inc. 	 February 2004	 Government Services

Templar Corporation	 February 2004	 Government Services
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	T he acquisitions above were accounted for as purchases, 
and the results of operations from these acquisitions are 
included in ChoicePoint’s consolidated results from the 
date acquired. 
	I n 2006, the Company acquired either the stock or 
assets of the following companies: ELIOS, Inc., located in 
San Ramon, California, a loss payee notification company 
for the property and casualty insurance industry; ShortStop, 
LLC, which maintains a network of drug and health testing 
clinics; USCerts, located in Memphis, Tennessee, which 
provides technology and data management services to 
facilitate the remote ordering of vital records; ePolicy, Inc., 
which provides a comprehensive set of administration 
solutions for commercial insurance carriers; Insuratec, Inc., 
located in Danville, California, a provider of lien holder 
and mortgagee notification services to the property and 
casualty insurance industry; and Steel Card, LLC, based 
in California, a provider of browser-based personal lines 
software that provides rating, underwriting, product con-
figuration, rules management and policy administration for 
carriers. These acquisitions extend ChoicePoint’s current 
product and service offerings in Insurance Services and 
Screening and Authentication Services segments. The total 
purchase price of the acquisitions, which were accounted 
for using the purchase method of accounting, was cash paid 
of approximately $52.0 million. Goodwill of $26.8 mil-
lion was allocated to the Insurance Services segment and 
$12.1 million to the Screening and Authentication Services 
segment, of which approximately $30.8 million is fully 
deductible for tax purposes, and $16.1 million to other 
acquisition intangible assets as follows:

						      Weighted Average
(In thousands)	 Amount	 Amortization Period

Customer relationships	  $  1,949	 5 years
Software	 13,873	 5 years
Noncompete agreements	 300	 7 years

Total	 		  $16,122

	O n January 4, 2005, the Company acquired the 
stock of i2 Limited (“i2”), which is based in Cambridge, 
United Kingdom. i2 is a provider of visualization and 
link analysis software for intelligence, law enforcement, 
military and large commercial applications. The acquisition 
enhanced ChoicePoint’s analytics and distribution offerings 
and government market presence and is reported in our 
Government Services segment. 
	T he net purchase price was approximately $96 million 
($108 million paid in cash at acquisition, $3 million paid 
related to earnout provisions discussed below, net of $15 mil-
lion of cash included in i2’s opening balance sheet), which 

the Company financed with $100 million of borrowings 
under its unsecured revolving credit facility (see Note 6). 
The purchase of i2 included earnout provisions that were 
fully settled in 2005, and the Company recorded additional 
purchase price of $3 million during 2005 related to these 
provisions. The following table summarizes the fair values 
of assets acquired and liabilities assumed (in thousands):

Current assets			   $    13,459
Property and equipment, net			   2,376
Goodwill			   78,245
Other acquisition intangible assets			   24,900
Other assets			   216

	T otal assets acquired			   119,196

Current liabilities			   (15,144)
Other long-term liabilities			   (590)
Long-term deferred tax liability			   (7,470)

	T otal liabilities assumed			   (23,204)

	N et assets acquired			   $    95,992

	T he results of operations from the date of acquisition 
for i2 are included in the Consolidated Statements of Income. 
Goodwill of $78.2 million was allocated to Government 
Services, none of which is deductible for tax purposes. Of the 
$24.9 million of acquired intangible assets, $16.5 million 
was assigned to software that has a useful life of 5 years, 
$4.4 million was assigned to trademark/trade name that has 
an indefinite life, and $4.0 million was assigned to customer 
relationships that have a useful life of 20 years.
	 Also in 2005, the Company acquired Magnify, Inc., 
a Chicago-based leading provider of fraud prediction 
software solutions to the property and casualty insurance 
carrier markets, and the Americas and Caribbean opera-
tions of EzGov, Inc., an Atlanta-based software and ser-
vices company that enables the automation of government 
processes. These acquisitions extend ChoicePoint’s current 
product and services offerings in Insurance Services and 
Government Services. The total purchase price of the 
acquisitions, which were accounted for using the purchase 
method of accounting, was approximately $13.3 million 
in cash. Goodwill of $9.9 million was recorded, of which 
$4.5 million is expected to be fully deductible for tax pur-
poses, and $3.3 million was allocated to other intangible 
assets as follows: 

						      Weighted Average
(In thousands)	 Amount	 Amortization Period

Software	 $2,296	 5 years
Trademark/trade name	 1,000	 indefinite life asset

Total			   $3,296
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	I n 2004, the Company acquired either the stock or 
assets of the following companies: the Templar Corporation, 
a provider of advanced and secure information technology 
solutions, based in Alexandria, Virginia; iMapData.com, Inc., 
an information and analytics company with powerful data 
visualization capabilities, based in McLean, Virginia; Superior 
Information Services, LLC, located in Trenton, New Jersey, 
and Service Abstract Corp., located in Nanuet, New York, 
both of which are providers of public filings information 
including liens and judgments in the Northeast U.S.; Charles 
Jones, LLC, a leading supplier of New Jersey title and property 
lien searches, located in Trenton, New Jersey; ADREM Pro-
files, Inc., Government Business Services, LLC and Advance 
Information Resources Corporation, pre-employment screen-
ing services companies, located in Tampa, Florida; Investiga-
tion Technologies, LLC, d/b/a Rapsheets, an electronic 
criminal records provider, located in Memphis, Tennessee; 
AIG Technologies, Inc., a software and software maintenance 
provider, located in Livingston, New Jersey; InsurQuote, 
Inc., a leading provider of insurance rating solutions to the 
property and casualty carrier markets, located in Orem, Utah; 
Priority Data Systems, Inc, a provider of comparative rating 
software solutions to the independent insurance agency 
market, located in Omaha, Nebraska; and USAHire, LLC, an 
applicant screening software provider, located in Charlotte, 
North Carolina. These acquisitions extend ChoicePoint’s 
current product and service offerings in Insurance Services, 
Financial and Professional Services, Screening and Authenti-
cation Services and Government Services. 
	 2004 acquisitions had an aggregate purchase price of 
$242.2 million that was paid in cash, $179.7 million was 
allocated to goodwill, of which approximately $82.4 mil-
lion is fully deductible for tax purposes, and $58.8 million 
to other acquisition intangible assets as follows:

						      Weighted Average
(In thousands)	 Amount	 Amortization Period

Purchased data files	 $33,390	 13 years
Customer relationships	  8,448	 5 years
Software	 2,750	 3 years
Technology	 2,225	 2 years
Trademark/trade name	 7,100	 indefinite life asset
Noncompete agreements	 4,916	 6 years

Total	 		  $58,829

	T he allocation of purchase price to the assets and 
liabilities of certain acquisitions is preliminary and subject 
to change based on the resolutions of pre-acquisition 
contingencies. The remaining accrual of $1.2 million as of 
December 31, 2006 for transaction costs related to the above 
acquisitions relates primarily to future payments under lease 
terminations, related office closure expenses and legal fees. 

	O ne of these acquisitions is subject to a contingent 
payment agreement based on revenue and operating profit 
goals. The Company will record goodwill related to these 
contingent payment agreements if goals are met and pay-
ments are reasonably estimable and probable. In January 
of 2006, $7.5 million was paid by the Company related to 
the settlement of an earnout provision for a prior acquisi-
tion. This amount was recorded as additional purchase 
price in the fourth quarter of 2005.
	T he pro forma effect of 2006, 2005 and 2004 pur-
chased acquisitions is not material individually or in the 
aggregate to the consolidated financial statements.

Investment – In the third quarter of 2005, the Company 
made a $10.0 million equity investment in XDimensional 
Technologies, Inc., a leading provider of a comprehensive 
agency management Internet service for the insurance industry.

5 Discontinued Operations
As discussed in Note 1, ChoicePoint announced its intent  
to divest the Bode Labs, EquiSearch and BLJ businesses  
during 2006. These businesses slated for divestiture are  
reported as discontinued operations – removing Bode  
from the Government Services segment and EquiSearch  
and BLJ from the Financial & Professional Services segment. 
Additionally, in September 2006, the Company sold its 
Priority Data Systems business, a comparative rating soft-
ware solutions business in the Insurance Services segment, 
to the parent company of AMS Services. Consequently, 
the results of these discontinued operations are reflected 
in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Income as 
discontinued operations. The results of these discontinued 
operations in prior years have been reclassified to conform 
to the 2006 classification. The following amounts have been 
segregated from continuing operations and are reflected as 
discontinued operations for the years ended December 31, 
2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively:

(In thousands)
Year Ended December 31,	 2006	 2005	 2004

Total revenue	 $ 38,183	 $44,156	 $37,175
Income (loss) from  
	 discontinued operations  
	 before income taxes	 (74,791)	 1,803	 6,693
Income tax (provision) benefit	 22,938	 (671)	 (2,547)

Income (loss) from  
	 discontinued operations,  
	 net of tax	 $(51,853)	 $  1,132	 $  4,146
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	 During 2006, the Company recorded a non-cash 
charge of $67.5 million ($47.2 million after tax benefit) 
in discontinued operations to reduce the carrying value 
of goodwill and other assets related to these businesses in 
order to reflect the estimated net proceeds to be realized 
from selling these three businesses based on indicative bids 
received to date. Of this amount, $47.0 million related to 
the BLJ businesses, $10.6 million related to the Bode busi-
ness and $9.9 million related to the EquiSearch business. 
Actual proceeds may vary from the estimated net proceeds. 
In addition, included in the loss from discontinued opera-
tions in 2006 is a $5.0 million ($3.1 million net of tax 
benefit) loss on the sale of Priority Data. 
	 At December 31, 2006, the Company has classified 
certain assets and liabilities associated with the discontinued 
operations as assets of businesses held for sale and liabilities 
of businesses held for sale in the Consolidated Balance 
Sheets in accordance with the guidance in SFAS 144. The 
following table details the components of the assets and 
liabilities of businesses held for sale at December 31, 2006 
(in thousands):

Accounts receivable, net of allowance 
	 for doubtful accounts of $506	  		  $8,890
Other current assets			   2,402
Property and equipment, net			   2,370
Goodwill			   6,033
Other acquisition intangible assets, net			   2,615
Other assets, net			   9,203

	T otal assets of businesses held for sale			   31,513

Accounts payable			   1,556
Other current liabilities			   1,675

	T otal liabilities of businesses held for sale		  3,231

Total net assets of businesses held for sale	 		  $ 28,282

Subsequent Events – On January 31, 2007 the Company 
sold its shareholder services business, EquiSearch. Completion 
of the divestiture did not have a material impact on the 
Company’s financial results. 
	O n February 9, 2007 the Company sold the BLJ 
businesses. In connection with the sale, ChoicePoint and 
the buyer also entered into a data access agreement that 
gives ChoicePoint the right to include BLJ information 
in its other products for a long-term period. Other than 
the previously discussed writedown of goodwill and other 
assets, completion of the divestiture did not have a material 
impact on the Company’s financial results. 

6 Debt and Other Financing
Long-term debt at December 31, 2006 and 2005 was  
as follows:

(In thousands)
December 31,		  2006	 2005

Credit Facility		  $   315,000	 $   80,000
Receivables Facility		  100,000	 50,000
Capital leases		  39	 57

						      415,039	 130,057
Less current maturities		  (100,011)	 (50,022)

						      $   315,028	 $   80,035

	O n October 25, 2006, ChoicePoint, through one of 
its wholly owned subsidiaries, entered into a $600 million 
unsecured credit facility (the “Credit Facility”) with a group 
of banks, which is expandable to $750 million, to refinance 
its existing facility, fund share repurchases and for general 
corporate purposes. At December 31, 2006, there was 
$315 million outstanding under the Credit Facility. The 
Credit Facility bears interest at either a base rate as defined 
in the Credit Facility or LIBOR plus an applicable margin. 
The applicable margins range from 0.28% to 0.60% per 
annum based on ChoicePoint’s funded debt to Earnings 
Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization 
(“EBITDA”) ratio. The average interest rate based on the 
terms of the Credit Facility was 5.8% at December 31, 
2006. Within the Credit Facility, the Company has 
a $50 million line of credit with a participating bank at 
either a base rate as defined in the Credit Facility or LIBOR 
plus an applicable margin. The Credit Facility, including 
the line of credit, expires on October 25, 2011. From 
December 29, 2004 to October 25, 2006, the Company 
had a $400 million unsecured multicurrency revolving 
credit facility (the “Former Credit Facility”) with a group 
of banks. At December 31, 2005, there was $80.0 million 
outstanding under the Former Credit Facility.
	T he Credit Facility contains covenants customary for 
facilities of this type. Such covenants include limitations, 
in certain circumstances, on the ability of the Company 
and its subsidiaries to (i) effect a change of control of the 
Company, (ii) incur certain types of liens, and (iii) transfer 
or sell assets. The Credit Facility also requires compliance 
with financial covenants, including (i) maximum funded 
debt to EBITDA and (ii) minimum interest coverage.
	I n 2001, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries 
entered into an agreement (the “Receivables Facility”) with 
a financial institution whereby it may sell on a continuous 
basis, an undivided interest in all eligible trade accounts 
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receivable subject to limitations. The Company will 
maintain the balance in the designated pool of accounts 
receivable sold by selling undivided interests in new 
receivables as existing receivables are collected. Prior to 
December 1, 2006, the Receivables Facility permitted 
the advance of up to $100 million on the sale of accounts 
receivable. On December 1, 2006, the Receivables Facility 
was amended to increase the available borrowing capacity 
to $125 million. Currently, the Receivables Facility is pay-
able in December 2007, but may be extended in one-year 
terms. Due to certain contractual removal-of-accounts 
provisions, the Receivables Facility has been recorded as an 
on-balance sheet financing transaction in accordance with 
SFAS No. 140, “Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of 
Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities.” The 
Company believes the Receivables Facility provides a low 
cost of financing and is an additional source of debt capital 
with diversification from other alternatives. Net proceeds 
from the Receivables Facility were $100.0 million at 
December 31, 2006, and $50.0 million at December 31, 
2005. The average interest rate based on the terms of the 
Receivables Facility was 5.6% at December 31, 2006.
	 During the second quarter of 2006, the Company 
entered into a $12.5 million synthetic lease agreement for a 
new property. Under this synthetic lease agreement, a third-
party lessor purchased the property in June 2006 and paid 
for the build-out of the property completed in December 
2006. The $12.5 million synthetic lease expires in 2012. On 
December 8, 2006, the Company entered into a $25.2 mil-
lion synthetic lease agreement for the headquarters building 
and a $46.2 million synthetic lease agreement for the data 
center facility. These agreements replaced the existing agree-
ments that were due to expire in 2007 and 2008. The new 
lease agreement expires in January 2012, at which time the 
Company has the following options for each lease: renew 
the lease for an additional five years, purchase the building 
for the original cost, or sell the property (remarket) itself. 
If the Company elects to remarket the property, it must 
guarantee the lessor 80% to 85% of the original cost.
	T he Company has accounted for the synthetic leases 
as operating leases and has recorded rent expense. If the 
Company had elected to purchase the properties instead of 
entering into the synthetic leases, total assets and debt would 
have increased by $83.5 million at December 31, 2006 and 
$71.0 million at December 31, 2005 and the Company would 
have recorded additional depreciation expense related to the 
synthetic leases of approximately $2.7 million ($1.7 million 
after tax) for 2006, $2.4 million ($1.5 million after tax) for 
2005, and $2.2 million ($1.4 million after tax) for 2004.

	 As of December 31, 2006, ChoicePoint had four 
interest rate swap agreements (the “Swap Agreements”) 
outstanding that reduce the impact of changes in the 
benchmark interest rate (LIBOR) on its LIBOR-based 
payments on the synthetic leases. One interest rate swap 
agreement has a notional amount of $25 million and 
matures in August 2007. The other three interest rate swap 
agreements have a total notional amount of $42 million, 
became effective May 2003 and mature in August 2007. 
These Swap Agreements involve the receipt of a variable 
rate and payment by ChoicePoint of fixed rates between 
4.0% and 6.5%. ChoicePoint has designated all of these 
swaps as cash flow hedges of the variability in expected 
future interest payments on $67 million of the Company’s 
LIBOR-based payments. The Company is exposed to 
credit loss in the event of nonperformance by the other 
parties to the Swap Agreements. However, the Company 
does not anticipate nonperformance by the counterparties.
	 At December 31, 2006, the Company had $300.0 
million of available capacity under the above facilities. 
Scheduled maturities of long-term debt subsequent to 
December 31, 2006 are as follows: $100.0 million in 2007 
and $315.0 million in 2011. 

7 Income Taxes
The Company records deferred income taxes using enacted 
tax laws and rates for the years in which the taxes are 
expected to be paid. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities 
are recorded based on the differences between the financial 
reporting and income tax bases of assets and liabilities. 
	T he provision (benefit) for income taxes from continu-
ing operations consists of the following:

(In thousands)
Year Ended December 31,	 2006	 2005	 2004

Current:
	 Federal	 $   68,574	 $66,584	 $51,608
	 State		 8,156	 8,779	 5,792
	 Foreign	 3,176	 –	 –

Total current	 79,906	 75,363	 57,400

Deferred:
	 Federal	 (31,415)	 12,332	 26,721
	 State		 (3,785)	 3,270	 4,207
	 Foreign	 (1,085)	 337	 –

Total deferred	 (36,285)	 15,939	 30,928

Total			  $   43,621	 $91,302	 $88,328
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	T he provision for income taxes from continuing 
operations is reconciled with the federal statutory rate, as 
follows:

Year Ended December 31,	 2006	 2005	 2004

Federal statutory rate	 35.0%	 35.0%	 35.0%
State and local taxes, 
	 net of federal tax benefit	 2.5	 3.4	 2.8
Non-deductible stock  
	 option expense	 2.1	 –	 –
Non-deductible penalties	 –	 1.5	 –
Other 		 (0.8)	 (0.3)	 0.2

Effective rate for 
	 continuing operations	 38.8%	 39.6%	 38.0%

	 ChoicePoint’s 2006 effective tax rate for continuing 
operations was 38.8%, a decrease from 39.6% in 2005. 
The higher overall effective rate in 2005 is primarily due 
to additional tax expense in connection with a settlement 
with the Federal Trade Commission (the “FTC”) (see 
Note 12), partially offset by a $700,000 benefit from a 
favorable outcome from the completion of a state tax audit 
during the second quarter of 2005. The additional tax 
expense associated with the FTC settlement in 2005 is a 
result of the non-deductibility of the $10.0 million civil 
penalty for federal income tax purposes.
	 Components of the Company’s deferred income tax  
assets and liabilities at December 31, 2006 and 2005 are  
as follows:

(In thousands)
December 31,		  2006	 2005

Deferred income tax assets:
	E mployee compensation programs		  $  18,971	 $   13,323
	 Postretirement benefits		  7,874	 10,477
	 Goodwill		   4,814	 –
	 Reserves and accrued expenses		  4,236	 2,789
	O ther		  5,795	 5,131

Total deferred income tax assets		  41,690	 31,720

Deferred income tax liabilities:
	 Purchased software, data files, 
		  technology, and other assets		  (17,363)	 (29,868)
	 Goodwill		  –	 (25,867)
	 Depreciation		  (12,588)	 (16,569)
	 Deferred expenses		  (4,581)	 (4,431)
	O ther		  (39)	 (325)

Total deferred income tax liabilities		  (34,571)	 (77,060)

Net deferred income tax assets (liabilities)	 $    7,119	 $(45,340)

	 A valuation allowance is provided when it is more 
likely than not that some portion or all of a deferred tax 
asset will not be realized. At December 31, 2006, the 
Company has certain deferred tax assets of $7.7 million for 
which a valuation allowance of approximately $7.6 million 

has been provided due to uncertainty of future realization 
of these deferred tax assets. At December 31, 2005, the 
Company had certain deferred tax assets of $12.5 million 
for which a valuation allowance of approximately $8.1 million 
had been provided due to uncertainty of future realization 
of these deferred tax assets. 
	T he Company accounts for any income tax contin-
gencies in accordance with SFAS No. 5, “Accounting for 
Contingencies.” As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, the 
Company had approximately $8.0 million recorded for 
contingencies which is included in current liabilities on 
the Consolidated Balance Sheet.
	 At December 31, 2006, the Company had U.S. 
federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately 
$3.0 million, which expire at varying dates through 2024. 
At December 31, 2006, the Company had state net oper-
ating loss carryforwards of approximately $123 million, 
which expire between 2007 and 2026.

8 Shareholders’ Equity
Earnings Per Share – The Company has computed basic 
and diluted earnings per share using the treasury stock 
method. For the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, 
and 2004 options outstanding to purchase approximately 
3.5 million, 2.1 million, and 716,000 shares of common 
stock respectively, were not included in the computation 
of diluted earnings per share because the exercise prices 
of the options were greater than the average market price 
of the Company’s common stock during the applicable 
year, and the effect of including them in such computation 
would be anti-dilutive.

Stock Options – On April 25, 2006, the shareholders 
of the Company approved the ChoicePoint Inc. 2006 
Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “2006 Omnibus Plan”). 
Under the 2006 Omnibus Plan, up to 1,500,000 shares 
of the Company’s common stock may be issued pursuant 
to awards granted thereunder, with limitations on specific 
kinds of awards that may be issued or transferred, or in 
payment of dividend equivalents paid with respect to 
such awards. A variety of discretionary awards for officers, 
directors and full-time employees of ChoicePoint, and 
others who render significant services are authorized under 
the 2006 Omnibus Plan, including incentive and non-
qualified stock options, restricted stock, deferred stock, 
share equivalent units, tandem appreciation rights and/or 
free-standing appreciation rights, performance shares and 
performance units. The vesting of such awards may be 
conditioned upon either a specified period of service or the 
attainment of certain performance goals as determined by 
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the Management Compensation and Benefits Committee 
of the Company’s Board of Directors. Option exercise 
prices are set at the closing price of ChoicePoint’s common 
stock on the New York Stock Exchange on the date of 
grant, and option terms do not exceed seven years.
	T he Company adopted a second amendment to its 
1997 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan (the “1997 Plan”) on 
April 25, 2006, pursuant to which the aggregate number 
of shares of the Company’s common stock available for 
grants of all awards pursuant to the 1997 Plan was reduced 
to 500,000. The 1997 Plan was also amended to provide 
that no outstanding options may be amended to reduce 
the exercise price thereof. 
	I n addition, on March 13, 2006, the Company 
amended and restated its 2003 Omnibus Incentive Plan 
(the “2003 Omnibus Plan”) to make its terms consistent 
with those of the 2006 Omnibus Plan, including adding 
limitations on the number of performance shares, perfor-
mance units, share equivalent units or other awards, to 
the extent they are distributable in shares, and limiting the 

period during which future option rights or free-standing 
appreciation rights may be exercised to seven years.
	 During 2006, options to purchase an aggregate of 
approximately 1.3 million shares of the Company’s com-
mon stock were granted under the above plans, having an 
exercise price equal to the fair market value of the underly-
ing stock. Such options had a weighted average exercise 
price of $45.69. The fair value of the options granted 
during 2006 and 2005 was calculated using an actuarial 
binomial model. The fair value of options granted prior to 
2005 was calculated using the Black-Scholes Option Pric-
ing Model. The following assumptions were used in the 
calculation of stock-based compensation expense:

Year Ended December 31,	 2006	 2005	 2004

Dividend yield	 0%	 0%	 0%
Expected volatility	 25%	 28%	 32%
Risk-free interest rate	 5.0%	 3.7%	 2.8%
Expected life in years	 4.54	 4.85	 3.82
Weighted average fair value
	 of options granted	 $13.84	 $14.01	 $11.50

	 A summary of all outstanding options and the weighted average exercise price per share, as of December 31, 2006, 
2005 and 2004 and changes during the years then ended is as follows (shares in thousands):

December 31,	 2006	 2005	 2004
						      Avg.		  Avg.		  Avg.
					     Shares	 Price	 Shares	 Price	 Shares	 Price

Balance outstanding, beginning of year	 11,309	 $29.83	 11,609	 $25.83	 12,121	 $23.17
Granted	 1,320	 45.69	 1,593	 45.86	 1,358	 38.84
Canceled/forfeited	 (408)	 42.32	 (335)	 40.25	 (233)	 35.50
Exercised	 (675)	 24.55	 (1,558)	 14.18	 (1,637)	 15.28

Balance outstanding, end of year	 11,546	 $31.51	 11,309	 $29.83	 11,609	 $25.83

Exercisable at end of year	 6,557	 $23.45	 6,277	 $21.54	 6,728	 $17.29

	 A summary of outstanding options, the weighted average exercise price per share, the weighted average remaining 
contractual term, and the aggregate intrinsic value as of December 31, 2006 is as follows (shares and aggregate intrinsic 
value in thousands):

							       Weighted Average 
						      Weighted Average 	 Remaining Contractual 	 Aggregate
					     Shares 	E xercise Price	T erm in Years	I ntrinsic Value

Outstanding, December 31, 2006	 11,546	 $ 31.51	 4.7	 $110,289
Vested and expected to vest, December 31, 2006	 11,317	 $ 31.23	 4.8	 $110,291
Exercisable, December 31, 2006	  6,557	 $ 23.45	 3.3	 $105,866
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	T he following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2006 
(shares in thousands):

					O     ptions Outstanding	O ptions Exercisable

						      Weighted Average
						      Remaining Contractual 	 Weighted Average		  Weighted Average
Range of Exercise Prices	 Shares	L ife in Years	E xercise Price	 Shares	E xercise Price

    $9.224 – $13.836	 1,493	 0.9	 $10.24	 1,493	 $10.24
$13.837 – $18.448	 960	 2.1	 13.97	 960	 13.97
$18.449 – $23.060	 772	 3.0	 19.09	 772	 19.09
$23.061 – $27.672	 1,250	 3.9	 26.00	 1,250	 26.00
$27.673 – $32.284	 175	 3.0	 29.52	 128	 29.35
$32.285 – $36.896	 1,134	 6.0	 33.54	 632	 33.59
$36.897 – $40.356	 2,236	 5.9	 38.64	 930	 38.70
$40.357 – $46.120	 3,526	 6.7	 44.89	 392	 43.06

					     11,546		  $31.51	 6,557	 $23.45

	T he intrinsic value of options exercised during the year ended December 31 was $10.2 million in 2006, $43.5 million 
in 2005, and $39.5 million in 2004.

Other Stock-Based Awards – On a periodic basis, certain 
key officers, employees, and directors of the Company 
are granted shares of nonvested stock under the above 
plans. During 2006, 138,400 shares were awarded with 
a weighted average market value at the date of grant of 
$45.65 per share. During 2005 and 2004, 103,375 and 
61,000 shares were awarded with a weighted average 
market value per share of $45.26 and $38.54 respectively. 
Also on a periodic basis, certain key officers are awarded 
deferred shares under the above plans. During 2006, 2005 
and 2004, 75,000 deferred shares were granted each year 
at a weighted average market price of $45.75, $46.12 and 
$38.50 respectively. Upon initial election to the board of 
directors, and then annually, each non-employee director 
of the Company receives an award of share equivalent 
units. During 2006, 56,286 share equivalent units were 
granted to non-employee directors and certain key 
employees at market value on the date of grant of $41.22 
per unit. During 2005 and 2004, 26,470 and 20,931 
units were granted at an average market value at the date 
of the awards of $39.29 and $43.71 respectively. The 
market value of the restricted stock, deferred shares and 
share equivalent units is being charged to expense over 
the vesting periods through April 2010. The pre-tax 
compensation cost charged against income for these 
awards was $7.3 million ($4.6 million net of tax) in 
2006, $5.5 million ($3.4 million net of tax) in 2005 and 
$6.6 million ($4.1 million net of tax) in 2004. 

	 A summary of the beginning and ending balance of the  
Company’s nonvested shares, deferred shares, and share 
equivalent units as of December 31, 2006, and changes during 
the year then ended is presented below:

						      Weighted Average
					      	 Grant-Date
					     Shares/Units	 Fair Value

Balance at December 31, 2005	  579,659	 $40.00
Granted	  269,686	  44.75
Vested	  	 (61,549)	  36.30
Forfeited	    (9,600) 	  44.47

Balance at December 31, 2006	  778,196	 $41.88

	T he fair value of shares vested during the year ended 
December 31 was $2.5 million in 2006, $1.1 million in 2005, 
and $9.0 million in 2004.
	T he Company adopted SFAS 123(R), effective January 1,  
2006. SFAS 123(R) requires companies to apply a fair value 
method of measurement for all share-based payment transac-
tions with employees, including stock options, and to recognize 
these transactions in the financial statements. The Company 
adopted SFAS 123(R) using the modified prospective applica-
tion, which applies to all grants after the effective date and to 
any unvested portion of grants issued prior to the effective 
date or implementation date. The Company used an actuarial 
binomial model to value its 2005 and 2006 stock option grants 
and a Black-Scholes model to value awards prior to 2005. The 
related compensation cost is expensed over the vesting period 
using the straight-line method for awards with cliff vesting 
or using the accelerated attribution method for awards with 
graded vesting.
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	T he fair value of stock options granted was determined 
on the grant date using assumptions for the expected term, 
expected volatility, dividend yield, and the risk-free interest 
rate. The term assumption is primarily based on the contrac-
tual term of seven years for options granted in 2006, and ten 
years for options granted in 2005 and 2004, and historical 
data related to exercise and post-vesting cancellation history 
experienced by the Company, which is expected to be similar 
to future results. The Company’s anticipated volatility level 
is based on the combination of implied market volatility and 
ChoicePoint’s long-term historical volatility. The Company’s 
model includes a zero dividend yield assumption, as the 
Company has not historically paid nor does it anticipate pay-
ing dividends on its common stock. The Company’s model 
does not include a discount for post-vesting restrictions, as 
the Company has not issued awards with such restrictions. 
The risk free interest rate is based on U.S. Treasury zero-cou-
pon yield curve over the expected term of the option. The 
periodic expense is then determined based on the valuation 
of the options, and at that time an estimated forfeiture rate 
is used to reduce the expense recorded. The Company’s 
estimate of pre-vesting forfeitures is primarily based on the 
historical experience of the Company and is adjusted to 
reflect actual forfeitures as the options vest. 
	T he modified prospective approach requires that the 
Company expense over the remaining vesting period the 
value it previously calculated under the fair value method for 
stock options granted prior to the adoption of SFAS 123(R). 
As of December 31, 2006, there was approximately $18.4 mil- 
lion in total unrecognized compensation cost related to 
unvested options, which is expected to be recognized over a 
weighted average period of 2.4 years. 
	T he Company’s stock-based compensation charge 
was $15.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2006, 
of which approximately $134,000 was capitalized. Of the 
$15.4 million compensation expense for 2006, $4.3 mil-
lion was included in cost of revenue and $11.1 million was 
included in selling, general and administrative expenses. 
The total income tax benefit recognized for stock option 
compensation arrangements was $3.1 million for 2006.
	 As of December 31, 2006, there was approximately 
$6.7 million in total unrecognized compensation cost related 
to nonvested stock, $9.2 million related to deferred shares, 
and $2.1 million related to share equivalent units. That cost 
is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period 
of 2.0 years for nonvested stock, 3.3 years for deferred shares, 
and 1.8 years for share equivalent units.

	T he following table outlines the effect of the adoption 
of SFAS 123(R) on the following financial metrics for the 
year ended December 31, 2006 (in thousands, except per 
share information): 

						E      ffect of the 	E xcluding
						      Adoption of	 the Effect of
					     As Reported	 SFAS 123(R) 	SFAS 123(R)

Operating income	 $128,316	 $15,401	  $143,717
Income from continuing
	 operations before  
	 income taxes	  112,396	 15,401	 127,797
Income from continuing
	 operations	 68,775	   12,295	 81,070
Loss from discontinued  
	 operations, net of tax	 (51,853)	  –	 (51,853)

Net income	 $  16,922	 $12,295	 $  29,217

Earnings per share
	 Basic:
		I  ncome from  
			   continuing operations 	 $      0.83	 $    0.15	   $      0.98
		L  oss from discontinued 
			   operations	 (0.63)	 –	 (0.63)

		N  et income	 $      0.21	 $    0.15	 $      0.35

	 Diluted:				  
		I  ncome from  
			   continuing operations 	 $      0.81	 $    0.14	 $      0.95
		L  oss from discontinued  
			   operations	 (0.61)	 –	 (0.61)

		N  et income	  $      0.20	 $    0.14	 $      0.34 

Note: Per share amounts may not sum due to rounding

	 Prior to adoption of SFAS 123(R), the Company 
presented all tax benefits of deductions resulting from the 
exercise of stock options as operating cash flows in the 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. SFAS 123(R) 
requires the cash flows resulting from tax deductions 
in excess of the compensation cost recognized for those 
options (excess tax benefits) to be classified as financing 
cash flows. The $3.2 million excess tax benefit classified as 
a financing cash inflow for the year ended December 31, 
2006 would have been classified as an operating cash inflow 
if the Company had not adopted SFAS 123(R). 
	I n periods prior to January 1, 2006, the Company 
elected to follow Accounting Principles Board Opinion 
No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” and 
related interpretations (“APB 25”) in accounting for its 
employee stock options. Under APB 25, because the 
exercise price of the Company’s employee stock options 
equaled the market price of the underlying stock on the 
date of the grant, no compensation expense was recog-
nized. In accordance with APB 25, the compensation 
recorded for employee stock grants was equal to the fair 
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value of the grant on the measurement date (the date of 
the grant), as determined by the closing price of the Com-
pany’s common stock on that date. Some employee stock 
grants vested in future periods based on a requirement of 
continued service to the Company. For these stock grants 
the fair value of the stock grant was recorded as deferred 
compensation in the equity section of the Company’s 
Consolidated Balance Sheets, and was expensed on a 
straight-line basis over the vesting period. 
	T he following disclosure shows what the Company’s 
net income and basic and diluted earnings per share would 
have been using the fair value model under SFAS 123 for the 
years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 (in thousands, 
except per share data):

Year Ended December 31, 		  2005	 2004

Net income, as reported		  $140,656	 $147,955
Add: Stock-based employee  
	 compensation expense included  
	 in reported net income, net of  
	 related tax effects		  3,455	 4,199
Deduct: Total stock-based  
	 employee compensation expense  
	 determined under fair value based  
	 method for all awards, net of  
	 related tax effects	   	 (15,572)	 (12,655)

Pro forma net income		  $128,539	 $139,499

Basic EPS – as reported		  $1.59	 $1.69
Basic EPS – pro forma		   $1.45	 $1.59

Diluted EPS – as reported		  $1.53	 $1.62
Diluted EPS – pro forma		  $1.40	 $1.53

Grantor Trusts – ChoicePoint has established two grantor 
trusts which are used to purchase ChoicePoint common 
stock in the open market as previously approved by the 
Board of Directors for distribution under its various com-
pensation and benefit plans. Funds from the grantor trusts 
totaling $26.0 million representing 1.3 million shares in 
2006, and $26.1 million representing 1.3 million shares of 
ChoicePoint common stock in 2005 are reflected as treasury 
stock, at cost, in the December 31 consolidated balance 
sheets. Cash remaining in the grantor trusts of approxi-
mately $675,000 at December 31, 2006 and $650,000 at 
December 31, 2005 are included in cash and cash equiva-
lents in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Treasury Stock – In addition to the common stock held 
in the grantor trusts and shares repurchased as noted above, 
in accordance with the terms of the awards, ChoicePoint 
redeemed 20,000 shares of common stock at market price in 
consideration of the minimum tax obligations for nonvested 
stock vestings, or for the cancellation of nonvested stock 

at a total cost of $865,000 in 2006. No additional shares 
were redeemed in 2005. In 2004, in consideration of the 
minimum tax obligations for restricted stock vestings, 3,900 
shares of common stock were redeemed at market price at a 
total cost of $151,000. 

9 Capital Transactions
On July 26, 2005, ChoicePoint’s Board of Directors approved 
a stock buyback program for the repurchase of up to $250 mil-
lion of Company stock. On several occasions during 2006, the 
Company’s Board of Directors approved increases to the value 
of the buyback program up to the currently authorized total 
of $725 million. The Company may repurchase stock under 
the program from time to time through August 18, 2007. 
	T he following table details activity under the repur-
chase program since inception (in thousands except per 
share amounts):

					T     otal number 
					     of shares	 Average cost	T otal cost
					     repurchased 	 per share 	 for shares

Year ended  
	 December 31, 2005	 2,946.7	 $42.62	 $125,592
Year ended  
	 December 31, 2006	 11,375.0	 37.56	 427,248

Inception of buyback  
	 program through  
	 December 31, 2006	 14,321.7	 $38.60	 552,840

Remaining amount  
	 authorized as of  
	 December 31, 2006			   172,160

Total amount authorized			    $725,000

10 Employee Benefits
401(k) Profit Sharing Plan – ChoicePoint adopted a 
401(k) profit sharing plan, under which eligible Company 
employees may contribute up to 75% of their compensation. 
ChoicePoint intends to make matching contributions in the 
form of ChoicePoint common stock equal to a minimum 
of 25% of an employee’s contributions up to the first 6% of 
the employee’s salary. The match made on eligible employee 
contributions was 27% for 2006, 38% for 2005 and 58% 
for 2004. Employee contributions will be invested in one of 
the available investment funds, as selected by the employee. 
Matching contributions will be invested in the ChoicePoint 
stock fund. ChoicePoint may make additional contributions 
based on achievement of targeted performance levels. The 
expense for the 401(k) profit sharing plan was $2.4 million in 
2006, $3.5 million in 2005 and $4.0 million in 2004.
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	 As a result of the Spinoff, ChoicePoint agreed to  
contribute to a defined contribution plan for certain  
ChoicePoint employees. The additional benefits are intended 
to offset the adverse impact of transitioning out of a defined 
benefit pension plan and represent the present value of the 
estimated future contributions. The expense recognized and 
amounts contributed to the 401(k) profit sharing plan to 
offset the adverse impact of transitioning out of the defined 
benefit plan was $1.7 million in 2006, $1.5 million in 2005 
and $1.4 million in 2004.

Deferred Compensation Plan – ChoicePoint offers 
deferred compensation plans to directors and certain officers 
of the Company. Under these plans, amounts earned by an 
officer or director may be deferred and credited with gains 
and losses based upon four different investment alternatives, 
including ChoicePoint common stock. The corresponding 
deferred compensation liability is recorded at the current 
fair value of the individual’s investment elections and any 
changes are recorded as expense in the period incurred. As 
of December 31, 2006 and 2005, related to these plans, 
the Company has recorded an other long-term liability of 
$22.0 million and $20.8 million, respectively.

Postretirement Benefits – As a result of the Spinoff, the 
Company agreed to provide certain retiree health care and life 
insurance benefits for a defined group of eligible employees. 
No additional members have been added to this group since 
the Spinoff. Health care and life insurance benefits are pro-
vided through a trust. The Company accrues the cost of pro-
viding postretirement benefits for medical and life insurance 
coverage over the active service period of each employee, net 
of the estimated amount of participant contributions. These 
postretirement benefit plans are unfunded. The account-
ing for the health care plans anticipates future cost-sharing 
changes to the written plans that are consistent with the Com-
pany’s expressed intent to increase retiree contributions equal 
to a percentage of health care cost increases. ChoicePoint uses 
December 31 as the measurement date for these plans.

	T he following table presents a reconciliation of the 
changes in the plan’s benefit obligations and fair value of 
assets at December 31, 2006 and 2005:

(In thousands)
December 31,		  2006	 2005

Change in benefit obligation:
	O bligation at beginning of year		  $25,960	 $31,215
	 Service cost		  54	 56
	I nterest cost		  1,349	 1,682
	 Actuarial loss (gain)		  (1,773)	 1,875
Medicare subsidies accrued		  876	 –
Anticipated future Medicare subsidies		  –	 (3,504)
Benefit payments, net of participant
	 contributions of $2,450 in 2006
	 and $2,186 in 2005		  (3,070)	 (5,364)

	O bligation at end of year		  23,396	 25,960

Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year	 –	 –
	E mployer contributions		  2,194 	 5,364
	 Benefit payments		  (2,194)	 (5,364)

	 Fair value of plan assets at end of year		  –	 –

	O n December 31, 2006, the Company adopted the 
recognition and disclosure provisions of SFAS 158. SFAS 
158 required the Company to recognize the funded status 
(i.e., the difference between the fair value of plan assets and 
the projected benefit obligations) of its benefit plans in the 
December 31, 2006 Consolidated Balance Sheet, with a 
corresponding adjustment to accumulated other compre-
hensive income, net of tax. The adjustment to accumulated 
other comprehensive income at adoption of $5.5 million 
($3.4 million net of tax) represents the net unrecognized 
actuarial gains and unrecognized prior service credit. 
	T he following table shows the calculation of the accrued 
postretirement benefit cost recognized in “Postretirement 
benefit obligations” on the Company’s Consolidated Balance 
Sheet at December 31, 2006 and 2005:

(In thousands)		  2006	 2005

Funded status		  $23,396	 $25,960
Unrecognized prior service credit		  234	 446
Unrecognized actuarial gain		  5,222	 3,523
Accumulated other comprehensive income	 (5,456)	 –

Net amount recognized on  
	 consolidated balance sheet		  23,396	 29,929
Current portion		  2,578	 5,000

Accrued benefit cost		  $20,818	 $24,929
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	T he current portion is included in other current liabilities 
in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Net 
periodic postretirement benefit expense includes the follow-
ing components:

(In thousands)
Year Ended December 31,	 2006	 2005	 2004

Service cost	 $       54	 $      56	 $    100
Interest cost on accumulated 
	 benefit obligation	 1,349	 1,682	 1,801
Amortization of net gain	 (74)	 –	 –
Amortization of prior 
	 service cost	 (212)	 (295)	 (375)

Net periodic postretirement 
	 benefit expense	 $1,117	 $1,443	 $1,526

	T he following are weighted average assumptions used in 
the computation of postretirement benefit expense and the 
related obligation:

Year Ended December 31,	 2006	 2005	 2004

Discount rate used to 
	 determine accumulated  
	 postretirement benefit  
	 obligation at December 31	 5.71%	 5.50%	 5.75%
Discount rate used to 
	 determine net periodic 
	 postretirement benefit 
	 expense	 5.50%	 5.75%	 5.75%
Initial health care cost  
	 trend rate	 9.33%	 10.33%	 11.33%
Ultimate health care cost 
 	 trend rate	 5.25%	 5.25%	 5.25%
Year ultimate health care cost  
	 trend rate reached	  2013	 2013	 2013

	 Assumed health care trend rates have a significant 
effect on the amounts reported for health care plans. If the 
health care cost trend rate were changed by 1% for all future 
years, the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation 
(“APBO”) as of December 31, 2006 would have been 
impacted as follows:

					     1-Percentage	 1-Percentage
(In thousands)	 Point Increase	 Point Decrease

Effect on total APBO	 $305	 $(284)
Effect on total service cost 
	 plus interest cost	 $  16	 $  (15)

	T he Company expects the following net benefits to be 
paid from the postretirement benefit plan:

						      Before	 After
(In thousands)		  Medicare	 Medicare
Projected Benefit Payments		  Subsidy	 Subsidy

2007				   $  3,343	 $  2,578
2008				   3,131	 2,305
2009				   2,910	 2,623
2010				   2,723	 2,439
2011				   2,649	 2,373
2012 – 2016		  10,551	 10,551

	T he Company continues to evaluate ways in which it 
can better manage these benefits and control its costs. Any 
changes in the plan, revisions to assumptions or changes in 
the Medicare program that affect the amount of expected 
future benefits may have a significant effect on the amount 
of the reported obligation and future annual expense. 

11 Commitments and Contingencies
Leases – The Company’s operating leases involve principally 
office space and office equipment. Rental expense relating to 
these leases was $21.1 million in 2006, $19.0 million in 2005 
and $16.4 million in 2004. Included in the operating leases 
are three synthetic lease agreements (Note 6). The Company 
has accounted for these synthetic leases as operating leases 
and has recorded rent expense. If the Company had elected to 
purchase the property instead of entering into the synthetic 
leases, assets and debt would have increased by $83.5 mil-
lion at December 31, 2006 and the Company would have 
recorded additional depreciation expense of $2.7 million in 
2006, $2.4 million in 2005 and $2.2 million in 2004.
	 Future minimum payment obligations for noncancel-
able operating leases exceeding one year, net of subleases and 
assuming the utilization of the full notional amount under 
the synthetic leases, are as follows as of December 31, 2006:

(In thousands)
Year					     Amount

2007					    $18,736
2008					    16,884
2009					    15,971
2010					    14,734
2011					    13,187
Thereafter			   11,947

							       $91,459
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Change in Control Provisions in Employment Agreements –  
The Company has entered into employment agreements 
with certain officers to provide severance pay and benefits 
in the event of a “change in control” of ChoicePoint. At 
December 31, 2006, the maximum contingent liability 
under the agreements or plans was approximately $32.1 mil-
lion. In addition, the Company’s stock-based compensation 
plans provide that all outstanding grants shall become fully 
vested in the event of a change in control.

Litigation and Fraudulent Data Access – Below is a 
description of the Company’s material pending legal proceed-
ings. While the ultimate resolution of the matters discussed 
below cannot presently be determined, an unfavorable out-
come in these cases could have a material adverse effect on the 
Company’s financial condition or results of operations.

Class Action Litigation – A class action lawsuit against the 
Company was filed in the United States District Court for 
the Southern District of Florida on August 11, 2003 (Fresco, 
et al. v. Automotive Directions Inc., et al.) alleging that the 
Company obtained, disclosed and used information obtained 
from the Florida Department of Highway Safety and Motor 
Vehicles (“Florida DHSMV”) in violation of the federal 
Driver’s Privacy Protection Act (“DPPA”). The plaintiffs seek 
to represent classes of individuals whose personal information 
from Florida DHSMV records has been obtained, disclosed 
and used for marketing purposes or other allegedly impermis-
sible uses by ChoicePoint without the express written consent 
of the individual. A number of the Company’s competitors 
have also been sued in the same or similar litigation in Florida. 
This complaint seeks certification as a class action, compen-
satory damages, attorneys’ fees and costs, and injunctive and 
other relief. ChoicePoint has joined with the other defendants 
in a motion for judgment on the pleadings as to the plaintiffs’ 
“obtaining” claim. To date, the Court has not ruled on the 
pending motion. After vigorously defending against the 
action, the defendants engaged in court ordered mediation 
beginning in February 2006. A proposed settlement agree-
ment was filed with the court on December 20, 2006, and 
the settling parties await the scheduling of a hearing for 
preliminary approval of the settlement. The Company 
believes that any additional liability which may result from 
the resolution of this action in excess of the amounts provided 
will not have a material effect on the financial condition, 
results of operations, or cash flows of the Company.
	O n January 5, 2007, a purported class action lawsuit 
was filed against the Company and certain of its competitors 
in the United States District Court for the Eastern District 
of Texas (Taylor v. Acxiom Corporation), on behalf of each and 
every individual in the State of Texas whose name, address, 

driver identification number, and certain other identifiers 
are contained in motor vehicle records obtained by the defen-
dants from the Texas Department of Public Safety without 
the express consent of the individual during the period from 
June 1, 2000 through the date of judgment. The plaintiff 
also filed pleadings seeking to intervene in the Fresco litiga-
tion and objecting to the proposed settlement agreement for 
such litigation. A Motion to Stay Proceedings in the Fresco 
litigation pending the outcome of the Texas Court’s class 
certification determination in Taylor was also filed by such 
plaintiff. On February 8, 2007, the Company filed a motion 
to dismiss the Taylor litigation based on the fact that Fresco 
was first-filed, the nationwide class in Fresco encompasses 
the Texas class, and reasons of judicial economy and fun-
damental fairness dictate against duplicative class actions 
in federal courts. 

Fraudulent Data Access – ChoicePoint’s review of the 
fraudulent data access described in the Company’s public 
filings and other similar incidents is ongoing. The Company 
believes that the number of consumers to which it will send 
notice of potential fraudulent data access could increase 
from the number of consumers it has notified to date, but 
the Company does not anticipate that any such increase 
would be significant.
	T he Company is involved in several legal proceedings 
or investigations that relate to these matters. ChoicePoint is 
unable at this time to predict the outcome of these actions. 
The ultimate resolution of these matters could have a 
material adverse impact on the Company’s financial results, 
financial condition, and liquidity and on the trading price of 
the Company’s common stock. Regardless of the merits and 
ultimate outcome of these lawsuits and other proceedings, 
litigation and proceedings of this type are expensive and will 
require that substantial Company resources and executive 
time be devoted to defend these proceedings.
	 ChoicePoint has entered into a settlement with the FTC 
regarding its investigation into the Company’s compliance 
with federal laws governing consumer information security 
and related issues, including the fraudulent data access which 
occurred last year. The terms of the settlement called for a 
non-tax deductible civil penalty of $10 million, the establish-
ment of a $5 million fund to be administered by the FTC for 
consumer redress initiatives, completion of certain one-time 
and on-going customer credentialing activities such as 
additional site visits, and undertaking additional obligations 
relating to information security. The settlement also requires 
ChoicePoint to obtain, every two years for the next 20 years, 
an assessment from a qualified, independent, third-party 
professional to ensure that its information security program 
meets the standards of the order. As part of this settlement, 
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ChoicePoint did not admit to the truth of, or liability for, any 
of the matters alleged by the FTC. In the fourth quarter of 
2005, the Company recorded a pre-tax charge of $8.0 million 
($8.8 million net of taxes) for the FTC settlement that rep-
resents the $10.0 million civil penalty, the $5.0 million fund 
for consumer redress initiatives, and a $4.0 million charge for 
additional obligations under the order offset by $11.0 million 
of insurance proceeds. The insurance proceeds were received 
by the Company in the first quarter of 2006.
	T he Company has received a variety of inquiries and 
requests from state Attorneys General as a result of the fraud-
ulent data access. Generally, these state Attorneys General are 
requiring that all affected individuals in each of their respec-
tive states receive appropriate notice. The Company has 
mailed notices to the potentially affected consumers identi-
fied to date. In addition, certain state Attorneys General have 
requested, including by use of subpoena, information and 
documents to determine whether ChoicePoint has violated 
any laws regarding consumer protection and related matters. 
The Company is cooperating with the state Attorneys Gen-
eral in connection with these inquiries.
	 ChoicePoint received notice from the SEC on May 12, 
2005 that it is conducting an investigation into the circum-
stances surrounding any possible identity theft, trading in 
ChoicePoint stock by its Chief Executive Officer and Chief 
Operating Officer and related matters. The Company coop-
erated with the SEC and provided the requested information 
and documents. 
	T he Company is a defendant in a purported class action  
lawsuit that resulted from the consolidation of four previously  
filed class actions in the U.S. District Court for the Central 
District of California. Harrington, et al. v ChoicePoint, 
CV05-1294. The plaintiffs’ First Amended Consolidated 
Class Action Complaint against ChoicePoint Inc. and 
three subsidiaries alleges violations of the federal Fair Credit 
Reporting Act (“FCRA”) and certain California statutes. The 
six named plaintiffs purport to bring the lawsuit on behalf 
of a national class of persons about whom ChoicePoint 
provided a consumer report as defined in the FCRA to rogue 
customers, as well as five California classes of affected persons. 
Plaintiffs seek actual, statutory and exemplary damages and 
injunctive relief, attorneys’ fees and costs. On July 10, 2006, 
the U.S. District Court consolidated the Harrington case with 
the Wilson case, described below. The cases remain separate 
but are being handled as one case under the same judge.
	O n June 15, 2005, a similar purported class action 
lawsuit was filed against ChoicePoint Inc. in the United 
States District Court for the Northern District of Georgia, 
Atlanta Division, Wilson v. ChoicePoint Inc., 1-05-CV-1604. 
The plaintiffs allege violations of the FCRA, the DPPA, 
and Georgia’s Uniform Deceptive Trade Practices Act  

(“DTPA”), and the three named plaintiffs purport to represent 
a national class of persons whose consumer credit reports 
as defined in the FCRA or personal or highly restricted 
personal information as defined in the DPPA was 
disclosed to third parties as a result of acts or omissions 
by ChoicePoint. Plaintiffs seek actual, statutory, and 
punitive damages, injunctive relief and fees and costs. 
On February 28, 2006, the Court granted ChoicePoint’s 
motion to transfer the Wilson case to the U.S. District 
Court, Central District of California. The Company filed 
a motion for partial summary judgment on August 10, 
 2006. The court granted that motion on October 12, 
2006, with respect to the claims of six of the nine plain-
tiffs. The Company intends to defend the remaining 
claims vigorously. 
	O n March 4, 2005, a purchaser of the Company’s 
securities filed a lawsuit against the Company and certain of 
its officers in the United States District Court for the Central 
District of California. The complaint alleges that the defen-
dants violated federal securities laws by issuing false or mis-
leading information in connection with the fraudulent data 
access. Additional complaints alleging substantially similar 
claims have been filed by other purchasers of the Company’s 
securities in the Central District of California on March 10, 
2005 and in the Northern District of Georgia on March 11,  
2005, March 22, 2005 and March 24, 2005. By court order 
the cases pending in the Central District of California have 
been transferred to the Northern District of Georgia. By order  
dated August 5, 2005, the court consolidated each of the pend- 
ing cases into a single consolidated action, In re ChoicePoint 
Inc. Securities Litigation, 1:05-CV-00686. A Consolidated 
Amended Complaint was filed on January 13, 2006, and 
seeks certification as a class action and unspecified compensa-
tory damages, attorneys’ fees, costs, and other relief. On 
March 14, 2006, the defendants filed a motion to dismiss the  
Consolidated Amended Complaint, which remains pending  
before the court. On November 21, 2006, the court entered 
an Order denying the defendants’ motion to dismiss. There-
after, defendants moved the court to certify its Order for  
immediate review. The court granted that motion on Janu-
ary 10, 2007. On January 25, 2007 the defendants filed a 
petition asking the 11th Circuit Court of Appeals to allow 
them to appeal on an interlocutory basis. Plaintiff ’s response 
was filed on February 16, 2007. If the 11th Circuit grants 
defendants’ petition, then the 11th Circuit will set a briefing 
schedule for defendants’ appeal of the November 21st Order. 
The district court has administratively closed the case pend-
ing the resolution of the interlocutory appeal. As a result, all 
proceedings in the district court are currently stayed. The 
Company intends to defend this lawsuit vigorously. 



ChoicePoint 2006 Annual Report   63

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

C h o i c e P o i n t  2 0 0 6  A n n u a l  R e p o r t

	O n May 20, 2005, a purported class action lawsuit was 
filed in the United States District Court for the Northern 
District of Georgia against ChoicePoint and certain individ-
uals who are alleged to be fiduciaries under the ChoicePoint 
Inc. 401(k) Profit Sharing Plan (the “Plan”), Curtis R. Mellott 
v. ChoicePoint Inc., et al., 1:05-CV-1340. The suit alleges 
violations of ERISA fiduciary rules through the acquisition 
and retention of ChoicePoint stock by the Plan on and after 
November 24, 2004. Plaintiffs seek compensatory damages, 
injunctive and equitable relief, attorneys’ fees and costs. On 
April 14, 2006, the defendants filed a motion to dismiss, 
which remains pending before the court. The Company 
intends to defend this lawsuit vigorously.
	O n June 27, 2005, the Company was served with a 
shareholder derivative lawsuit. The initial lawsuit was filed 
in the Superior Court of Gwinnett County, Georgia, and 
alleges that some of the Company’s officers breached their 
fiduciary duties by engaging in insider trading and requests 
unspecified compensatory damages, attorneys’ fees, costs and 
other relief. On July 6, 2005, a second shareholder derivative 
lawsuit was filed in the Superior Court of Fulton County, 
Georgia alleging that some of the Company’s officers engaged 
in insider trading and that all of the board members breached 
their fiduciary duties by failing to adequately oversee the 
Company’s operations. The Gwinnett County action was 
subsequently transferred to Fulton County, and the Superior 
Court of Fulton County has consolidated both cases into 
a single action, In re ChoicePoint Inc. Derivative Litigation, 
2005-CV-103219. Plaintiffs seek unspecified compensatory 
and exemplary damages, attorneys’ fees, costs and other relief. 
On January 12, 2006, the Company moved to dismiss and 
answered the Consolidated Amended Complaint. The court 
granted the Company’s motion to dismiss and dismissed the 
complaint on June 8, 2006. On June 28, 2006, the plaintiffs 
appealed the dismissal of their Complaint to the Georgia 
Court of Appeals. Plantiffs’ appeal has been fully briefed and 
remains pending before the Georgia Court of Appeals.
	T he Company is continuing to strengthen its customer 
credentialing procedures and is recredentialing components 
of its customer base, particularly customers that have access 

to products that are regulated by the Fair Credit Reporting 
Act. Further, the Company continues to review and investi-
gate other matters related to credentialing and customer use. 
The Company’s investigations as well as those of law enforce-
ment continue. The Company believes that there could be 
other instances that may result in notification to consumers. 
As previously stated, the Company intends for consumers 
to be notified, irrespective of current state law requirements, 
if it is determined that their sensitive personally identifiable 
information has been acquired by unauthorized parties. The 
Company does not believe that the impact from notifying 
affected consumers will be material to the financial position, 
results of operations or cash flows of the Company.

Other Litigation – The Company also is involved in other 
litigation from time to time in the ordinary course of its 
business. The Company provides for estimated legal fees 
and settlements relating to pending lawsuits when they are 
probable and reasonably estimable. The Company does not 
believe that the outcome of any such pending or threatened 
litigation in the ordinary course of business will have a 
material adverse effect on the financial position or results of 
operations of ChoicePoint. However, as is inherent in legal 
proceedings where issues may be decided by finders of fact, 
there is a risk that unpredictable decisions adverse to the 
Company could be reached.

12 Other Operating Charges
Other operating charges include the following:

(In thousands)
Year Ended December 31,	 2006	 2005	 2004

Marketing Services segment  
	 impairment	 $    99,400	 $       –	 $   –
Other asset impairments	 10,720	 –	 –
Lease abandonment  
	 and severance	 3,943	 1,472	 –
Fraudulent data access  
	 related expense	 3,509	 27,301	 –

Total other operating charges	 $117,572	 $28,773	 $   –

	 A breakdown of other operating charges by segment for the year ended December 31, 2006 is as follows:

						      Screening and	 Financial and 
					I     nsurance	 Authentication 	 Professional  	 Government	 Marketing
(In thousands)	 Services	 Services	 Services	 Services	 Services	O ther	T otal

2006
Asset impairments	 $    –	 $  –	 $10,720	 $    –	 $99,400	 $        –	 $110,120
Lease abandonment and severance	 331	 31	 3,330	 110	 87	 54	 3,943
Fraudulent data access related expense	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 3,509	 3,509

Total other operating charges	 $331	 $31	 $14,050	 $110	 $99,487	 $3,563	 $117,572
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	O f total other operating charges recorded in 2006, 
$99.4 million represents the net impairment charge on 
the Company’s Marketing Services segment. This net 
charge consists of a $110.0 million charge recorded in the 
third quarter of 2006, offset by the reversal of anticipated 
selling costs of $10.6 million recorded in the fourth quar-
ter of 2006. The Company announced its intent to divest 
the Marketing Service segment in the second quarter of 
2006 as part of a strategic review. Based on indicative bids 
received, the Company recorded the $110.0 million charge 
to reduce the carrying value of this business to reflect 
the estimated net proceeds expected to be realized. The 
$10.6 million reversal of anticipated selling costs was 
recognized during the fourth quarter of 2006 after the 
Company announced its intent to retain the Marketing 
Services segment. In addition, as part of the strategic review, 
the Company recorded additional impairment, lease 
abandonment and severance charges totaling $14.7 million 
primarily related to the centralization of functions and 
consolidation of certain technology platforms. Also, an 
additional $3.5 million was recorded for legal fees and 
other professional fees associated with the fraudulent data 
access previously disclosed in the Company’s SEC filings.  
At December 31, 2006, $9.6 million was accrued for 
obligations related to the above charges incurred to date 
that includes $7.1 million for legal and other fees associ-
ated with the fraudulent data access, and $2.5 million 
related to severance and lease abandonment costs.
	 During 2005, the Company recorded other operating 
charges of $28.8 million that included a pre-tax charge of 
$8.0 million ($8.8 million net of taxes) for the settlement 
reached with the Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”) in 
January 2006, $19.3 million ($11.9 million net of taxes) 
for specific legal expenses and other professional fees 
related to the fraudulent data access and $1.5 million 
($0.9 million net of taxes) for lease abandonment charges 
related to the consolidation of two facilities. The terms of 
the settlement agreement with the FTC call for a non-tax 
deductible civil penalty of $10 million, the establishment 
of a $5 million fund to be administered by the FTC for 
consumer redress initiatives, completion of certain one-
time and ongoing customer credentialing activities, such 
as additional site visits, and undertaking additional obliga-
tions relating to information security. The settlement also 
requires ChoicePoint to obtain, every two years for the 
next 20 years, an assessment from a qualified, indepen-
dent, third-party professional to ensure that its informa-
tion security program meets the standards of the order. 

	T he $8.0 million charge for the FTC settlement 
consisted of the $10.0 million civil penalty, the $5.0 mil-
lion fund for consumer redress initiatives, a $4.0 million 
charge for additional obligations under the order, offset by 
the $11.0 million recovery of these fees received from the 
Company’s insurance carrier during the first quarter of 2006. 
A total of $28.7 million, which includes the $19.0 million 
for the FTC settlement, was recorded as an other current 
liability in the December 31, 2005 Consolidated Balance 
Sheet. The $11.0 million insurance receivable related to 
the FTC settlement was included in other current assets in 
the December 31, 2005 Consolidated Balance Sheet.  

13 Related Party Transactions
During 2006 and 2005, one director of ChoicePoint served 
as a director of  The Home Depot, Inc. The Company per-
formed services for The Home Depot, Inc. totaling approx-
imately $18.5 million ($13.6 million net of pass-through 
expenses) in 2006 and approximately $21.5 million 
($20.3 million net of pass-through expenses) in 2005. 
These services were the result of arm’s-length negotiations 
in the ordinary course of business.
	U ntil April 2005, one director of ChoicePoint served as 
a director of General Electric Company. During 2005, the 
Company performed business outsourcing, software solu-
tions, marketing services, public records and background 
screening services for General Electric Company and its 
subsidiaries totaling approximately $12.5 million. These 
services were the result of arm’s-length negotiations in the 
ordinary course of business.
	O ne director of ChoicePoint served as Vice Chairman 
of Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. until his retirement in January 
2005 and as a director of Wal-Mart until March 2005. 
In 2005, the Company performed services for Wal-Mart 
totaling approximately $2.8 million. These services were 
the result of arm’s-length negotiations in the ordinary 
course of business. The director resigned from the 
ChoicePoint Board of Directors in October 2005.

14 Segment Disclosures
As previously indicated, the Company announced plans 
to divest the Bode Labs, EquiSearch and BLJ businesses as 
a result of its company-wide strategic review, as discussed 
in Note 5. To reflect how the Company is operating under 
its new strategic focus, the Company revised the segments 
in which it reports its financial results. The Business Services  
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segment has been divided into two segments: the Screening 
and Authentication Services segment, and the Financial 
and Professional Services segment. Historical information 
in the discussions and tables included herein has been 
reclassified to conform to the current presentation. 
ChoicePoint’s continuing operations are focused on five 
primary markets – Insurance Services, Screening and 
Authentication Services, Financial and Professional 
Services, Government Services, and Marketing Services 
that constitute its five reportable segments. Management 
evaluates the performance of its segments exclusive of 
other operating charges (Note 12). Sales and transfers 

between segments are generally accounted for at cost plus 
a reasonable profit; the effects of inter-segment sales are 
immaterial to the computation of segment profit. See Note 1 
for a description of each reportable segment.
	I n January 2005, ChoicePoint acquired i2 Ltd., with a 
location in Cambridge, United Kingdom, which generates 
a significant amount of its revenue from outside of the 
United States. For the years ended December 31, 2006, 
2005, and 2004, less than 5% of the Company’s total 
revenue was generated outside of the United States. No 
one customer represents more than 10% of total revenue. 

	 December 31, 2006	 December 31, 2005	 December 31, 2004

						      Operating		O  perating		O  perating
(In thousands)	 Revenue	 Income	 Revenue	I ncome	 Revenue	I ncome

Insurance Services	 $     454,458	 $   239,843	 $     402,853	 $221,670	 $352,368	 $195,851
Screening and Authentication 
	 Services	  257,088 	 57,096	 242,054	 58,980	 212,706	 43,715
Financial and Professional 
	 Services(a)	 105,041	 12,998	 117,510	 22,738	 113,768	 26,338
Government Services	 135,813	 15,656	 129,358	 19,326	 70,523	 18,020
Marketing Services
	 Marketing Services service revenue	 79,714	 12,446	 91,529	 15,899	 93,389	 18,651
	 Reimbursable expenses	 22,878	 –	 28,056	 –	 34,280	 –

Marketing Services	 102,592	 12,446	 119,585	 15,899	 127,669	 18,651
Royalty	 –	 –	 2,398	 1,722	 4,504	 2,062
Corporate and shared(b)	 –	 (71,287)	 –	 (76,223)	 –	 (69,552)
Accelerated depreciation	 –	 (5,463)	 –	 –	 –	 –
Stock option expense	 –	 (15,401)	 –	 –	 –	 –
Other operating charges (Note 12)	 –	 (117,572)	 –	 (28,773)	 –	 –

Total from continuing operations	 $1,054,992	 $   128,316	 $1,013,758	 $235,339	 $881,538	 $235,085

					     Assets	 Depreciation and Amortization
					     December 31,	 December 31,

(In thousands)	 2006	 2005	 2004	 2006	 2005	 2004

Insurance Services	 $    274,029	 $    243,124	 $    214,033	 $14,296	 $10,433	 $  8,179
Screening and Authentication 
	 Services	 368,732	 382,914	 384,852	 13,303	 12,169	 11,850
Financial and Professional Services	 223,783	 294,096	 284,921	 12,646	 13,728	 9,841
Government Services	 239,537	 254,368	 140,775	 16,171	 16,797	 9,705
Marketing Services	 137,079	 232,334	 228,057	 6,590	 6,440	 6,763
Royalty	 –	 –	 347	 –	 –	 1,356
Unallocated and Other(c)	 71,419	 56,140	 34,491	 9,655	 10,027	 9,037
Assets Held for Sale (Note 5)	 31,513	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –
Accelerated Depreciation	 –	 –	 –	 5,463	 –	 –

Total			  $1,346,092	 $1,462,976	 $1,287,476	 $78,124	 $69,594	 $56,731

(a) As announced on March 4, 2005, the Company discontinued the sale of certain information services offered by its Business Services Segment.

(b) Corporate and shared expenses represent costs of support functions, research and development initiatives, incentives and profit sharing that benefit all segments.

(c) Unallocated and Other includes certain corporate items that are not allocated to the segments.
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	T he Company owned a 62.5% interest in laser patent revenue relating to certain patents involving laser technology 
that expired in November 2004 and May 2005. In 2004 and 2005, revenue from these patents is included in Royalty 
above. Upon the expiration of the applicable patents, the Company lost its right to exclude others from exploiting the 
inventions claimed therein, and accordingly, the obligation of third parties to make royalty payments ceased. 

15 Quarterly Financial Summary (Unaudited)
Following is a summary of the unaudited interim results of operations for each quarter in the years ended December 31, 
2006 and 2005:

(In thousands, except per share data)	 First	 Second	T hird	 Fourth
Year Ended December 31, 2006	 Quarter	 Quarter	 Quarter	 Quarter	T otal

Service revenue	 $253,383	 $255,549	 $262,692	 $260,490	 $1,032,114
Reimbursable expenses	 6,726	 5,084	 4,934	 6,134	 22,878

Total revenue	 260,109	 260,633	 267,626	 266,624	 1,054,992
Cost of service revenue	 135,095	 131,344	 137,459	 138,037	 541,935
Reimbursable expenses	 6,726	 5,084	 4,934	 6,134	 22,878

Gross profit	 118,288	 124,205	 125,233	 122,453	 490,179
Operating income (loss)(a)	 53,832	 61,371	 (50,558)	 63,671	 128,316
Net income (loss)	 30,610	 34,861	 (72,216)	 23,667	 16,922
EPS, basic	 0.36	 0.41	 (0.89)	 0.30	 0.21
EPS, diluted	 0.34	 0.40	 (0.86)	 0.30	 0.20

(In thousands, except per share data)	 First	 Second	T hird	 Fourth
Year Ended December 31, 2005	 Quarter	 Quarter	 Quarter	 Quarter	T otal

Service revenue	 $242,151	 $246,100	 $256,843	 $240,608	 $985,702
Reimbursable expenses	 6,543	 6,623	 7,479	 7,411	 28,056

Total revenue	 248,694	 252,723	 264,322	 248,019	 1,013,758
Cost of service revenue	 123,872	 129,908	 130,632	 121,532	 505,944
Reimbursable expenses	 6,543	 6,623	 7,479	 7,411	 28,056

Gross profit	 118,279	 116,192	 126,211	 119,076	 479,758
Operating income(b)	 59,966	 57,578	 65,598	 52,197	 235,339
Net income	 36,970	 36,418	 39,584	 27,684	 140,656
EPS, basic	 0.42	 0.41	 0.44	 0.31	 1.59
EPS, diluted	 0.40	 0.40	 0.43	 0.30	 1.53

	T he unaudited quarterly financial information reflects all adjustments that are, in the opinion of management, necessary 
for a fair presentation of the results for the interim periods presented.

(a) �The Company recorded $5.5 million of accelerated depreciation as a result of the centralization of functions and consolidation of technology platforms during the first quarter of 2006. The Company recorded 
$3.5 million of stock-based compensation expense during the first quarter of 2006, $3.4 million in the second quarter of 2006, $4.3 million in the third quarter of 2006 and $4.2 million in the fourth quarter 
of 2006 as a result of the adoption of SFAS 123(R). Additionally, the Company recorded other operating charges of $6.0 million, $2.7 million, $116.1 million and a benefit of $7.2 million in the first, second, 
third, and fourth quarters of 2006, respectively. Of these charges, $3.5 million relates to specific expenses of the fraudulent data access, $3.9 million related to the abandonment of certain leases and severance 
related to the consolidation of facilities, and $110.1 million relates to asset impairments recorded for the Company’s decision to divest certain businesses as a part of the company-wide strategic review discussed 
in Note 5, net of the reversal of anticipated selling costs of $10.6 million recorded as a result of the Company’s decision to retain the Marketing Services segment.  

(b) �The Company recorded other operating charges of $5.4 million, $6.0 million, $4.0 million and $11.8 million in the first, second, third and fourth quarters of 2005 respectively related to specific expenses of 
the fraudulent data access that is discussed in Note 11. Additionally, in the fourth quarter of 2005, the Company recorded $1.5 million related to the abandonment of certain leases related to the consolidation 
of facilities. The effect of these items on net income was $3.3 million or $0.04 per share in the first quarter of 2005, $3.8 million or $0.04 per share in the second quarter of 2005, $2.5 million or $0.03 per 
share in the third quarter of 2005 and $12.1 million or $0.14 per share in the fourth quarter of 2005.



Business Segment  Overv iew

INSURANCE SERVICES

The Company’s largest core business provides data, 

analytics, software and business outsourcing services 

to Property and Casualty (P&C), personal and 

commercial insurance carriers. Our information 

solutions help insurers effectively assess risks in the 

underwriting process to ensure that their customers 

receive fair, appropriate policy pricing. We count all 

of the country’s largest insurers as our customers.  

 In personal lines, our services support more than 

100 million auto and home transactions annually. Our 

Comprehensive Loss Underwriting Exchange (C.L.U.E.®) 

database is the industry’s most complete source of 

historical claims. Other tools include Current Carrier®, 

which identifi es the existence of current or previous 

insurance, as well as any possible lapses in coverage and 

is now a key growth driver as we leverage this product’s 

capabilities to develop new product offerings.

 In 2007, ChoicePoint will continue its develop-

ment and rollout of a major market expansion, 

replicating the personal lines business model for 

commercial insurers.

 Our Insurity business unit provides software, data 

and analytics to P&C commercial and personal lines 

carriers to improve risk acceptance and loss mitigation. 

Insurity offers policy administration, claims adminis-

tration, compliance management, regulatory reporting, 

reinsurance, billing, business processing and maintenance 

service to carriers, Managing General Agencies (MGAs), 

brokers, agents and Third-Party Administrators (TPAs).

SCREENING & AUTHENTICATION SERVICES

Solutions in this segment focus on employment 

screening, tenant screening, vital records and customer 

enrollment businesses. During 2006, businesses in 

this segment facilitated more than eight million 

background screenings for our for-profi t customers, 

including over half of the largest U.S.-based employers 

as well as many medium- to small-sized fi rms. WorkPlace 

Solutions products include instant on-line solutions, as 

well as comprehensive employment and background 

checks, drug testing and tenant screening. Many 

customers utilize ChoicePoint’s National Criminal 

File, a comprehensive database of criminal fi les that 

includes criminal conviction records across all 50 states. 

Formed in 2006, this segment now offers vendor 

screening, a one-stop solution that helps organizations 

manage risk and compliance requirements with third-

party vendors.

 In addition to our business customers, ChoicePoint 

serves the background screening needs of our nation’s 

leading non-profi t organizations, subsidizing approxi-

mately 1.5 million screenings through its VolunteerSelectSM 

product last year. Other businesses in this segment 

include VitalChek®, an on-line service that enables 

consumers to order vital records, such as birth certifi cates, 

marriage licenses and death certifi cates over the Internet 

or telephone using credit cards, a service otherwise not 

available through most government agencies.

GOVERNMENT SERVICES

Government Services provides analytics, mapping, 

data and software solutions that support the missions 

of federal, state and local government and international 

law enforcement agencies. By combining these proven 

solutions, Government Services is uniquely capable 

of overcoming information sharing issues that can 

threaten public safety. Products include a geospatial 

mapping visual platform and the leading global visual 

investigative analysis software. 

MARKETING SERVICES

ChoicePoint Precision Marketing is a leading provider 

of direct marketing and database solutions to the 

insurance and fi nancial services industries. These 

solutions help businesses acquire and grow customer 

relationships through the integration of data, data 

management, analytics and marketing technologies.

FINANCIAL & PROFESSIONAL SERVICES

This segment provides public information solutions, 

primarily to retail and commercial banking, mortgage 

lending, and legal industries. Services to these areas 

help companies with risk management, enhanced 

due diligence, verifi cation and business credentialing. 

These services allow companies to better mitigate 

fi nancial and reputation risk and improve their 

processes and productivity.

ChoicePoint’s diversifi ed revenues refl ect a broad customer base 
that is comprised primarily of the nation’s leading insurance 
companies, the largest employers and federal and state law 
enforcement agencies.

REVENUES BY SEGMENT

INSURANCE
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44%
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Annual Meeting
The Annual Meeting of Shareholders will be held on May 1, 2007 
in Memphis, TN. Shareholders are encouraged to attend the 
meeting, which will begin at 10:00 a.m. local time.

Market Information
ChoicePoint common stock trades on the New York Stock 
Exchange (“NYSE”), under the symbol CPS. Shareholders 
will fi nd volume and pricing information in leading fi nancial 
publications as well as the Investor Relations section of 
ChoicePoint’s Web site, www.choicepoint.com. 

As of February 21, 2007, there were 76.6 million common 
shares outstanding and ChoicePoint common stock was held 
by 3,103 shareholders of record.

Management’s Certifi cations
The certifi cations of the Company’s Chief Executive Offi cer and 
Chief Financial Offi cer required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act have 
been included as Exhibits 31 and 32 in the Company’s Form 10-K. 
In addition, in 2006, the Company’s Chief Executive Offi cer 
provided to the NYSE an unqualifi ed certifi cation as to the 
Company’s compliance with the NYSE’s corporate governance 
listing standards during 2005 as required by the NYSE 
listing standards.

Quarterly Stock Performance
ChoicePoint common stock fi rst traded on August 8, 1997 at a 
price of $8.94 – adjusted for a two-for-one stock split effective 
November 24, 1999, a three-for-two split effective March 7, 
2001 and a four-for-three split effective June 6, 2002. Shown 
below, on that adjusted basis, are high and low sale prices for 
each quarter of 2005 and 2006. 

    High Low

First Quarter 2005 $47.95 $36.35
Second Quarter 2005   41.75   36.64
Third Quarter 2005   43.89   39.42
Fourth Quarter 2005   44.65   40.55

First Quarter 2006 $46.85 $40.98
Second Quarter 2006   45.98   40.80
Third Quarter 2006 41.92   30.50
Fourth Quarter 2006 40.05   34.09

ChoicePoint Stock Performance Graph
The following graph compares the cumulative total return from 
December 31, 2001 through December 31, 2006 on ChoicePoint 
common stock with the S&P Midcap 400 Index and the S&P 400 
Diversifi ed Commercial Services Index assuming an original 
$100 investment and reinvestment of any dividends. 

Analyst Coverage
A number of leading Sell Side fi nancial analysts and investment 
advisory services produce investment research on ChoicePoint. 
For a current list, see the Investor Relations section of the 
ChoicePoint Web site, www.choicepoint.com.

Dividend Policy
ChoicePoint has not paid any dividends since it became 
a public company, and it does not anticipate paying any 
in the near future.  

Investor Information
The Investor Relations section of ChoicePoint’s corporate 
Web site, www.choicepoint.com, contains a wealth of valuable 
information, ranging from fi nancial news releases and fi lings to 
archived (audio) copies of investor conference calls. 

For additional information, or to obtain copies of ChoicePoint’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 
2006 (which will be provided free of charge with a copy of the 
fi nancial statements and schedules), Quarterly Reports on 
Form 10-Q, or other materials, please contact:

 Carey Skinner
 Assistant Vice President, Investor Relations
 1000 Alderman Drive
 Alpharetta, GA 30005
 Email: investor.relations@choicepoint.com
 Phone: 770-752-3369

Financial reports can also be obtained from ChoicePoint’s Web site.

Conference Calls
ChoicePoint conducts quarterly conference calls to discuss 
fi nancial performance and other issues of importance to investors. 
To learn about scheduled calls, hear archived copies of previous 
calls, and to listen in to live Webcasts, visit the Web site at
www.choicepoint.com.

Transfer Agent and Registrar
Shareholders with questions concerning the transfer of shares, 
lost certifi cates, changes of address, or other issues should 
contact ChoicePoint’s transfer agent and registrar:

 Computershare Investor Services, LLC 
 P.O. Box 43078 
 Providence, RI 02940-3078 
 Phone: (800) 568-3476 
 Web site: www.computershare.com

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Deloitte & Touche LLP
Atlanta, GA

Trademarks
ChoicePoint, the ChoicePoint logo, Current Carrier, VitalChek, 
i2, and C.L.U.E. are registered trademarks; CampaignNow, 
Precision Director, MarketView and VolunteerSelect  are service 
marks of ChoicePoint Asset Company.

© 2007 ChoicePoint Asset Company. All rights reserved.
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ChoicePoint was formed in 1997 as a publicly-held company whose core business was providing support to the 

insurance industry. Since that time, we have grown steadily by extending the fundamental operating model 

of our insurance business into other markets. We employ more than 5,100 associates in fi ve business segments: 

Insurance Services,  Screening & Authentication Services, Financial & Professional Services, Government Services 

and Marketing Services. ChoicePoint is headquartered in the Atlanta suburb of Alpharetta, and its common stock 

trades on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol CPS.

Financial Highlights(a)

Years Ended December 31 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

(In thousands, except per share and employee data)

Service revenue $1,032,114  $ 985,702 $ 847,258 $ 720,657 $669,246
Reimbursable expenses 22,878 28,056 34,280 45,395 38,520
Total revenue 1,054,992 1,013,758 881,538 766,052 707,766
Operating income(b)  128,316 235,339 235,085 172,157 176,533
Stock option expense included 
 in operating income above  (15,401) – – – –
Other charges included in
 operating income above(b) (123,035) (28,773) – (30,942) (7,342)

Income from continuing operations 68,775 139,524  143,809 104,164 103,982
EPS from continuing operations, diluted .81 1.52 1.58 1.16 1.17

Total assets 1,346,092 1,462,976 1,287,476 1,021,284 979,010
Debt 415,039 130,057 50,100 52,029 182,446
Total shareholders’ equity 666,987 1,020,874 983,659 790,495 622,607
Employees (full-time equivalents) 5,100 5,000 4,600 3,700 4,400

(a)  All fi nancial information refl ects the stock split paid in the form of a stock dividend effective June 6, 2002 and excludes the following discontinued operations: 

 1. CP Commercial Specialists, sold on February 28, 2003,
 2. Priority Data Systems, sold on September 29, 2006, 
 3.  Bode Labs, EquiSearch and certain businesses in the Financial & Professional Services segment, all of which were held for sale and qualify as discontinued 

operations at December 31, 2006.

(b)  Operating income includes other charges that management excludes in its assessments of operating results. These charges for 2006 consist of approximately 
$117.6 million recorded for asset impairment charges, expenses related to the fraudulent data access, and severance and lease abandonment charges associated 
with the centralization of functions and consolidation of certain technology platforms. In addition, other charges include approximately $5.5 million of 
accelerated depreciation expense.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report to Shareholders contains forward-looking statements, and actual results could differ 

materially. Words or phrases such as “we expect,” “we anticipate,” or similar expressions are intended to identify 

forward-looking statements. Risks that could cause actual results to differ are set forth in the “Risk Factors” 

section and throughout ChoicePoint’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006.
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1000 Alderman Drive

Alpharetta, Georgia 30005

www.choicepoint.com

770-752-6000
In Our Own Words
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